
IMPROVING PLACES SELECT COMMISSION 
 
Date and Time :- Tuesday 2 February 2021 at 1.30 p.m. 

Venue:- Virtual Meeting 

Membership:- Councillors Atkin, Buckley, B. Cutts, Elliot, Jepson, 
Jones, Khan, Mallinder (Chair), McNeely, Reeder, 
Rushforth, Sansome, Sheppard, Taylor, Tweed (Vice-
Chair), Julie Turner, Whysall and Wyatt. 
 
Co-opted Members:-   Mrs. K. Bacon, Mrs. M. Jacques. 

 
This meeting will be webcast live and will be available to view via the Council’s 
website. The items which will be discussed are described on the agenda below and 
there are reports attached which give more details. 
 
Rotherham Council advocates openness and transparency as part of its democratic 
processes. Anyone wishing to record (film or audio) the public parts of the meeting 
should inform the Chair or Governance Advisor of their intentions prior to the 
meeting. 
 

AGENDA 
 
 
1. Apologies for Absence  
  

To receive the apologies of any Member who is unable to attend the meeting. 
 

2. Minutes of the previous meeting held on 8 December 2020 (Pages 3 - 10) 
  

To consider and approve the minutes of the previous meeting, held on 8 
December 2020, as a true and correct record of the proceedings. 
  

3. Declarations of Interest  
  

To receive declarations of interest from Members in respect of items listed on 
the agenda. 
 

4. Questions from members of the public and the press  
  

To receive questions relating to items of business on the agenda from 
members of the public or press who are present at the meeting. 
 

5. Exclusion of the Press and Public  
  

To consider whether the press and public should be excluded from the meeting 
during consideration of any part of the agenda. 
 
 

 

https://rotherham.public-i.tv/core/portal/home
https://rotherham.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


6. Update on Code of Practice for Highways Inspection, Assessment, and 
Maintenance (Pages 11 - 94) 

  
To receive an update report on highways maintenance and the Council’s 
approach to inspecting and assessing highways. 
 

7. Performance Measures - Exception Reporting (Pages 95 - 120) 
 

 To receive a report regarding exceptions from 2019-20 target performance 
measures. 
 

8. Clean Air Zone (Pages 121 - 133) 
 

 To receive a report regarding progress in respect of improving air quality in 
Rotherham. 
 

9. Outcomes from Working Group - Building Use (Pages 134 - 138) 
 

 To receive a briefing regarding outcomes from the recent working group which 
examined the use of council buildings and assets. 
 

10. Outcomes from Working Group - Homes Allocation Policy (Pages 139 - 
144) 
 

 To receive a briefing in respect of outcomes from the recent working group 
which examined the proposed changes to the Homes Allocation Policy. 
 

11. Work Programme Update (Pages 145 - 149) 
 

 To consider and approve the updated work programme. 
 

12. Urgent Business  
  

To consider any item which the Chair is of the opinion should be considered as 
a matter of urgency. 
 

13. Date and time of the next meeting  
  

The next virtual meeting of the Improving Places Select Commission will take 
place on 16 March 2021, commencing at 1.30 pm. 

 



IMPROVING PLACES SELECT COMMISSION- 08/12/20  

 

 

IMPROVING PLACES SELECT COMMISSION 
Tuesday 8 December 2020 

 
 
Present:- Councillor Mallinder (in the Chair); Councillors Atkin, Birch, Buckley, 
B. Cutts, Elliot, Jacques, Jepson, Jones, Khan, McNeely, Reeder, Rushforth, 
Sansome, Sheppard, Taylor and Wyatt. 
 
The webcast of the Council Meeting can be viewed online:-  
https://rotherham.public-i.tv/core/portal/home 
 
106.    MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING HELD ON 20 OCTOBER 2020  

 
 Resolved:- 

 
That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 20 October 2020, be 
approved as a true and correct record of the proceedings.  
 

107.    DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

 There were no declarations of interest. 
 

108.    QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC AND THE PRESS  
 

 The Chair advised that no questions had been submitted.  
 

109.    EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 

 The Chair advised that there were no items of business on the agenda 
that would require the exclusion of the press or public from the meeting.  
 

110.    THRIVING NEIGHBOURHOODS ANNUAL REPORT  
 

 Consideration was given to a report regarding progress on the delivery of 
the Thriving Neighbourhoods Strategy and the Neighbourhood Working 
model. It was noted that this report presented information regarding the 
last year.  
 
In discussion, members requested clarification around budget numbers on 
the Appendix. A correction was offered in writing.  
 
Members also requested assurances that continuity on neighbourhood 
working would be maintained following the changes in wards. In 
response, the Cabinet member provided assurances that this would be 
part of the induction programme for new members. Officers also provided 
assurances that as close a fit as possible would be the approach to 
maintain the knowledge and the level of support. An additional 
neighbourhood coordinator would also be added in advance. 
 
 

 Page 3 Agenda Item 2

https://rotherham.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


IMPROVING PLACES SELECT COMMISSION - 08/12/20  
 
 

 

Members requested clarification around the Housing Hubs. The response 
noted that the ward housing hubs came into being at the beginning of the 
last financial year as a move away from housing panels to more ward-
based meetings, each ward with a proportioned budget which is weighted 
based on the council housing in that area. At the hubs, tenants and 
housing officers meet to discuss the priorities and issues related to 
housing in the ward. 
 
Members noted that it was not known by partner organisations such as 
Rotherfed who or what was involved in these Housing Hubs. In response, 
the Cabinet member noted that not all wards will be holding housing hubs 
in the same way currently. An example was provided of how the hubs 
worked in a specific ward. The decisions around how to use budgets were 
made based on conversations with as great a number of residents as 
possible. Members noted that there was insufficient information regarding 
the Housing Hubs. It was suggested by the Cabinet member that the 
Cabinet member for Housing and colleagues present more information 
about Housing Hubs at a later time. 
 
Members noted the strengths in the report and complimented the work 
that has gone into the progress reflected in the report.  
 
Members noted the historic difficulty throughout the previous year in 
garnering strong attendance at housing ward meetings. It was noted that 
it was not a slight on Neighbourhoods staff but sometimes it is just the 
ward councillor and the Neighbourhoods officer in attendance. It was 
noted that representatives of housing tenancy were needed as well. 
Members expressed hope that a review could capture this learning to take 
forward in the upcoming organisation of ward meetings. Members 
concurred that often ward meetings are spearheaded by one or two 
people, and that a strategic overview would be taken in regards to these 
meetings moving forward to reinvigorate these groups and get them back 
on their feet after COVID. The response from officers provided 
assurances that a strategic overview is being taken not just in Rotherham 
but across the whole of South Yorkshire, in consultation with community 
organisations, Voluntary Organisations, Rotherfed, etc to find out the 
pressures and mitigate the problems these organisations have 
experienced as a result of the pandemic. Neighbourhoods works to 
support organisations during the pandemic, and it has been seen that new 
organisations have emerged in the midst of the pandemic. Some have 
gone online and developed; others have had to ‘mothball’ themselves for 
the time being. It was noted that three volunteer coordinators had been 
recruited for the North, South, and Central areas to help support 
community organisations. These coordinators will be with us for the next 
12 months.  
 
Members expressed concerns that the public avenue into ward housing 
hub meetings has diminished during the pandemic. Assurances were 
requested that communities are being consulted regarding budget use. 
The response from the Cabinet member provided assurances that 

Page 4



IMPROVING PLACES SELECT COMMISSION- 08/12/20  

 

 

consultation has continued despite the restrictions on in-person public 
gatherings during the pandemic, because so many other methods of 
consultation have been leveraged to maintain more diverse 
communication avenues. Officers concurred with figures of the number of 
engagements with publications, door knocks, and other types of 
opportunities for resident engagement. Consultation on priorities had to 
be discontinued around the middle of March, but that will be continued, 
and it has continued to expand the ways members of communities have a 
say in decisions about their ward.  
 
Members expressed positive views about the robust improvisation and 
hard work that has taken place in order to continue to keep residents 
involved in decision making throughout the pandemic using a variety of 
techniques and avenues.  
 
Members emphasised the need for additional inclusion efforts at ward 
meetings and suggested that councillors be given the opportunity to view 
publications before these go out to the residents in their ward.  
 
Members also complimented the work reflected in the report as some of 
the best that the Council has ever done. It was further noted that some 
ward CAP meetings have very strong attendance. It was emphasised that 
publicising and attendance and housing budget allocations is the 
responsibility of members rather than officers.  
 
Members expressed support for the report and noted that often the 
attendance of the ward meetings often comes down to the same small 
number of people, but the work reflected in the report is getting to the 
heart of our communities to involve more people than before. As it is 
difficult for everyone to turn up to every meeting, it was observed to work 
well for several members that any decision that is taken at the ward 
meeting is communicated to all three ward councillors and carried forward 
from there.  
 
Members noted that not all Members put in the same level of effort.  
 
Members also offered clarification that the desire for improvement was not 
directed at officers’ work but around the Housing Hubs themselves.  
 
Members noted that the current way of operating Housing Hubs had not 
been efficacious in all wards. It was understood and agreed that the 
former area housing panels had needed to be improved, and while 
progress is welcome, the current arrangement of the housing hubs is 
unsatisfactory.   
 
Members requested information regarding the new ward boundaries. The 
Cabinet member noted that the boundary maps have been available for 
the past 4 years.  
 
 

Page 5



IMPROVING PLACES SELECT COMMISSION - 08/12/20  
 
 

 

Resolved:- 
 

1. That the report be noted. 
 

2. That ward meetings such as housing hubs be further publicised 
among the relevant partner and community organisations with a 
view to improving attendance and communication. 
 

3. That the Cabinet Member and relevant colleagues from Housing be 
invited to present to a Working Group regarding the development 
of Housing Hubs. 

 
111.    CULTURAL STRATEGY IMPLEMENTATION  

 
 Consideration was given to a report identifying how the Borough’s Cultural 

Strategy has been implemented over the past year through the formation 
of the Rotherham Cultural Partnership Board with its associated partners. 
The report highlighted the “7 Game Changer” themes that The Cultural 
Partnership Board has developed in order to deliver its mission, and it 
highlighted the successes of the reporting partnerships.  
 
The report further provided details regarding a selection of the projects 
the Strategy has delivered over the past year and noted a number of 
future action points. The Cabinet member noted the innovative and 
engaging work that has taken place and introduced the possibility of a 
potential eighth “Game Changer” related to physical activity. 
 
In discussion, Members asked how the pandemic has affected the 
existing cultural offer, such as Waleswood, ensuring that attractions were 
protect and survive for the post-pandemic offer for local residents and 
those outside of the area. In response, it was explained that the Council 
had proactively supported cultural and sports bodies to access grant 
funding opportunities to be able to continue post pandemic.  
 
Regarding the Rotherham show, Members hoped as early a decision as 
possible would be made to limit the early expenses incurred by 
participating businesses and individuals.  
 
Members also expressed hopes regarding the Moving Rotherham 
initiative, that the FA nationally and locally might be consulted, so that 
grassroots organisations are involved in getting young people connected 
to these activities. In response, it was acknowledged that this was a 
hugely exciting project and that the FA was actively involved and working 
closely with officers. A legacy plan had recently been submitted to the FA, 
which would include a part-time officer shared between Rotherham and 
Sheffield to support the Moving Rotherham initiative.  
 
Members provided some very detailed feedback in respect of design 
improvement and typographical errors in the strategy document, which 
would be addressed following the meeting. Further commentary was 

Page 6



IMPROVING PLACES SELECT COMMISSION- 08/12/20  

 

 

provided on the issues of the chairing of the Cultural Partnership Board, 
with Members stating their preference for the relevant Cabinet Member to 
continue holding that position in view of their connection to all councillors 
and other partners. In response, the Cabinet Member indicated that the 
proposal for a representative of another body to take the Chair had come 
from her to demonstrate to other partners that the partnership was not all 
about the Council. It had been her intention for the Vice-Chair position to 
be filled by the relevant Cabinet Member to continue to provide leadership 
support to the partnership. Some additional discussion took place with 
regard to the inclusion of Boston Castle as part of ‘Yorkshire’s Hidden 
Gems’ and the need to include Rotherfed as a key part of the Cultural 
Partnership Board. Officers agreed to go away and review that position 
with a view to including them.  
 
A plea was made to ensure that the Chesterfield Canal Steering Group 
continued to be a priority for the authority and assurances were provided 
that the Cultural Partnership Board has included it within its action plan 
and further work would be undertaken to support the use of the canal from 
leisure and wellbeing perspective.  
 
Concerns were raised regarding the publication of a report by an 
organisation called Consumer Research Data which had detailed access 
to green spaces and leisure, which had not been particularly 
complimentary about the offer in the borough. Officers indicated that they 
were not aware of it but would look into it after the meeting. However, it 
was further noted that fewer than 10% of residents in the borough lived 
more than 280metres away from a small green space that could be used 
for recreation or 480metres away from a larger green space area, and in 
comparison to other authority areas the borough was well served in 
respect of public green spaces.  
 
In concluding the discussion on this item, the Chair referenced that the 
strategy referred to Rotherham as underperforming but it was not clear in 
what way the borough was underperforming. In response, it was 
explained that Rotherham is under the national average for participation in 
sport and leisure. The strategic intent was to raise participation levels 
through activities in localities across the borough. Finally, the Chair 
reiterated the importance of the Marmot principles which had been 
reported recently to the Health and Wellbeing Board. 
 

Resolved:- 
 
1. That the report be noted. 

 
2. That future consultation efforts ensure the perspectives of hard-to-

reach members of our community are incorporated in the 
consultation. 
 

3. That clarification notes be provided around elements of the action 
plan where these have not been provided. 

Page 7



IMPROVING PLACES SELECT COMMISSION - 08/12/20  
 
 

 

 
112.    ALLOTMENTS SELF-MANAGEMENT  

 
 Consideration was given to a report which provided an update on the 

progress towards the transfer of operational responsibility for the 
management of the Borough’s allotments from the Council to a 
community benefit company, Rotherham Allotment Alliance (RAA). 
 
It was noted that since October 2019, significant progress had been 
made on the transfer process, with the key achievements as follows: 
 

 The transfer of all existing tenant data and management 
information to the RAA. 

 Transfer of allotment management software. 

 The employment of an Allotment Administrator, seconded 
to the RAA from the Council. 

 Access by the RAA to Capital funding provided by the 
Council. 

 The development of a Service Level Agreement (SLA) and 
head leases. 

 
Members noted that officers would continue to work alongside the RAA 
to complete a small number of outstanding operational tasks, such as 
long-standing encroachment issues and the transfer of utility billing. 
Whilst the legal transfer of the physical asset was still to complete, it was 
expected to take place imminently. Completion of the head lease from 
the Council to the RAA was also expected to be achieved by 31 
December 2020. It was reported that the SLA will come into effect once 
signed by both parties, which was expected to be at the same time as 
the completion of the head leases. 
 
Members sought reassurance in respect of the ownership of the land on 
which allotments were based and it was confirmed that the Council 
retained ownership of the land, whilst the RAA leased it as a limited 
company and was charged a peppercorn rent. With regard to allotment 
sites in Whiston, it was noted that the parish council had given notice the 
Borough Council of its wish to become the Statutory Allotment Authority 
for sites within the parish. It was confirmed that the Asset Management 
Service was arranged for the transfer of the allotments, which were 
currently managed by the Housing Service, to Whiston Parish Council.  
 
Assurances were sought in respect of the financial implications for the 
Council in the event of a major unforeseen situation impacting the RAA’s 
ability to continue to manage the service. In response, officers confirmed 
that there was no liability for the Council in respect of the RAA, as it was 
a limited company in its own right and governed by rules set by the 
Financial Conduct Authority.  
 
Members referred to the number of queries that they had received 
during the pandemic regarding the availability of allotment sites for use 

Page 8



IMPROVING PLACES SELECT COMMISSION- 08/12/20  

 

 

by constituents, as well as the availability of other land to be used for 
allotments. Having requested information on key contacts on a ward by 
ward basis, the Chairman of the RAA agreed to circulate a list of sites 
and contacts in respect of allotments to all councillors outside of the 
meeting. With regard to surplus land, it was confirmed that the RAA 
were working with societies to bring land back into use.  
 
Resolved:- 
 

1. That the report be noted. 
  

2. That the next update be submitted in 12 months’ time. 
 

 

113.    OUTCOMES FROM WORKING GROUP: MIP REVIEW  
  

Consideration was given to a report which detailed the outcomes from the 
Major Incident Plan Review Working Group, which had met as part of the 
bi-annual review of the Commission’s recommendations made in 2017. 
 
Members noted that 12 of the 15 recommendations made in 2017 had 
been implemented, however recommendations in respect of an “away 
day” for frontline responder training had not yet taken place and the 
events of the past twelve months had meant that it had not been possible 
for such arrangements to be made. It was also noted that the 
recommendation for the appointment of a Community Resilience Officer 
had not been implemented, however it was explained that the challenges 
of the past twelve months had shown how well the community came 
forward to work to support the response to major incidents.   
 
Resolved:- 
 

1. That the briefing be noted. 
 

2. That the Major Incident Plan be highlighted in the educational 
programming as part of the induction of new Members following the 
2021 Council election. 
 

3. That the Major Incident Plan continue to be reviewed every two 
years. 

 
114.    OUTCOMES FROM WORKING GROUP: FLOOD ALLEVIATION  

 
  

Consideration was given to a report which detailed the outcomes of the 
Flood Alleviation Working Group, which provided information about the 
impact of flooding across the borough in November 2019 and the 
progress made since that time.  
 
 
 

Page 9



IMPROVING PLACES SELECT COMMISSION - 08/12/20  
 
 

 

It was noted that a number of suggestions had been made by Members of 
the working group, as well as the report setting out the ways in which the 
Council is able to support residents and communities in responding and 
preparing for flooding events.  
 
Resolved:-  
 

1. That the report be noted.  
 

2. That the next update be brought in 12 months’ time. 
 

115.    WORK PROGRAMME UPDATE  
 

 Consideration was given to an update briefing regarding progress in 
respect of the agreed work programme. Attention was given to upcoming 
meetings of scrutiny working groups. 
 
Resolved:- 
 

1. That the updated work programme be approved.  
 

116.    URGENT BUSINESS  
 

 The Chair advised that there were no urgent items of business requiring 
the Commission’s consideration.  
 

117.    DATE AND TIME OF THE NEXT VIRTUAL MEETING  
 

 The Chair announced that the next virtual meeting of the Improving 
Places Select Commission will take place on 2 February 2020, 
commencing at 1:30 pm. 
 

 

Page 10



 

Page 1 of 10 
 

Public Report 
Improving Places Select Commission 

 
Committee Name and Date of Committee Meeting  
Improving Places Select Commission – 02 February 2021 
 
Report Title 
Update on the Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council Code of Practice for 
Highway Inspection and Highways Maintenance Performance Management  
 
Is this a Key Decision and has it been included on the Forward Plan?  
No 
 
Strategic Director Approving Submission of the Report 
Paul Woodcock, Strategic Director of Regeneration and Environment 
 
Report Author(s) 
Eleanor Carratt, Streetworks and Highway Inspections Manager 
Eleanor.carratt@rotherham.gov.uk 
 
Ward(s) Affected 
Borough-Wide  
 
Report Summary 
Following the introduction of updated national guidance for highway inspections in 
2016 a revised Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council (RMBC) Code of Practice 
(CoP) for Highway Inspection and Assessment was produced to address the changes. 
The updated CoP document was presented to and supported by Improving Places 
Select Commission in March 2018 and then implemented in October 2018. 
The revised CoP significantly changed from a reliance on specific guidance and 
recommendations, to a more risk-based approach to the management of highway 
assets.   
 
The introduction of the risk-based approach to highway inspection meant the Council 
moved away from a highway inspection system based on specific defect intervention 
or repair levels, and replaced it with a system that uses a risk assessment to determine 
the need for repair works. Given the significance of the change Elected Members 
requested an update following its implementation.  
 
This report therefore provides an update in terms of progress with the implementation 
and details of Highway Maintenance performance data, customer satisfaction survey 
data and relevant internal audit reports. 
 
Recommendations 
Improving Places Select Commission are asked to note and comment on the report.  
 
List of Appendices Included 
Appendix A – “Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council Code of Practice for 
Highway Inspection and Assessment” 2018 
 

Page 11 Agenda Item 6



 

Page 2 of 10 
 

 
Background Papers 
The Highways Act 1980 
Well-managed Highway Infrastructure: A Code of Practice 2016 
 
Consideration by any other Council Committee, Scrutiny or Advisory Panel 
No 
 
Council Approval Required 
No 
 
Exempt from the Press and Public 
No 
 
  

Page 12



 

Page 3 of 10 
 

Update on the Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council Code of Practice for 
Highway Inspection and Highways Maintenance Performance Management  
 
1. Background 
  
1.1 In March 2018, Improving Places Select Commission (IPSC) supported the 

implementation of the revised Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council (RMBC) 
Code of Practice for Highway Inspection and Assessment.  The code was 
implemented in October 2018 following a period of consultation and staff training. 
 

1.2 As part of the IPSC recommendations, it was agreed that an update be provided, 
in due course, to provide detail of resident satisfactory survey data, identification 
of any savings and any reduction in accidents. Members also requested an 
update on Highway Maintenance performance. 

 
Highway Maintenance 

 
1.3 The Highways Service has successfully completed the delivery of the capital 

investment, to improve the condition of the unclassified road network, over a 
three-year period from 2017 to 2020. Officers worked closely with Councillors to 
identify streets for repair in their Wards and this £10m investment, called the 
2020 Roads Programme, included the repair of 310 estate roads with over 46 
miles of carriageway resurfaced.  
Following this programme, the Council then provided an additional investment 
for the 2024 Roads Programme, with £24m to be spent over the next four years, 
to continue this work. These investments have already demonstrated 
improvements in the condition of the Council’s road network, with a reduction in 
the number of potholes and insurance claims. 
 

1.4 In 2020 the Highway Service completed a significant programme of works to 
replace all streetlights across the Borough with LED lanterns. This has had a 
considerable impact in terms of energy consumption, saving over 10 million 
Kilowatt hours per annum, and resulting in a revenue saving of approximately 
£1m each year. The introduction of LED lanterns also reduces the maintenance 
requirements for street lighting, as LED units have proven to be a far more robust 
technology than the sodium lighting that was previously installed. 

 
2. Key Issues 
 
2.1 Highway Maintenance Performance Management data  
 In relation to performance against targets for Highway Maintenance, the 

published performance management data for the previous six quarters, 
commencing April 2019 through to September 2020 demonstrates that: 

 
o The number of highway inspections carried out on time is consistently 

achieving the target of 95%. 
 
o The 90% target for actionable defects, to be repaired within the target 

timescales, has been consistently met for the past 18 months. 
 

Page 13



 

Page 4 of 10 
 

o 100% of missing apparatus covers are made safe within 4 hours of a 
report being received. 

 
o Customer satisfaction survey results for Highway scheme works carried 

out on site have been consistently high. It is noted that performance did 
drop for one quarter, during 2020, which can be attributed to the 
challenges of COVID-19 and the rescheduling of works. However, 
performance recovered in quarter two. Overall, satisfaction, with the 
works that have been carried out between April 2020 and September 
2020 was 93%. 

 

Table 2.1 Highway Service Performance Indicators 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Indicator Title Freq.

2018/19

Performance

Qtr. 1 

Performance

Apr- Jun 19

Qtr. 2 

Performance

July- Sept- 19

Qtr. 3 

Performance

Oct - Dec 19

Qtr. 4 

Performance

Jan- Mar 20

2018/19 Target

The % of the principal roads network in need of repair

(SCANNER) R1001
Annual 2%

To achieve National Average - Latest 

DfT information available is 2018/19 - 

3% 

The % of the non principal road network in need of repair

(SCANNER) R1001
Annual 5%

To achieve National Average- Latest 

DfT information available is 2018/19 - 

6%

The % of unclassified roads in need of repair (CVI) Annual 23% 23% 23% 22% 22%

To achieve a target of below  24% by 

March 2020.  (National Average- 

Latest DfT information available is 

2018/19 - 17%

The % of footways in need of repair (CVI) Quarterly 40% 40% 40% 41% 40%
To achieve a target of 42% or lower by 

March 2020.

To ensure any actionable (safety) defects are repaired 

within the appropriate timescales.
Monthly 91% 99% 98% 98% 98%

90% of actionable defects are 

completed within target timeframe.

Post works inspections carried out to assess quality of 

pothole repairs.
Quarterly 97% 94% 95% 91% 93%

90% of repairs are to an acceptable 

standard

Clear priority/urgent blocked road gullies to prevent 

flooding problems to properties and public highways.

Quarterly 99% 100% 97% 100% 100%

90% of blocked gullies causing 

flooding are actioned within 4 hours 

for  properties and severely flooded 

public highways; 1 working day for 

flooded highways or at risk of flooding

Response to resident reports of street lighting not 

working. Quarterly 92% 94% 95% 93% 93%
90% attendance of street lighting 

faults within 3 days

To inspect the highway network (Carriageways, Footways 

and Footpaths) for safety on a cyclic basis and on or 

before the inspection due date

Monthly 100% 99% 99% 98% 98%

95% of the highway network is 

inspected before the inspection due 

date.

Customer satisfaction surveys about recent highway 

maintenance schemes;     

Satisfied with pre-start information about the works 94% 97% 93% 100% 95%

Did the works start on time  94% 100% 97% 100% 97%

Satisfied with the quality of the work carried out 95% 97% 93% 98% 99%

Was the site left clean and tidy    96% 97% 97% 98% 97%

Make safe dangerous overhanging trees/vegetation on 

highway land.
Monthly 100.00% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Above 90% of overhanging trees are 

made safe within 24hrs

Trees obstructing the highway are cut back Monthly 99.00% 100% 100% 100% 100%
Above 90% of overhanging trees are 

cut back  within 5 days

Make safe dangerous overhanging trees/vegetation from 

private land. 
Monthly 100.00% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Above 90% of overhanging trees are 

made safe within 24hrs

Private trees obstructing the highway are cut back by 

landowner.
Monthly 100.00% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Above 90% of private trees are cut 

back by landowner - within 14 days of 

written notice.

Make safe missing cover e.g. public and private sewers, 

gas, water or BT apparatus. 
Monthly 100.00% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Above 90% of missing covers made 

safe within 4 hours and informed 

owners

Quarterly
Achieve above 90% performance for 

all individual elements

Highway Services

Levels of Service & Performance

Corporate / National Indicators

Management Information

Local Indicators

2%

2%

Page 14



 

Page 5 of 10 
 

Table 2.1 Continued 

 
 

2.2 Customer Complaints and Compliments 
 
Highway Services receives a number of complaints and reports throughout the 
year from residents, businesses and visitors relating to the highway network. The 
Highways team provides a written reply to all customers where appropriate. 
 
Table 2.2 below shows the number of complaints received and the number that 
were upheld. The table also shows how many compliments the Service has 
received for the same period.  These are recorded and monitored by the 
Council’s Complaints Team. The monitoring of these reports over time provides 
a good indication of residents’ experiences in relation to Highway Services and 
the quality of schemes that are being delivered in Rotherham. The service 
records a higher number of compliments than complaints in each year. 
It is noted that there is a decrease in the number of complaints and compliments 
for this year (up to November 2020), which follows the trend across the rest of 
the Authority. It is considered that this could be attributable to both the COVID-
19 pandemic and a substantial decrease in the number of users of the highway 
during this year, but this will be monitored. 
 
 
 

Indicator Title Freq.

2019/20

Performance

Qtr. 1 

Performance

Apr- Jun 20

Qtr. 2 

Performance

July- Sept- 20

Qtr. 3 

Performance

Oct - Dec 20

Qtr. 4 

Performance

Jan- Mar 21

2020/21 Target

The % of the principal roads network in need of repair

(SCANNER) R1001
Annual 2%

To achieve National Average - Latest 

DfT information available is 2018/19 - 

3% (lower is better)

The % of the non principal road network in need of repair

(SCANNER) R1001
Annual 3%

To achieve National Average- Latest 

DfT information available is 2018/19 - 

6% (lower is better)

The % of unclassified roads in need of repair (CVI) Annual 22% 21% 20% 0% 0%

To achieve a target below 21% by 

March 2021.  The ultimate target is 

17% (national average) by the end of 

the £24m investment (March 2024)

The % of footways in need of repair (CVI) Quarterly 40% 38% 38% 0% 0%
To achieve a target of 42% by March 

2020. (lower is better)

To ensure any actionable (safety) defects are repaired 

within the appropriate timescales.
Monthly 98% 100% 100% 0% 0%

90% of actionable defects are 

completed within target timeframe.

Post works inspections carried out to assess quality of 

pothole repairs.
Quarterly 97% 93% 92% 0% 0%

90% of repairs are to an acceptable 

standard

Clear priority/urgent blocked road gullies to prevent 

flooding problems to properties and public highways.

Quarterly 99% 100% 100% 0% 0%

90% of blocked gullies causing 

flooding are actioned within 4 hours 

for  properties and severely flooded 

public highways; 1 working day for 

flooded highways or at risk of flooding

Response to resident reports of street lighting not 

working.
Quarterly 92% 94% 93% 0% 0%

90% attendance of street lighting 

faults within 3 days

To inspect the highway network (Carriageways, Footways 

and Footpaths) for safety on a cyclic basis and on or 

before the inspection due date

Monthly 98% 95% 95% 0% 0%

95% of the highway network is 

inspected before the inspection due 

date.

Customer satisfaction surveys about recent highway 

maintenance schemes;     

Satisfied with pre-start information about the works 94% 86% 96% 0% 0%

Did the works start on time  94% 71% 98% 0% 0%

Satisfied with the quality of the work carried out 95% 100% 91% 0% 0%

Was the site left clean and tidy    96% 86% 92% 0% 0%

Make safe dangerous overhanging trees/vegetation on 

highway land.
Monthly 100.00% 100% 100% 0% 0%

Above 90% of overhanging trees are 

made safe within 24hrs

Trees obstructing the highway are cut back Monthly 99.00% 100% 100% 0% 0%
Above 90% of overhanging trees are 

cut back  within 5 days

Make safe dangerous overhanging trees/vegetation from 

private land. 
Monthly 100.00% 100% 100% 0% 0%

Above 90% of overhanging trees are 

made safe within 24hrs

Private trees obstructing the highway are cut back by 

landowner.
Monthly 100.00% 100% 100% 0% 0%

Above 90% of private trees are cut 

back by landowner - within 14 days of 

written notice.

Make safe missing cover e.g. public and private sewers, 

gas, water or BT apparatus. 
Monthly 100.00% 100% 100% 0% 0%

Above 90% of missing covers made 

safe within 4 hours and informed 

owners

Management Information

Quarterly
Above 90% of survey responses are 

satisfied or very satisfied

Highway Services
Levels of Service & Performance

Corporate / National Indicators

2%

3%

Page 15



 

Page 6 of 10 
 

Table 2.2 Customer Complaints and Compliments 

 
2.3 Pothole Numbers 
 

The number of potholes that require repair has reduced over recent years, 
which correlates directly with the additional investment in road maintenance.  
Additionally, roads with a high number of potholes are considered for inclusion 
in the Indicative Highway Works Programme for resurfacing and, as a 
consequence, the number of potholes requiring repair has reduced significantly.  
 
The table below demonstrates the reduction in the number of pothole repairs 
required over time. The increase in 2019/20 can be attributed to the severe 
weather that was encountered in October/November 2019. 
 
Table 2.3 Annual Number of potholes and spend 
 

Year 
£ spent on 
potholes 

Number of 
potholes 

2015/16   380575.45  32000 

2016/17   472884.06  31000 

2017/18   370014.19  24800 

2018/19   369532.85  22600 

2019/20   371530.85  24751 

2020/21 
(up to 31/12/20) 

  260109.96 10403 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 16



 

Page 7 of 10 
 

2.4 Highway Claims 
 

Because the Council has worked to a comprehensive code of practice for a 
number of years, Highways Services have a track record of dealing with 
highways claims both fairly and robustly. There is no evidence to suggest that 
changes in the highway inspection regime has impacted on the way claims are 
handled, or on the outcomes of Rotherham’s claims. The Highways Service have 
been cited as an example of good practice by the Council’s liability insurers and 
are still occasionally contacted by other Local Authorities asking about the RMBC 
approach. 
 
The following table gives details of the number of claims received since 2011. It 
shows that there is a significant decrease in claims in 2020/2021.  It is 
acknowledged that this could be in part due to the reduced number of customers 
using the highways and will be monitored. Generally, however the table 
demonstrates a downward trend in the number of claims paid and the costs 
incurred.  The increase in claims for 2019/20 can be attributed to the severe 
weather incidents around October/November 2019 (229 of the 294 claims were 
between October to March) and, although there was a spike in claims for this 
period, the service maintained very high repudiation rates. 

  
 Table 2.4 Highways Liability and Claims Performance 

 

 
 
2.5 Training / Mentoring 

All Highway Inspectors received the required training before the revised CoP was 
introduced.  Prior to qualification, newly appointed Highway Inspectors or Trainee 
Highway Inspectors work under the guidance of qualified Highway Inspectors, in 
order to gain up to date knowledge and on the job experience. 
 

2.6 Audit reports 
 In April 2019, the Council’s Internal Audit team published the findings from a 

Highways audit into maintaining a safe highway. The overall objective of the audit 
was to assess the adequacy of the internal control arrangements for maintaining 
a safe highway network. Based upon the results of the audit, Internal Audit 
determined that Substantial Assurance is being achieved, that the controls are 
operating effectively.  This is the highest level of assurance possible. 

Incident 

Year

Claimes 

Rec'd

Number 

On-going

Number 

Closed

Number 

Repudiated

Percentage 

Repudiated

Number 

Paid

Total Paid 

(inc. Costs)

2011/12 173 0 173 153 88% 20 £206,614

2012/13 275 0 275 248 90% 27 £298,742

2013/14 233 0 233 204 88% 29 £225,182

2014/15 277 0 277 252 91% 25 £141,438

2015/16 262 1 261 236 90% 25 £133,816

2016/17 121 1 120 108 90% 12 £56,367

2017/18 196 3 193 185 96% 8 £45,289

2018/19 204 3 201 193 96% 8 £42,478

2019/20 294 41 253 229 91% 24 £12,260

2020/21 44 36 8 7 88% 1 £547

Highways Liability Claims Performance 2011/12 to 2019/20

Page 17



 

Page 8 of 10 
 

  
 
 
 Additionally, in November 2020 Internal Audit published the findings from a 

Highways audit report regarding the 2020 Roads Programme. The objective of 
the audit was to provide assurance on the performance results of the completed 
2020 Roads Programme and on the arrangements for the control and monitoring 
of the further £24m of capital funding 2024 Roads Programme.   

 
 Based upon the results of the audit, internal audit determined that Substantial 

Assurance is being achieved, that the controls are operating effectively. Again, 
this is the highest level of assurance possible.  

 
3 Options considered and recommended proposal 
  
3.1 The RMBC Code of Practice for Highway Inspection and Assessment helps 

ensure roads are serviceable and safe. The consequence of a poorly managed 
and maintained highway network impacts directly on all road users, has a 
detrimental impact on the local economy and on user’s perceptions of the 
Borough.   

 
4 Consultation on proposal 
 
4.1 The original Code of Practice was consulted on widely including:  

• The Council’s Corporate Risk Manager, Insurance and Risk Manager, Traffic 
Manager and Legal Services Manager; 

• Emergency Services and South Yorkshire Passenger Transport Executive; 

• Ward Members and Parish Councils; 

• Kennedy’s Law Solicitors and Gallagher Bassett Rotherham MBC Insurers; 

• Barnsley, Doncaster, Derbyshire, Kirklees, North Yorkshire, Sheffield and 
Wakefield Council representatives. 
 

5 Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision 
 
5.1 The Highway Inspection and Streetworks Manager is responsible for the on-

going management of the “Rotherham MBC Code of Practice for Highway 
Inspection and Assessment”. 

 
6 Financial and Procurement Advice and Implications (to be written by the 

relevant Head of Finance and the Head of Procurement on behalf of s151 
Officer) 

 
6.1 There are no financial and procurement implications for this report. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 18



 

Page 9 of 10 
 

7 Legal Advice and Implications (to be written by Legal Officer on behalf of 
Assistant Director Legal Services) 

 
7.1 The Council is placed under a duty to maintain its highways by Section 41 of the 

Highways Act 1980. Section 58 of the Act allows the Council to mount a defence 
in actions against the Authority if it can demonstrate that it has taken reasonable 
care to ensure that the highway was not dangerous to traffic.  The “Rotherham 
MBC Code of Practice for Highway Inspection and Assessment” assists the 
Council to robustly defend highway claims under Section 58 of “The Highways 
Act 1980”. 
 

8 Human Resources Advice and Implications 
 
8.1 None directly from this report. 
 
9 Implications for Children and Young People and Vulnerable Adults 
 
9.1 None directly from this report. 

 
10 Equalities and Human Rights Advice and Implications 
 
10.1 The service levels specified within the “Rotherham MBC Code of Practice for 

Highway Inspection and Assessment” and the risk-based evaluation process 
acknowledges the different users of the public highway. The minimum 
investigatory levels specified within the CoP are provided as a guide. The 
vulnerability of all highway users, including cyclists and pedestrians to certain 
highway defects are reflected in the risk assessment carried out when deciding 
the category of the defect. 

 
11 Implications for Partners 
 
11.1 None directly from this report.  
 
12 Risks and Mitigation 
 
12.1 Although the “Well-managed Highway Infrastructure” guidance is not statutory; it 

provides Highway Authorities with national guidance on highways management. 
The national guidance is regularly referred to during highways claims against 
Local Authorities. A failure to follow the national guidance could expose the 
Council to an increased risk of highway claims.  The CoP bolsters the Council’s 
defence for highway claims. 
 

13 Accountable Officer(s) 
 
Colin Knight, Head of Highway Services  
 
Tom Smith, Assistant Director, Community Safety and Street Scene 
 
 
 
 

Page 19



 

Page 10 of 10 
 

Approvals obtained on behalf of:- 
 

 Named Officer Date 

Chief Executive 
 

 Click here to 
enter a date. 

Strategic Director of Finance & 
Customer Services  
(S.151 Officer) 

Named officer Click here to 
enter a date. 

Assistant Director of Legal 
Services (Monitoring Officer) 

Named officer Click here to 
enter a date. 

Assistant Director of Human 
Resources (if appropriate) 

 Click here to 
enter a date. 

Head of Human Resources  
(if appropriate) 

 Click here to 
enter a date. 

 
Report Author:   
Eleanor Carratt, Streetworks and Highway Inspections Manager 
Eleanor.carratt@rotherham.gov.uk 
 
This report is published on the Council's website.  

Page 20

mailto:Eleanor.carratt@rotherham.gov.uk
https://moderngov.rotherham.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?Categories=


       
 
 
 
 

Rotherham MBC
   Code of Practice   

 

Highway Inspection                  
and   

      Assessment 

      2018 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Highway Service 

Community Safety and Street Scene 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 21



 

1  

Contents 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 Page  
 
 
 

1. PREFACE 1 

2.  INTRODUCTION 2 

3.  HIGHWAY INSPECTION 3 

   
3.1  Inspection Regime 4 

3.2 Safety Inspections 6 

3.3  Service Inspections 13 

3.4 Customer Reports 15 

3.5 Defect Categories 
 

16 

3.6 Guidance and Procedures for Inspectors 19 

3.7 Risk Based Approach 23 

3.8 Training 29 

   

4.  HIGHWAY ASSESSMENT  

   

4.1  UKPMS Inspections 31 

4.2 Coarse Visual Inspections 32 

4.3 Machine Based Condition Surveys 33 

4.4 Public Rights of Way Assessments 34  

   

5.  SKIDDING RESISTANCE   

5.1 Skidding Resistance Policy Statement 36 

  

APPENDICES  

APPENDIX 1  Safety Highway Inspection Policy 37 

APPENDIX 2  Skidding Resistance Policy 41 

APPENDIX 3  Skid Resistance Procedure Document 45 

APPENDIX 4  Glossary of Terms 58 

  
 
 
 

Page 22



 

2  

1. PREFACE 
 

 

Version Date Author / Designation 

1.1 Jan 2018 Andrew Rowley / Inspection and Enforcement Manager / 
Highway Network Management Unit 

1.2 Mar 2019 Andrew Rowley / Highway Inspection and Street Works 
Manager / Highway Services 

   

   

   

   

   

   

 
 
This Code of Practice for Highway Inspection and Assessment (CoPHIA) only 
applies to adopted highways and will be reviewed and updated if required within a 
two yearly cycle reflective of revisions in national guidance, legislative changes 
and advice, safe working practice reviews, and changes to the Council’s position 
on highway inspections. 
 
Rotherham Council’s ‘Highway Network Management Service’ is responsible for 
the associated ‘Safety Highway Inspection Policy’ (see ‘Appendix 1’) and the ‘Skid 
Resistance Procedure’ (see ‘Appendix 3’).  
 
Rotherham Council’s ‘Highway Network Management Service’ and ‘Transportation 
and Highways Design Service’ are responsible for the associated ‘Skidding 
Resistance Policy (see ‘Appendix 2’). 
 

 

This CoPHIA has been developed with the guidance of the CoPHMM, ‘Well-
managed Highway Infrastructure October 2016’ (CoPWMHI) and ‘Highway 
Infrastructure Asset Management Guidance Document May 2013’ (HIAMG).  
 
This CoPHIA will come into force on 01 October 2018 and supports the Council’s 
‘Highway Asset Management Plan 2015-2021’ (HAMP). It also takes account of 
further advice from: 
 

 Gallagher Bassett International Limited (Insurers); 

 The Council’s Legal Services, Corporate Risk Manager and Insurance and 
Risk Manager; 

 Kennedys Law (Solicitors) and Plexus (Solicitors).  
 
Regard is given to the consultation with the Association of Public Service 
Excellence (APSE), Barnsley and Doncaster Councils, and reference to both 
Buckinghamshire and Herefordshire Councils’ inspection policies and procedures.  
 
 
 

Page 23



 

3  

2. INTRODUCTION 

 
To reflect the current structure within the Rotherham Council’s Community Safety 
and Street Scene Service and the Highway Network Management Group, routine 
inspection and maintenance, and the assessment and programmed maintenance 
have been divided into two sections within this Policy.  
 
Rotherham Council (the Council) as Highway Authority is placed under a duty to 
maintain its highways by Section 41 of the Highways Act 1980. Section 58 of the 
Act allows the Council to mount a defence in actions against the Authority if it can 
demonstrate that it has taken reasonable care to ensure that the highway was not 
dangerous to traffic having regard to: 
 

 The character of the highway and the traffic which was reasonably expected 
to use it; 

 The standard of maintenance appropriate for a highway of that character 
and used by such traffic; 

 The state of repair in which a reasonable person would have expected to 
find the highway; 

 Whether the Authority knew or could reasonably have been expected to 
know that the condition of the highway was likely to cause danger to users; 

 Whether warning notices were displayed when immediate repair could not 
reasonably be expected. 

 

The establishment of an effective regime of inspection, assessment, recording and 
prioritisation of defect repairs is a crucial component of highway maintenance. It 
provides a robust framework to address key objectives for the maintenance of the 
highway in a safe and serviceable manner, as required by Section 41 of the 
Highways Act 1980, and consistent with the Council’s HAMP. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 24



 

4  

3. HIGHWAY INSPECTION 

3.1 Inspection Regime 

 
The Council is responsible for the maintenance of over 1,160km (725 miles) of 
roads.  These are split into different types of road classification as shown below: 
 

 Principal roads (A class) are the main strategic routes that carry large 
volumes of traffic around through the Borough; 

 Non-principal roads (B and C class) are main roads of local strategic 
importance.  They are through routes that link together the principal roads; 

 Unclassified roads are minor routes carrying local traffic only.  They tend to 
be mainly residential estate roads and rural roads. 

 

All Safety Highway Inspections (SHI’s) are undertaken by area based Highway 
Inspectors within the Council’s Community Safety and Street Scene Service. 
Street Works inspections, highway enforcement activities and actions to identify 
programmed maintenance activities follow separate procedures.  
 
 
3.1.1 Network Hierarchy 

 

Tables 3.1.1a, 3.1.1b, and 3.1.1c below are extracted from the CoPHMM and 
relate to individual highway sections. They are intended to be used as a reference 
point from which to develop local hierarchies. The review of road hierarchies 
across local authority boundaries, to ensure a consistent application of procedures, 
forms a part of the Council’s HAMP. 
 
Footway maintenance standards as with carriageway maintenance standards will 
not necessarily be reflected by the road classification, this being determined by 
pedestrian usage and not the importance of the road in the network. Local factors 
such as the age, distribution of the population, the proximity of schools or other 
establishments attracting higher than normal numbers of pedestrians to the area 
should also be taken into account.  
 
The detailed descriptions in the tables relate to the most usual circumstances 
encountered in the UK. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 25



 

5  

Category Hierarchy 
Description 

Type of Road General 
Description 

Detailed Description 

1 Motorway Limited access motorway 
regulations apply 

Routes for fast moving long distance 
traffic. Fully grade separated and 
restrictions on use. 

2 Strategic Route Trunk and some  Principal 
'A' roads between Primary 
Destinations 

Routes for fast moving long distance traffic 
with little frontage access or pedestrian 
traffic. Speed limits are usually in excess of 
40 mph and there are few junctions. 
Pedestrian crossings are either segregated 
or controlled and parked vehicles are 
generally prohibited. 

3 
(3a in 
the 
Code) 

Main Distributor Major Urban Network and 
Inter-Primary Links. Short - 
medium distance traffic 

Routes between Strategic Routes and 
linking urban centres to the Strategic 
Network with limited frontage access. In 
urban areas speed limits are usually 40 
mph or less, parking is restricted at peak 
times and there are positive measures for 
pedestrian safety. 

4 
(3b in 
the 
Code) 

Secondary 
Distributor 

Classified Road (B and C 
class) and unclassified 
urban bus routes carrying 
local traffic with frontage 
access and frequent 
junctions 

In rural areas these roads link the larger 
villages and HGV generators to the 
Strategic and Main Distributor Network. In 
built up areas these roads have 30 mph 
speed limits and very high levels of 
pedestrian activity with some crossing 
facilities including zebra crossings. On 
street parking is generally unrestricted 
except for safety reasons. 

5 
(4a in 
the 
Code) 

Link Road Roads linking between the 
Main and Secondary 
Distributor Network with 
frontage access and 
frequent junctions 

In rural areas these roads link the smaller 
villages to the distributor roads. They are 
of varying width and not always capable of 
carrying two way traffic. In urban areas 
they are residential or industrial inter-
connecting roads with 30 mph speed limits 
random pedestrian movements and 
uncontrolled parking. 

6 
(4b in 
the 
Code) 

Local Access Road Roads serving limited 
numbers of properties 
carrying only access traffic 

In rural areas these roads serve small 
settlements and provide access to 
individual properties and land. They are 
often only single lane width and unsuitable 
for HGVs. In urban areas they are often 
residential loop roads or cul-de-sacs. 

Table 3.1.1a Carriageways 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 26



 

6  

 

 
Category No Category Name Brief Description 
1a Prestige Walking Zones* Very busy areas of towns and cities with high public space 

and street scene contribution. 

1 Primary Walking Routes Busy urban shopping and business areas and main 
pedestrian routes. 

2 Secondary Walking Routes Medium usage routes through local areas feeding into 
primary routes, local shopping centres, etc. 

3 Link Footway Linking local access footways through urban areas and busy 
rural footways. 

4 Local Access Footways Footways associated with low usage, short estate roads to 
the main routes and cul-de sacs. 

Table 3.1.1b Footways  

 

*At present no footways in Rotherham are categorised as ‘Prestige Walking 
Zones’. 
 

 

 
Category Description 
A Cycle lane forming part of the carriageway, commonly 1.5 m strip adjacent to the nearside 

kerb. Cycle gaps at road closure point (no entries allowing cycle access). 

B Cycle track, a highway route for cyclists not contiguous with the public footway or 
carriageway. Shared cycle / pedestrian paths, either segregated by a white line or other 
physical segregation, or un-segregated. 

C Cycle trails, leisure routes through open spaces. These are not necessarily the 
responsibility of the highway authority, but may be maintained by an authority under 
other powers or duties. 

Table 3.1.1c  Cycle Routes 

 
 

 
3.2 Safety Inspections 
 

Safety Highway Inspections (SHI’s) are designed to identify, record and prioritise 
the repair of defects which may present an immediate danger, or significant 
inconvenience to users of the highway (emergencies), or to the structural condition 
of the highway and assets contained within the highway boundary. In addition, they 
may be used to identify defects of a lesser magnitude which may be included 
within future programmes of planned maintenance work or to indicate that a more 
in depth service inspection may be required. 
 

SHI’s are supplemented by other inspections and assessments undertaken in line 

with national standards and/or good practice, including but not limited to: 

 

 

Page 27



 

7  

 Ad-hoc inspections undertaken in response to specific matters identified 
through correspondence; 

 Specialist inspections of certain assets within the highway boundary (for 
example street lighting and highway structures); 

 Technical assessments of carriageway condition generally undertaken 
using machine based equipment (for example SCANNER or SCRIM 
surveys); 

 Structural Maintenance Visual Assessments (CVI or DVI); 

 Street Works inspections.  
 

SHI’s are visual inspections undertaken in accordance with risk assessment 
principles as outlined through the risk based approach in section 3.7 of this 
document. They are designed to provide complete, accurate and timely 
information, as far as is reasonably practicable, on the safety maintenance needs 
of the highway network and its ancillary assets based on site observations and 
measurements. These are applied through a risk based evaluation reflective of the 
characteristics of the defect, the local environment and network usage. 

 

In line with national codes of good practice, particularly CoPWMHI, published on 
28 October 2016, the characteristics of the inspection regime, including frequency 
of inspection, items to be recorded and nature of response, are defined following 
an assessment of the relative risks associated with the potential formation of 
defects within the highway boundary. 
 

 
The inspection regime must be applied and recorded systematically and 
consistently. As well as information relating to defects, all inspections must also 
therefore record the following through the use of mobile device technology (MDT): 

 

 Time of inspection and defect location; 

 Weather conditions; 

 Any unusual circumstances of the inspection; 

 Person(s) conducting the inspection. 

 

Arrangements are made to review the inspection, assessment, frequency and 
recording regime at least every two years. The outcome of this review will be 
considered at a senior management level within the Council’s Regeneration and 
Environment Directorate and will consider: 

 

 Changes in network characteristics and use; 

 Completeness and effectiveness of data collected; 

 Trends within defect formation; 

 Success of repair programmes; 

 The need for changes/amendments/additions to the inspection regime 
derived from risk assessment. 

 

Page 28



 

8  

Proposals to amend the inspection frequency or methodology may be made should 
such alterations be deemed to be beneficial.  
 
3.2.1 Inspection Frequencies 
 
Frequencies for safety inspections of individual network sections are based upon the 
Carriageway Maintenance Hierarchy adopted by the Council, which in itself 
considers: 
 

 Road category; 

 Traffic use, characteristics and trends; 

 Characteristics of adjoining network elements; 

 Wider policy or operational considerations. 
 
Although the road category within the hierarchy, in combination with traffic use, will 
be the main determinant of inspection frequency, site specific factors may merit a 
decision to temporarily or permanently increase or reduce the frequency in a 
specific location, for example, where the condition of a highway is susceptible to 
rapid deterioration additional safety inspection (ASI) may be undertaken. The 
Council will therefore consider the following for individual network sections: 
  

 Incidents, extreme weather and inspection history; 

 Complaints about condition; 

 Claims received; 

 Condition assessments (UKPMS); 

 Traffic flows and changes in use; 

 Defect interventions recorded. 

 
Circumstances outside our control, for example weather conditions, network and 
resource availability may result in SHI’s not being carried out on their due date. 
The tolerances in table 3.2.1a below are considered reasonable and apply Monday 
to Friday excluding Bank Holidays:- 
 

Target Insp Frequency  Tolerance 

Monthly    +/- 1 week 

3 Monthly    +/- 2 weeks 

6 Monthly    +/- 3 weeks 

Table 3.2.1a Safety Inspection Tolerances 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 29



 

9  

Tables 3.2.1b, 3.2.1c and 3.2.1d below detail the safety inspection frequencies 
adopted by the Council which may be subject to temporary changes through the 
risk based approach.  
 

 
Carriageway Hierarchy 
Classification 

Frequency of safety inspection Hierarchy Category 

1 Not currently used  

2 Monthly Strategic Road 

3A (Rotherham Cat 3) Monthly Main Distributor Road 

3B (Rotherham Cat 4) 3 Monthly Secondary Distributor Road 

4A (Rotherham Cat 5) 3 Monthly Local Link Road 

4B (Rotherham Cat 6) 6 Monthly Local Access Road 

Table 3.2.1b Safety Inspection Frequency for Carriageways 
 

 
 
 

Footway Hierarchy 
Classification 

Frequency of safety inspection Hierarchy Category 

1 Monthly Primary Walking Route 

2 3 monthly Secondary Walking Route and Safer 
Routes to School 

3 6 monthly Linked Footway 

4 6 Monthly Local Access Footway 

Table 3.2.1c Safety Inspection Frequency for Footways 

 
 
 

Cycle way Hierarchy 
Classification 

Frequency of safety inspection Hierarchy Category 

1 As per carriageway frequency Cycle lane - contiguous with the 
carriageway 

2 6 Monthly Cycle  Track,  Shared Cycle/Footway 
- a route for cyclists not contiguous with 
the public footway or carriageway or a 
shared cycle/pedestrian path 

Table 3.2.1d Safety Inspection Frequency for Cycleways 

 

Carriageways and footways are inspected simultaneously, with the frequency of 
inspection being set as the more frequent of the two intervals. Subsequently, some 
footways and shared cycle/footway lanes will be inspected more frequently than 
indicated in the tables above. Additionally, Council owned car parks will be 
inspected during the inspection of the adjacent highway. 
 

Page 30



 

10  

3.2.2 Inspection Methodology 
 

Safety inspections may be carried out from a slow moving vehicle. Where the 
Highway Inspector determines that in their reasonable opinion the inspection 
cannot be undertaken and defects effectively observed from a vehicle, then the 
inspection will be walked. 
 
Carriageway and Cycle Lane inspections may be undertaken by slow moving 
vehicle, at frequencies that reflect the characteristics of the particular highway and 
its use. In heavily used urban areas it may be difficult to obtain the necessary level 
of accuracy from vehicle based inspections and therefore the inspection may 
walked. 
 
All following parts of the highway will be walked inspections as will any other parts 
of the highway where it may be difficult to obtain the necessary level of accuracy 
from vehicle based inspections: 
 

 Flagged or other modular footways; 

 Urban Principal Roads; 

 Cat 1 footways; 

 Footpaths; 

 Cycle ways (remote from the carriageway). 

 
All other parts of the highway may be inspected for safety from a slow moving 
vehicle with an inspection team of two comprising observer and driver. 
 
Chapter 8 of the Traffic Signs Manual 2009 (Part 2 Operations) deals with slow 
moving continuous operations such as highway maintenance inspections, road 
testing and white lining operations 
 
The requirements are: 
 

 The work should be carried out at off-peak times; 

 Operatives should wait for a sufficient gap in the traffic prior to marking any 
defects on the carriageway. Safe gaps in the traffic are only likely to occur in 
traffic flows of less than 40 vehicles per minute on three-lane carriageways. 
At least three seconds per lane, or a safe gap of 150 metres per lane, 
should be allowed when estimating crossing times; 

 Operatives should face oncoming traffic or use a lookout while marking 
defects; 

 Where gaps in the traffic are insufficient, operatives should not attempt to 
mark the defect but instead should estimate the dimensions of the repair; 

 Work on three-lane single carriageway roads should be carried out from the 
nearside lane at a speed limit of minimum 30 mph. 

 

In order to determine the appropriate method of working, single and dual 
carriageway roads are split into categories depending on the daily vehicle flow per 
carriageway. 

Page 31



 

11  

 
The road categories are: 
 

 Category 1: greater than 80,000 vehicles/day; 

 Category 2: 20,000 to 80,000 vehicles/day; 

 Category 3: less than 20,000 vehicles/day. 
 
3.2.3 Inspection by Vehicle 
 
Rotherham’s highway network does not include any Category 1 roads. For 
Category 2 and 3 roads, the following method should be followed by the Highway 
Inspector (Operative): 
 

 Drive at a minimum of 30 mph on the nearside lane of the carriageway; 

 Pull up on the hard shoulder if available or at a safe location to record or 
assess defects; 

 On roads where a slow moving vehicle could be a hazard to other road 
users an amber light should be attached to the roof of the surveying 
vehicle;. 

 On a dual carriageway with a hard shoulder, the inspection should be 
undertaken from the hard shoulder if this is practicable and safe to do so. 

 

Table 3.2.3a indicates the ‘Safety Inspection Approach Risk Assessment’. 

 

Hazards 

Identified 

Risk Level People at 

risk 

Controls Comments / actions 

Hazards 

associated with 

the post of 

Highway 

Inspector 

Various Inspector 

and 

Highway 

Users 

Refer to Chapter 8 Traffic Signs 

Manual 2009 (Part 2 Operations) and 

‘Lone Working Risk Assessment‘. 

 

Survey vehicle 

being driven at 

low speeds 

(≤10mph) 

Med Inspector 

and 

highway 

users 

Vehicle to be equipped with warning 

amber lamp and ‘Highway 

Maintenance’ signage displayed on 

the vehicle. 

 

Vehicular traffic 

queuing behind 

survey vehicle 

Med Inspector 

and 

highway 

users 

Highway Inspector to monitor build-

up of traffic travelling behind, and 

pull over where safe to do so to allow 

queuing vehicles to overtake. 

Hazard warning 

lights to be used in 

addition to flashing 

beacon when survey 

vehicle is stationary. 

Page 32



 

12  

Highway 

inspector 

walking and 

marking out on 

the highway. 

High Inspector 

and 

highway 

users 

Inspector to wear reflective clothing, 

walk towards oncoming traffic and 

face oncoming traffic when marking 

out defects. 

Awareness required of traffic 

volumes and not to spray mark 

defect if site conditions dictate 

otherwise. 

 

Weather (fog/ 

heavy 

rain/snow) 

Med Inspector 

and 

highway 

users 

Inspections to be rescheduled when 

conditions/visibility has improved. 

 

Lack of forward 

and rear 

visibility (brows, 

bends and dips 

in the road) 

High Inspector 

and 

highway 

users 

Highway Inspector to assess whether 

the survey vehicle can be driven 

safely at 10 mph 

 

Table 3.2.3a  Safety Inspection Approach Risk Assessment 

 

3.2.4 Inspection Procedure 
 

 Driven safety inspections shall only be undertaken as detailed in Safety 
Inspection Approach and the Safety Inspection Method Risk Assessment; 

 Vehicles used for inspection will carry “Highway Maintenance” signs 
displayed in the rear window; 

 On roads where a slow moving vehicle could be a hazard to other road 
users an amber light should be attached to the roof/rear window of the 
surveying vehicle; 

 Reflective clothing will always be worn when undertaking inspections; 

 Inspections should, wherever possible, be carried out from the footway. The 
recording of data must be carried out from the footway or other safe place; 

 In heavy traffic it is essential that marking out be undertaken by two people. 
The second person will concentrate on safety and be on the lookout for 
traffic; 

 Where traffic is very heavy further safety measures may be necessary such 
as rescheduling the inspection for a time of day when traffic is lighter. In 
some circumstances traffic management measures may be required; 

 Under no circumstances should the officer undertaking the inspection 
handle needles, syringes or other sharp objects; 

 All observed defects will be risk assessed taking into consideration the 
‘Minimum Investigatory Levels’ specified in Table 3.7.1a; 

 Defects representing a risk to highway users will be recorded using MDT 
and the level of response will be determined on the basis of risk 
assessment (see sections 3.5, 3.6 and 3.7). 

 
 

Page 33



 

13  

3.3 Service Inspections and Programmed Maintenance. 
 
 
3.3.1 Risk Management 
 
Service inspections should be strongly focused on ensuring that the network meets 
the needs of users and comprise more detailed specific inspections of particular 
highway elements, to ensure that they meet the levels of service defined within the 
Council’s HAMP. Such inspections may be prompted by Highway Inspectors 
through the safety inspection process and subsequent provision of regular reports 
to Service Managers.  
 
Risk assessments for service inspections are dealt with differently to safety 
inspections. Serviceability related defects are mainly related to network reliability 
and integrity and the ability of the network to meet the needs of users. Risks are 
assessed by reference to the HAMP by taking due consideration of levels of 
service, relative priorities and available budget. 
 
Operational Risks are faced in the day to day delivery of services. Street Lighting 
for example is associated with increased personal security, so any potential 
service level changes to lighting levels will require consideration of risk impact. 
Flood risks associated with drainage assets pose operational risk through potential 
flooding to highway and properties. Regular maintenance of existing highway 
drainage assets is a priority of the Council in maintaining the safety of the public 
highway. 
 
In order to capture these risks, and to ensure compliance with corporate 
procedure, the Managers’ of highway assets including Roads (carriageways, 
footways and verges), Street Lighting, Drainage, Bridges/Structures and Traffic 
Systems identify risks, at least quarterly, in respect of their individual 
assets/services. A risk assessment is then undertaken to evaluate a risk factor and 
an appropriate RAG (red, amber, green) rating in accordance with the Council’s 
“Risk Management Policy and Guide 2015” culminating in an overarching Service 
Risk Register. 
  
Any red or amber risks that are subsequently considered of significance for 
possible inclusion in the Council’s Strategic Risk Register are referred on to the 
Council’s Corporate Risk Manager for consideration. The remaining risks remain 
on the Operational Service Risk Register for ongoing management and 
assessment. 
  
 
3.3.2 Road Maintenance 
 
As a result of the regular condition surveys of various types undertaken on the 
network (see section 4.3), the Council holds condition data on all of the roads, 
footways and footpaths making up the highway network. This data is mapped 
within the highway asset management system. In addition to prioritising 
programmes for maintenance schemes, the data is also used to identify areas 
where more routine programmed maintenance repairs would be beneficial. 

Page 34



 

14  

Wherever possible such programmed repair will be coordinated with the other 
programmes of work to ensure the most efficient delivery of repair work. It also 
demonstrates a coordinated approach to highway users.  
 
 

3.3.3 Street Lighting 
 

Routine electrical inspections are carried out at six year intervals to ensure street 
lighting units comply with relevant electrical regulations. At each attendance for 
routine electrical testing and other reactive maintenance the condition of the unit is 
assessed visually. This visual inspection forms a risk based evaluation with 
regards identification of ageing columns that are prioritised for replacement in line 
with ILE technical report 22 Managing a Vital Asset : Lighting Supports. 
 
In addition to visual inspections, in ten year intervals, each street lighting unit 
should be inspected and assessed by an independent testing contractor to assess 
the structural condition of the street lighting units. The testing contractor will 
provide a report on the street lighting units structural and visual condition with 
recommendations for replacement programmes. 
 
 
3.3.4 Highway Structures  
 
General inspections are undertaken every 2 years to ensure highway bridges, 
including subways and culverts as well as footbridges are safe for the passage of 
vehicular and/or pedestrian traffic. Bridge condition details are recorded at these 
inspections. 
 
Principal inspections are carried out at intervals of between 6 and 12 years at the 
more significant highway structures. This interval is determined through a risk 
assessment following national guidance. These inspections together yield urgent 
defects that are repaired as well as refurbishment needs for each structure that are 
detailed and prioritised around a risk based approach in order to complete 
appropriate work programmes. 
 
 
3.3.5 Traffic signals 
 
Programmed inspections to all traffic signal equipment are undertaken 3 times per 
year to all equipment and urgent defect repaired at the time by the traffic signals 
term maintenance contractor. Special inspections in response to defects reports 
will also be made if appropriate when reports are received. 
 
 
3.3.6 Highway Trees 
 
Generally, the inspection of highway trees by the Council’s Tree Officers is 
prompted by Highway Inspectors identifying possible defects and risks to highway 
users through safety inspections and on receipt of reports from local residents, the 
general public and / or Ward Members.  

Page 35



 

15  

 
A risk based approach in developing a pro-active inspection regime in accordance 
with CoPWMHI is being considered. This follows the acquisition of a new Tree 
Management System that is expected to support the implementation of such a 
regime. 
 
3.3.7 Highway Drainage 
 
The road gullies in Rotherham (of which there are currently 45,446) are inspected, 
and if necessary cleansed, at least once per year in accordance with CIRIA 
(Construction Industry Research and Information Association) Report 183. The 
road gullies on the majority of roads (generally estate roads) are inspected once 
per year with frequencies increasing up to four times per year on roads such as 
Rotherham Gateway. The visits are recorded electronically using a GPS (Global 
Positioning System) fitted to the Gully Flushers. 
 
Any defects with road gullies are recorded using the GPS system and a list of 
highway drainage assets (which includes road gullies) requiring repair is held 
electronically. Due to a backlog of highway drainage assets requiring repair, 
remedial works are prioritised according to the severity of the flooding, the 
frequency of the flooding and the length of time the Highway Authority has been 
aware of the defect. 
 
Other assets, such as soakaways, silt traps, linear drainage, petrol interceptors, 
outfalls and flow regulators, are inspected, and if necessary cleansed, between 
once per year and twelve times per year. The frequency is determined using data 
collected during previous inspections. If an asset is inspected twice per year and 
requires maintenance during each inspection the frequency of visits will be 
increased to four times per year. Should an asset which is inspected twice per year 
be found to require no maintenance during inspections, the frequency of 
inspections will be decreased to once per year. 
 
 
3.4 Customer Reports 
 
Complaints, reports and requests for maintenance from members of the public and 
other stakeholders will be received via the Council's Customer Contact Centre 
which is contactable 24 hours per day and 7 days per week. These reports are 
allocated a unique reference number. Reports of situations that could be 
potentially hazardous to highway users will be telephoned directly through to the 
appropriate Highway Inspector.  
 
Through the risk based approach, should the Highway Inspector evaluate that 
urgent action be required to make the highway safe, then the Highway Delivery 
Team will be contacted immediately to arrange for relevant resources to be 
deployed and a record made using MDT. 
 
 
 
 

Page 36



 

16  

3.5 Defect Categories 
 

This CoPHIA defines defects in two categories: 
 

 Emergency (Cat ‘A’) are those requiring prompt attention because they 
represent an immediate hazard; 

 Category 1 (Cat ‘1’) are those requiring priority attention as they represent a 
potential risk to road users or to the integrity of the highway asset. 

 
Cat ‘1’ defects are then further subdivided into High, Medium and Low categories 
to enable the inspector to make an appropriate assessment of risk. 
 
 
3.5.1 Cat ‘A’ Defects 
 
Defects will be made safe at the time of the inspection, if reasonably practicable. In 
this context, making safe may constitute the Highway Inspector parking a vehicle 
in such a manner as to protect users of the highway from the defect, or by 
maintaining a presence to advise highway users accordingly. The emergency call 
procedures will be adopted by the Highway Inspector in circumstances where it is 
not possible to make safe the highway at the time of inspection, thereby ensuring 
that appropriate resources are mobilised by the Highway Delivery Team to make 
the defect safe. Examples of typical Cat ‘A’ defects are shown below. 
 
 
 

        
Lighting Column access cover    Carriageway Collapse   Missing Chamber Cover 
Removed exposing cables 

 
 
 
3.5.2 Cat ‘1’ Defects 
 
Cat ‘1’ defects are categorised according to priority: High (Cat ‘1H’), Medium (Cat 
‘1M’) and Low (Cat ‘1L’), with response times specified in section 3.7 (see table 
3.7.6a). A means of appropriately categorising Cat ‘1’defects is also covered in 
section 3.7 (see subsection 3.7.5). 
 
 
 

Page 37



 

17  

Examples of typical Cat ‘1’ defects are shown below. 
 

              
     Carriageway Pothole     Uneven flagged Footway 
 
 

3.5.3 Safety Inspection Defect Types 
 
The Highway Inspector’s decision in categorising defects through the risk based 
approach may be critical in securing the safety of highway users and may also be 
subject to legal scrutiny in the event of an accident occurring at or near to the 
defect location. Complete and accurate records will be essential. 
 
Table 3.5.3a indicates typical issues that may be identified by the Highway 
Inspector during SHIs (Section 3.6 provides further guidance). Such issues are 
coded and recorded through the use of MDT, and where required reported to the 
relevant asset owner or Service Manager.  

 
Type Code Footways / Verges /Car Parks Carriageways 

Surface 

Maintenance 
 
 

 

FURN 
 
 
 
 

SKID 
 
 
 
 

Arrange urgent repair or making safe 
of serious footway defects, defective 
ironware, kerb or edging defects and 
third party reinstatements/apparatus. 
 

Arrange urgent repair or making safe 
of potholes and other surface defects 
including ironwork and channel 
defects  

 
Report any areas where serious loss 
of skidding resistance suspected. 
 
 
 

Highway 

Drainage 

DRAN Report excessive standing water or 
water flowing onto the footway. 
Report blocked gullies, drainage 
channels, or grips. 

Arrange to make safe as necessary and 
report excessive standing water or 
water flowing onto or across the 
carriageway. Report blocked gullies or 
kerb drainage systems. 

Obstruction OBST Report or action serious obstruction 
of the footway from whatever cause. 

Report or action serious obstruction of 
the Carriageway from whatever cause. 

Verge 

Maintenance 

VERG Arrange for urgent repairs or make safe 
potential hazards. 

Report any obstruction to visibility 
caused by verge overgrowth. 

Carriageway 
Channel 
Detritus 

CHAN  Arrange for carriageway to be swept / 
cleansed to help prevent gulley 
blockages. 

Safety 
Fences & 
Barriers 

FENC  Arrange to make safe as necessary and 
report damaged safety fences and 
barriers. 

Page 38



 

18  

Road 
markings / 
road studs 

MARK  Remove any displaced road studs from 
trafficked areas. Report missing Stop/ 
Give Way markings. Report on 
deteriorated line markings. 

Highway 
Trees / trees 
affecting 
highway 

TREE Report potential hazards caused by the 
condition of trees, shrubs and hedges 
including surface disturbance from 
roots. 

Report potential hazards caused by the 
condition of trees, shrubs and hedges 

Moss growth MOSS Arrange for treatment to remove any 

slipping hazard. Report for inclusion on 

moss treatment programme. 

 

Japanese 
Knotweed 

JPKW Arrange for treatment to remove any 

hazard. Report for inclusion on 

treatment programme. 

 

Highway 
Structures 

STRU Report potential hazards caused by the 

condition of bridges, footbridges, 

retaining walls and subways  

Report potential hazards caused by the 

condition of bridges, footbridges, 

retaining walls and subways.  

Street 

Cleansing 

 
 

CLEA Remove any debris from footway 
which might trip pedestrians. 
Report serious or extensive 
accumulations of leaves / litter. 
Report spillages. 

Remove any easily moved potentially 
hazardous debris from trafficked areas 
or arrange removal. Report serious or 
extensive accumulations of leaves / 
litter. Report spillages. 

Traffic signs / 

Signals  

SIGN Report potentially hazardous damage 
to signs, signals and bollards  

 

Street 

Lighting 

LIGH 
 
 

SLVG 

Report potentially hazardous damage 
to columns  
 
Report or action significant 
obstruction of street lighting by tree 
or shrub growth. 

 

Street Name 

Plates 

NAME Arrange to make safe potentially 
hazardous damage, report for 
replacement. 

 

Litter Bins BINS Report potentially hazardous damage  

Other OTHR Report any other potential hazard 
observed. 

 

Scheme 

Required 

SCH Report if scheme may be required. Report if scheme may be required. 

Bin Collection 

Day 

BINC Bins left on highway on bin 
collection day. 

Information only. 

Car Parks CPOW Car park requires other works.  

Hedges HEDG Overhanging vegetation.  

Snow Cover 

(

S

N

O

C

) 

SNOC Highway covered in snow.  

Arrestor Bed ARRE Report and arrange remedial works 

following vehicle intrusion(s). 

 

Table 3.5.3a Types of defects to be recorded 

Page 39



 

19  

3.6 Guidance and Procedures for Inspectors 
 

3.6.1 Surface Maintenance 

 

Some defects may not be the responsibility of the Council to repair, for example, 
the adjustment or replacement of a Utility Company inspection chamber cover and 
frame. In such cases the defect will be recorded in line with normal procedures. It 
will also be temporarily made safe should such actions be necessary to protect the 
safety of the travelling public or the integrity of the highway. All relevant information 
will be notified directly to the third party who will be responsible for continued 
maintenance of the temporary repair and for the subsequent full repair of the 
defect. Should the third party not provide an acceptable response, then the Council 
may take appropriate action itself to instigate appropriate repairs and to recover 
the costs of works undertaken from the third party responsible. 

 

 

3.6.2 Council Owned Car Parks 
 

The safety inspection of car parks (SCI) shall be undertaken at the same time as 
that of the adjacent highway. The minimum investigatory level (MIL) for surface 
defects will be as for footway defects. 
 

Any ‘Cat A’ and ‘Cat 1’ defects identified at the inspection will be ordered for repair 
within the timescales specified in Table 3.7.6a by the appropriate highway 
response team. If required to clearly record the location of the defect then a 
photograph of the location shall be taken and attached to the inspection record. 
 

Any other potential safety issues, for example relating to barriers or furniture, will 
be identified in line with the guidance below. 
 

General deterioration needing more extensive repair or replacement will be 
recorded and reported to Parking Services. 
 
 
3.6.3 Highway Drainage 
 

Water on the carriageway can cause a danger through aqua-planing, vehicles 
swerving to avoid standing water and through ice formation in the winter. It will also 
cause annoyance to pedestrians through spray affecting the footways. The most 
common causes of extensive standing water are blockages to gullies, drainage 
channels or grips. 
 

Water flowing across the footways or carriageway is of particular concern because 
of the danger of ice formation. 
 

All potentially hazardous issues recorded by the Highway Inspector will be 
reported to the Drainage Group (R&E-drainage@rotherham.gov.uk) should further 
action be required. 
 

Page 40

mailto:R&E-drainage@rotherham.gov.uk


 

20  

3.6.4 Obstruction 
 

Physical obstruction can be caused by anything deposited on, growing in, growing 
over or suspended over the highway. The extent of any potential danger can only 
be judged in each individual circumstance taking into account the nature of the 
obstruction, site layout and the level of traffic using the highway. 
 

In the majority of instances the most appropriate first action will be to seek the 
removal of the obstruction by the person responsible for it. If this results in a 
refusal or no action within a reasonable period then enforcement action should be 
considered. 
 
In exceptional circumstances direct action by the Delivery Teams to remove the 
obstruction may be warranted. This should be discussed with the Team Leader 
before instructing the work. 
 

 

3.6.5 Verge Maintenance 
 

Verges can present hazards to highway users through poor surface condition or 
through overgrowth. Hazardous defects within the surface of the verge should be 
dealt with as for other surface repairs having due regard to the risk based 
approach in section 3.7. Any obstruction to sight lines should be reported for 
action. 

 

 
3.6.6 Safety Fences and Barriers 
 

Potentially hazardous faults with safety barriers should be made safe and will be 
recorded and reported to the Street Lighting Manager. 

 
Hazards may possibly include: 

 
 Projections from the damaged fence or barrier extending into areas which 

may reasonably be used by pedestrians or vehicles; 

 Lengths of missing guard rail where a danger to highway users or others 
could be anticipated. For example, a length of safety fencing protecting a 
lighting column from impact would not indicate a need for temporary action 
but a missing section of pedestrian guard rail above a vertical drop would 
indicate a need for urgent action; 

 Vehicle impact damage to the guard rail that may not have been previously 
reported / identified. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 41



 

21  

3.6.7 Road Markings and Road Studs 

 
 
Loose road studs should be removed from trafficked areas and reported to the 
Street Lighting Manager, as should any missing ‘Stop’ or ‘Give Way’ road 
markings. Also lengths of missing or worn regulatory markings such as yellow lines 
or box junctions should be reported. 
 
 

3.6.8 Highway Trees 
 

Trees and shrubs can be the cause of potential danger to highway users through 
their physical condition. Any tree appearing to be dead, damaged or badly 
diseased should be recorded and reported to the Tree Service Manager for further 
investigation. 
 
 
3.6.9 Street Cleansing 
 

Any debris having the potential to cause a danger to highway users should be 
removed and placed in a safe location if this can be achieved. The Highway 
Cleansing Teams and the Council’s Customer Contact Centre will be informed by 
telephone should immediate action be required to remove the following from the 
highway: 

 

 Debris or fly-tipped material; 

 Needles and other sharp objects; 

 Large scale spillages; 

 Dead animals etc.; 

 Racist or obscene graffiti. 

 

An accurate description of the material to be removed must be provided for the 
Delivery Team such that appropriate resources are deployed. Any fly-tipped 
material suspected of containing asbestos must be reported. 

 

Under no circumstances should Highway Inspectors handle needles, 
syringes or other sharp objects. 

 

 

3.6.10 Arrestor Beds 
 

Any observed disturbance to the surface of an Arrestor Bed should be considered 
for remedial works and subsequently reported to The Highway Inspection and 
Street Works Manager.  

 

 

 

 

Page 42



 

22  

3.6.11 Traffic Signs and Traffic Signals 
 

Potentially hazardous faults should be recorded and telephoned through to the 
Council’s Customer Contact Centre immediately on locating them. 

Faults that may represent a hazard include: 

 

 Electrical covers missing or dislodged; 

 Wiring exposed; 

 Illuminated bollards or their temporary replacements missing, Insecurely 
rooted furniture, including sign posts; 

 Traffic signal heads or sign lighting units hanging loose; 

 Missing or damaged sign poles and sign faces; 

 Red/Amber/Green missing signals or twisted around or hanging loose; 

 Inoperative red or green man signals. 
 

 

3.6.12 Street Lighting 
 

Potentially hazardous faults should be phoned through to the Council’s Customer 
Contact Centre immediately on locating them. 

 

Faults that may be hazardous include: 
 

 Missing doors from columns; 

 Severely leaning or visibly damaged columns; 

 Rocking columns; 

 Hanging lanterns and lantern bowls. 
 
Appropriate action will be arranged where street lighting is likely to be significantly 
affected by tree or shrub growth. In the majority of instances the most appropriate 
first action will be to seek the removal of the obstruction by the person(s) 
responsible. If this results in a refusal or no action within a reasonable period then 
enforcement action should be considered. 
 

In exceptional circumstances direct action by the Delivery Teams to remove the 
obstruction may be warranted. This should be discussed with the Team Leader 
before instructing the work. 
 

 

3.6.13 Street Name Plates 
 

Signs that are potentially hazardous due to damage, possibly with sharp edges or 
being insecurely fixed, should be recorded and telephoned through to the Council’s 
Customer Contact Centre immediately on locating them. 
 

Reports of missing plates should be reported to the Street Lighting Manager for 
permanent replacement. 

Page 43



 

23  

 
3.6.14 Litter Bins 
 

Bins that are potentially hazardous due to damage, possibly with sharp edges or 
being insecurely fixed should be recorded and reported by telephone through the 
Council’s Customer Contact Centre. 
 
 
3.6.15 Weekly Defect Report 
 

Defects that have not been risk assessed at ‘Cat A’ or ‘Cat 1’ are recorded through 
MDT and through the use of the codes displayed in Table 3.5.3a. These records 
form part of the Highway Asset Database. On a weekly basis a report is produced 
and circulated to the appropriate managers for them to assess any action required. 

 

 
3.7 Risk Based Approach 
 
The purpose of the risk assessment is to determine the scale of the risk presented 
by a defect in order to prioritise the appropriate response. The implementation of a 
risk based approach (RBA) to safety highway inspection is set out below. The 
Council’s ‘Risk Management Policy and Guide’ adopts a ‘5x5’ risk matrix, which is 
consistent with that included within the HIAMG on page 79 ‘Figure 10 Qualitative 
Matrix Approach’. A ‘5x5’ matrix is adopted within this CoPHIA (see table 3.7.5a) 
which also provides for a risk factor score range from 1 to 25.  
 
3.7.1 Minimum Investigatory Levels 
 

Any highway feature with a defect level which corresponds to, or is in excess of, 
the Minimum Investigatory Level (MIL) is to be assessed by the Highway Inspector 
using the risk based approach. 
 

To establish minimum investigatory levels a number of comparable local 

authority’s criteria have been taken into consideration. The following definitions are 

adopted by 75% of authorities surveyed: 

 

 A depth of 40mm or greater and extending in any one direction >300mm 

in the carriageway; 

 A rapid change of profile >25mm and extending in plan dimension 

<600mm in the footway. 

 

The remaining 25% of authorities worked to a 50mm depth in the carriageway and 

20mm depth in the footway but did not specify any horizontal dimensions. 

Table 3.7.1a sets out the MIL’s for consideration by Rotherham’s Highway 
Inspectors. The MIL’s specified are similar to the intervention levels specified in 
previous editions of the Council’s “Code of Practice for Highway Inspection and 
Assessment” up to June 2017. These intervention levels were established with 
reference to CoPHMM taking into account all types of highway users.   

Page 44



 

24  

 
 
Defects which do not meet the MIL will not generally be identified on a safety 
inspection, unless the inspector deems it necessary to do so. The MIL is provided 
as a guide only. Should the Highway Inspector deem it necessary to categorise 
any specific defect at a higher level, following risk assessment, then this will be 
recorded. 
 

Highway Feature Surface Type Defect 

 
Minimum Investigatory 

Level 
(action subject to RBA) 

 

Carriageway and 
Cycle Way contiguous 
with carriageway 

Flexible/Rigid Pothole 

 
40 mm depth 
and 250 mm width 
 

Modular/Rigid 

 
Missing unit 
 
Abrupt difference in level. 
 

 
All occurrences 
 
40mm 
 

Pedestrian Crossings 
Crossover Points 
Steps 
Footway Area 
Cycle Route Type B 
Kerb, Channel or 
Edging adjacent to a 
pedestrian paved area 

 
Flexible/Rigid 
 

Pothole 20 mm depth  

Modular/Rigid 

 
Missing unit. 
 
Abrupt difference in level. 
Misaligned. 
Damaged. 
Rocking. 

 
All occurrences 
 
20mm 
20mm 
20mm 
20mm 

Kerb, Channel or 
Edging not adjacent 
to a pedestrian paved 
area 

 

 
Missing unit. 
 
Abrupt difference in level. 
Misaligned. 
Damaged. 
Rocking. 

 
All occurrences 
 
20mm 
20mm 
20mm 
20mm 

Verge Unpaved Damaged RBA 

Table 3.7.1a Minimum Investigatory Levels 

 
 
 
3.7.2 Risk Impact  
 
 

Potential impact is quantified by the Highway Inspector assessing the extent of 
damage likely to be caused should the risk be realised. The impact/severity is 
affected by the magnitude or dimension of the defect and other variables such as 
mode of transport, road speed and the vulnerability of those involved. 
 
The impact of a risk occurring is assessed as follows: 

Page 45



 

25  

 Catastrophic; 

 Major;  

 Significant;  

 Minor;  

 Insignificant. 

 
The impact of a risk occurring is measured on a scale of 1 to 5 (1 insignificant to 5 
catastrophic). Table 3.7.2a provides guidance. 
 

Impact 
rating 
 
 

Score Description Possible Indicators 

C
A

TA
ST

R
O

P
H

IC
 

5 

The Hazard presented by the defect, or 
due to the short term structural 
deterioration in the defect, could result 
in a fatality or serious injury. 

Impact will result in serious damage to 
persons or property. 
Highway users will instinctively react to avoid 

the defect and this will place them in peril. 
The defect could destabilise a vehicle and this 
will place highway users in peril. 

M
A

JO
R

 

4 

The Hazard presented by the defect, or 
due to the short term structural 
deterioration in the defect, could result 
in injury or serious claim against the 
Authority. 

Impact will result in damage to persons or 
property, from which they are likely to 

recover. 
Highway users will instinctively react to avoid 
the defect. 
The defect could destabilise a vehicle. 

SI
G

N
IF

IC
A

N
T

 

3 

The Hazard presented by the defect, or 
due to the short term structural 
deterioration in the defect, could result 
in minor injury or claim against the 
Authority. If untreated the defect will 
contribute to the deterioration in the 
overall condition of the Highway Asset. 
The defect is likely to deteriorate 
further before the next safety 
inspection. 

Most impacts will not result in any injury. 
Highway users are unlikely to react to avoid 
the defect and the impact will not interrupt 
their passage. 
The defect will be felt and recognised as a 
defect by most Highway users, and its 
presence will be a negative influence on their 
perception of the Highway Asset. 
If untreated the defect will accelerate the 
local deterioration of the Highway Asset. 

M
IN

O
R

 

2 

The Hazard presented by the defect, or 
due to the short term structural 
deterioration in the defect, is unlikely to 
result in injury or claim, but the defect 
will contribute to the deterioration in 
the overall condition of the Highway 
asset. The defect is unlikely to 
deteriorate further before the next 
scheduled safety inspection. 

The defect will be recognised by Highway 
Inspectors as requiring attention, but is 
unlikely to be felt and recognised as a defect 
by most Highway users. 
It is unlikely that the defect will cause any 
injury. 

IN
SI

G
N

IF
IC

A
N

T 1 

The defect is due to the short term 
structural deterioration. It is highly 
unlikely to result in both an injury or 
claim and further deterioration.  

Whilst the defect will may be recognised by 
Highway Inspectors as requiring attention, it 
is highly unlikely to be recognised as a defect 
by Highway users. 
The defect is very unlikely to cause injury. 

Table 3.7.2a Impact Ratings 

 
The vulnerability of all highway users, including cyclists and pedestrians to certain 
highway defects will be reflected in the risk assessment carried out when deciding 
the category of the defect.  

Page 46



 

26  

3.7.3 Risk Likelihood  
 
Likelihood is the Highway Inspector’s assessment of probability of the defect 
affecting the safe passage of traffic along the highway, or affecting the structural 
integrity of the highway between scheduled inspections. It follows an assessment 
of the Road Hierarchy and the location of the defect within the highway in relation 
to other risk factors/features in the environment. 
 
The likelihood of a risk occurring is assessed as follows: 

 

 Almost certain; 

 Very likely; 

 Likely; 

 Possible; 

 Unlikely. 

 
The probability is quantified by assessing the likelihood of users, passing by or 
over the defect, encountering the risk. As the probability is likely to increase with 
increasing vehicular or pedestrian flow, the network hierarchy and defect location 
are important considerations in the assessment. The likelihood of a risk occurring 
is measured on a scale of 1 to 5 (1 unlikely to 5 almost certain). Table 3.7.3a 
provides guidance. 
 

 

Likelihood 
Rating 

Score Description Possible Indicators 

A
LM

O
ST

 

C
ER

TA
IN

 

5 

More than an 
80% chance of 
occurrence. 

Vehicular, cycle and / or pedestrian flows are high. 
A high percentage of vulnerable users may pass through the site. 
The location of the defect and the topography of the site will 
mean that it is difficult to a highway user to recognise and hence 
avoid the defect. 
Forward visibility may be compromised. 

V
ER

Y
 

LI
K

EL
Y

 

4 
60 to 80% chance 
of occurrence. 

Vehicular, cycle or pedestrian flows may be high, but differing 
modes are less likely to share the Highway at this location. 
Responsible Highway users may be able to recognise and take 
action to mitigate the impact of the defect. 
Forward visibility is good. 

LI
K

EL
Y

 

3 
40 to 60% chance 
of occurrence. 

Vehicular, cycle or pedestrian flows are moderate or low. 
Different transport modes are unlikely to share the Highway at 
this location. 
The majority of responsible Highway users will be able to 
recognise and take action to mitigate the impact of the defect. 

P
O

SS
IB

LE
 

2 
10 to 40% chance 
of occurrence. 

Vehicular, cycle or pedestrian flows are low. 
The speed differential between users is likely to be low. 
The majority of responsible Highway users will be able to avoid 
the defect. 

U
N

LI
K

EL
Y

 

 
1 

 
Less than 10% 
chance of 
occurrence. 

Vehicular, cycle or pedestrian flows are very low. 
The speed differential between users is very likely to be low. 
It is expected that responsible Highway users will be able to 
avoid the defect. 

Table 3.7.3a Likelihood Ratings 

 

Page 47



 

27  

3.7.4 Risk Factor 
 
The risk factor for a particular risk is calculated as follows: 
 
Risk Factor  =  Impact Score  X  Likelihood Score 
 
It is this factor that identifies the overall seriousness of the risk and consequently 
the appropriateness of the speed of response to remedy the defect. 
 
3.7.5 Defect Catergorisation 
 
Table 3.7.5a (Risk Matrix) and table 3.7.5b (Risk Factor Scoring) below enable the 
appropriate categorisation of defects.  

 

 

LI
K

EL
IH

O
O

D
 

 
Almost Certain 

5 
 

 
5 

 
10 

 
15 

 
20 

 
25 

 
Very Likely 

4 
 

 
4 

 
8 
 

 
12 

 
16 

 
20 

 
Likely 

3 
 

 
3 

 
6 

 
9 

 
12 

 
15 

 
Possible 

2 
 

 
2 

 
4 

 
6 

 
8 

 
10 

 
Unlikely 

1 
 

 
1 

 
2 

 
3 

 
4 

 
5 

 
 
 
 

 
Insignificant 

1 

 
Minor 

2 

 
Significant 

3 

 
Major 

4 

 
Catastrophic* 

5 

IMPACT 
 

Table 3.7.5a Risk Matrix (for defect response categorisation) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Table 3.7.5b Risk Factor Scoring (mechanism within Risk Matrix) 
 

 

Score of 1 to 8 
 
 

Cat 1 Low 
 

Score of 9 to 12 Cat 1 Med 

Score of 15 to 20 Cat 1 High 

Score of  25 Cat A 
(emergency)* 

Page 48



 

28  

* An emergency response may be requested where the impact of a risk is 
catastrophic. Examples may include missing man hole covers, collapsed 
carriageways, fallen trees, subsidence, and flooding.  
 

 
3.7.6 Works Orders and Response Times 
 
Works can be ordered for completion within a range of timescales. Table 3.7.6a 
below provides the timescales for responding to Cat ‘A’, Cat ‘1H’, Cat ‘1M’ and Cat 
‘1L’ defects along with the corresponding works order/priority codes.   

 

Table 3.7.6a Works Order Priorities and Response Times 

 

Defect 
Category 

Works 
Order/ 
Priority 

Code 

Response Repair type 
 

Comments 
 

Cat ‘A’  
(emergency) 

A 

 
2 hours from time of 
identification or 4 hours 
from receipt of report. 
 

Temporary 

Used to deal with defects 
which form an immediate 
hazard to the highway 
user.  

Cat ‘1H’ 1 
24 hours from time of 
identification  
 

Temporary 

 
Defects which may 
impact on the highway 
user but are not safety 
critical, e.g., potholes, 
missing, misaligned or 
rocking flags/paving 
units. 
 

Cat ‘1M’ 2 
7 days  from the date of 
identification 
 

Temporary 
or  

Permanent 

These defects are not 
required to be urgently 
rectified and focus more 
on the serviceability 
needs of the highway. 
 

Cat ‘1L’ 0 3 months  Permanent 

Response of a more 
routine nature that 
supports the 
serviceability and 
sustainability of the 
highway network. No 
temporary repair 
necessary 
 

 X 48 hours Temporary 
 See 3.7.7 ‘Priority ‘X’ and 
‘5’ Works Orders  
 

 4 6 months Permanent 
Used for planned 
maintenance 
 

 5 10 days Permanent 
 See 3.7.7 ‘Priority ‘X’ and 
‘5’ Works Orders  
 

Page 49



 

29  

3.7.7 Priority ‘X’ and ‘5’ Works Orders 
 
Alternative methods of repair have had to be sought to reduce the number of 
reactive repairs, provide a permanent repair and improve customer perception. 
The Works Order / Priority Codes ‘X’ and ‘5’ are an attempt to do all three with the 
added function of providing pre-patching for surface treatments. Where defects 
that are risk assessed as a Cat ‘A’, or as a Cat ‘1H’, then the repair of the defect 
will be actioned accordingly. 
  
Defects other than a Cat ‘A’ or a Cat ‘1H’ may be considered as a Work Order / 
Priority Code ‘X’. 
  
It is recognised that on any highway network, a multitude of minor defects will exist 
which do not pose any risk to either the safety or the integrity of the highway and 
for which it may be impractical and inefficient to expend limited financial resources 
to undertake repairs.  
 
Any defects which do not meet the Minimum Investigatory Levels may be recorded 
should the Highway Inspector deem this appropriate, for example, where a cluster 
of such defects may form a potential preventative maintenance scheme in the 
future. Where such defects are recorded, they will be considered as a Works 
Order/ Priority Code ‘0’ or ‘4’. 
 
 
3.8 Training 
 
3.8.1 Qualifications and Guidance 
 
CoPWMHI provides advice regarding Highway Inspector training. The successful 
completion of a certification scheme provided by a training centre approved by the 
UK Roads Board enables Highway Inspectors to be included on the National 
Register of Highway Inspectors for a period of five years. 
 
Registration with the Highway Inspectors Board can contribute positively to risk 
management and defence of compensation or liability cases. 
 
Those involved in managing, developing and implementing the risk based 
approach for safety inspections will be competent. Highway Inspectors will be 
provided with clear guidance and training regarding the establishment of the risk 
based approach and practical implementation. A programme of Continuing 
Professional Development and training for all staff and others involved in 
developing and implementing the risk based approach will be provided.  
 
Where appropriate, following inspection audits, performance reviews and an annual 
review of this document, refresher training will be provided. 
 
All Highway Inspectors are expected to become qualified to the recommended 
standards as specified in WMHI. This qualification shall where possible be 
undertaken within 12 months of appointment. 
 

Page 50



 

30  

Prior to qualification, newly appointed Highway Inspectors or Trainee Highway 
Inspectors shall work under the guidance of such qualified Highway Inspectors as 
necessary, in order to gain up to date knowledge and on the job experience. 
 
3.8.2 Audits 
 
To maintain the quality of the service and improve consistency in the application of 
the Risk based approach, regular internal inspection audits based on the contents 
of this document will be undertaken by the Council’s Highway Inspection and 
Enforcement Manager. Following an audit repeat SHIs shall be undertaken if 
considered necessary. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 51



 

31  

4. HIGHWAY ASSESSMENT 
 

Highway assessment is driven by the principals and policy of the Highway Asset 
Management Plan 2015-2021. 
 

All forms of highway assessment whether visual inspection or mechanical forms of 
survey are programmed by the Highway Asset Management Team in Network 
Management Group. Visual inspections are undertaken by trained Highway 
Assessment Technicians within the Group and mechanical surveys are procured 
on a regional basis. 
 
 
4.1 UKPMS Inspections 
 

4.1.1 UKPMS Defined 
 
UKPMS, the United Kingdom Pavement Management System, is a standard for 
computer systems that support the management of programmed maintenance of 
hard paved surfaces within the highway, and the monitoring of condition and of the 
need for funding, on local authority road networks. 
 

As well as software the UKPMS standard also covers the associated survey 
techniques, and rules and parameters that allow the systems to be operated in a 
consistent standard way. 
 

4.1.2 UKPMS Visual Inspections 
 
The Coarse Visual Inspection (CVI) is intended to be a coarse, rapid survey, 
usually carried out from a slow moving vehicle, that allows a large part of the 
network to be assessed each year. However, in Rotherham these are carried out 
on foot as cyclic surveys enabling both carriageway and footway conditions to be 
assessed at a single visit. 
 

In addition to production of Performance Indicators, UKPMS processed visual 
survey data forms a key input into the preparation of the Council’s annual 
maintenance programmes. 
 

Detailed guidance on undertaking surveys is contained within the UKPMS Visual 
Survey Manual published by Chris Britton Consultancy on behalf of the UKPMS 
Owners Forum. 
 

4.1.3 Purpose of UKPMS Visual Inspections 

 
In many authorities UKPMS Visual Inspections were initially carried out for a single 
purpose, to produce performance indicators required by the government. In order 
to make the maximum use of these surveys Rotherham uses this: 

 

 To support and audit decisions about how, when and where to carry out 
maintenance schemes; 

 To target areas for other programmed maintenance; 

Page 52



 

32  

 To determine a required level of budget and investment over time to 
maintain or achieve a required level of service or network condition (needs 
budgeting); 

 To assess the future implications of current / proposed levels of funding, to 
support the development of Asset Management Planning for our Highways; 

 To assist in the calculation of the highway asset valuation for Whole 
Government Accounting. 

 

4.1.4 Training 
 
UKPMS surveys are designed to be carried out by staff trained in the relevant 
survey techniques, and who are able to record defects accurately and consistently, 
in accordance with the definitions and procedures defined in the manual. UKPMS 
inspections are not expected to indicate the cause of defects, indicate the 
preferred treatment or record engineering judgement. Objectivity and consistency 
are paramount. UKPMS Inspectors should be accredited to the current nationally 
accepted standard for such surveys. 
 
 
4.2 Coarse Visual Inspections 
 
Up until 2004, Best Value Performance Indicators (BVPIs) for all elements of the 
road network required the use of Coarse Visual Inspection (CVI) data gathered 
during the previous two or four years. 
 
Since 2004/2005, the Best Value Performance Indicator (BVPI) for principal roads 
required data to be collected using machine type surveys.  This survey type was 
subsequently changed to a SCANNER (Surface Condition Assessment of the 
National Network of Roads) type survey from 2005/2006 onwards with a 
requirement to survey 100% of the network within a two year period.  From 
2005/2006 the BVPI for non-principal classified roads was also required to be 
measured using SCANNER surveys. From 2008/2009 the Performance Indicator 
for unclassified roads was removed from the national indicator set.  Despite this, 
Rotherham continues to produce a local indicator using in-house walked CVI 
(Coarse Visual Inspection) survey data for benchmarking purposes. 
 

Since 2011/2012 the NI168 (Principal Roads) and NI169 (Non-principal Classified 
Roads) have no longer been required to be published.  However, condition data for 
these classes of roads are still required as part of the Government’s single data 
set which is provided by local authorities. 
 

CVI surveys will therefore continue to be undertaken on all classes of roads in 
Rotherham in order to: 
 

 Evaluate long term trends in network condition; 

 Produce the local PI for unclassified roads (65% of Rotherham’s highway 

network); 

 Measure footway condition data; 

 Provide data for scheme prioritisation. 
 
In addition to mechanical surveys being undertaken on classified roads, walked 
CVI condition surveys are also carried out on these roads on a four year cycle 

Page 53



 

33  

(which is the same frequency as unclassified roads and footways).   
 
CVI surveys are used to collect data for both carriageway and footways. CVI data 
is used to report a local PI for all footways and it is also used to pioritise the 
footway maintenance scheme programme. 

 

CVI surveys are also undertaken on council maintained car parks in conjunction 
with the survey for the adjacent street. 

 
Audits on CVI surveys are carried out in-house on a small sample of road sections 
each month and they are recorded within the highway asset management system. 
 
 
4.3 Machine Based Condition Surveys 
 

As these surveys are based on vehicle mounted data collection devices they are 
solely targeted towards the assessment of carriageway conditions. The principle of 
machine based data collection is to make surveys objective and repeatable. We 
employ two types of machine surveys; SCANNER, and SCRIM (Sideways Force 
Coefficient Routine Investigation Machine). 
 

Skid resistance is influenced by surface texture, and texture depth is an output 
from SCRIM surveys. Skid testing results shall be correlated with output from 
SCANNER to identify priority sites where low/ marginal skid resistance coincides 
with low texture depth. 
 

4.3.1 SCANNER Surveys 

SCANNER surveys are carried out on a rolling programme of Rotherham’s 
classified roads (A, B and C roads) on a two year cycle.  This programme of sites 
is held on Rotherham’s Pavement Management System and roads are tested in 
both directions unless the road layout dictates otherwise. The surveys are carried 
out at traffic speed by accredited machines and data is collected on transverse 
and longitudinal profiles, texture and cracking. These surveys were required to be 
undertaken on all classified roads from 2005/06 in order to produce national 
performance indicators. These indicators are also used locally to monitor 
performance, works identification and also to support highway asset valuation. 
 

The surveys identify lengths of road where the surface condition is deteriorating. 
The survey will not identify structural deterioration until it is evidenced through 
wheel- track cracking and rutting. 
 

SCANNER reports the condition of 10 metre section lengths of carriageway using 
the RED / AMBER / GREEN traffic signal warning system. The RED lengths of 
road contribute to the national indicator. This data can be displayed in a graphical 
format along road centre lines to allow for prospective scheme lengths of 
carriageway to be identified for further investigation. The survey data can be used 
to identify lengths of the network that require treatment. 
 
SCANNER data results are received in HMDIF format.  Rotherham’s computerised 
United Kingdom’s Pavement Management System (UKPMS) is used to process 
and store this data. SCANNER survey data is calculated in the Pavement 

Page 54



 

34  

Management System in 10m lengths and provides individual readings for each 
direction of travel along the carriageway. 
 
 

To consider and analyse the current skid resistance of Rotherham’s principal road 
network, non-principal road network and selected unclassified roads through the 
utilisation of ‘continuous friction measuring equipment’, and when combined with 
other relevant attributes, identify sections of road that may be considered for  
planned maintenance. 
 

4.3.2 Method of Survey 
 

Routine monitoring of skid resistance is carried out on a rolling programme of the 
defined network on a three year cycle using a Sideways Force Coefficient Routine 
Investigation Machine (SCRIM). This machine is a surface friction tester which 
accurately measures skidding resistance under constant load and at a constant 
speed on a wet road. It makes continuous measurements following a single line, 
typically along the inside wheel path and it provides survey data at ten metre 
intervals.  On multi-lane roads, measurements are taken in lane one. 
 

A defined programme of sites is held on Rotherham’s Pavement Management 
System and roads are tested in both directions unless the road layout dictates 
otherwise. 
 

Rotherham has adopted the Characteristic SCRIM Coefficient (CSC) approach to 
SCRIM surveys. This means that surveys are rotated in an early, mid and  late 
season sequence. Three years of survey results are used to give a more stable set  
of data than the alternative Mean Summer SCRIM Coefficient (MSSC) method. 
The MSSC approach tests control sites three times a year and takes into account 
only ‘in year’ variations. 
 
SCRIM results are received in HMDIF format. Rotherham’s computerised United 
Kingdom’s Pavement Management System (UKPMS) is used to process and store 
this data. SCRIM survey data is calculated in the Pavement Management System 
in 10m lengths and provides individual readings for each direction of travel along 
the carriageway. 
 
 
4.4 Public Rights of Way Assessments 
 

Modified CVI condition surveys are carried out on PROW’s to collect surface 
condition data as part of the BVPI 178 assessment survey. These assessments 
are undertaken by the Assessment Technicians within Network Management 
Group. 
 

A general assessment of public rights of way is undertaken at intervals of 30 
months. This allows for the season of inspection to change between each 
assessment so that any seasonal problems are progressively identified. 
 

As well as the identification of maintenance issues the inspections allow for the 
calculation of the Rights of Way Performance Indicators. To enable this 
assessments are undertaken using a standard survey format produced by the 
Countryside Agency and ADEPT. 

Page 55



 

35  

 
The surfaces of ROW vary a great deal in their nature and materials. As a general 
rule the surface will be maintained in a manner appropriate to its construction 
using materials as closely matching as possible those used in its construction or in 
former maintenance. 
 

Paths surfaced with unbound materials and earth paths will require the exercise of 
discretion on the part of the inspector in in evaluating the risks whether the surface 
is potentially hazardous or in need of repair. Surfaced paths, particularly in an 
urban setting, should be maintained as if they were adopted. 
 

The Council are under a duty to sign all PROW where they leave a metaled road. 
Waymarks or additional signs may be erected anywhere along the route where 
they would be of assistance to users who are unfamiliar with the area. 
 
Any requirements for surface repair, repair or replacement of furniture, 
replacement or additional signage shall be reported to members of the Rights of 
Way team. 
 

Other issues/risk factors to be noted and reported include: 
 

 Obstruction - Where a path is found to be obstructed by vegetation growing 
from an adjacent property; 

 

 Ploughing / Cropping - The occupier of the land may plough the surface of a 
cross field path to cultivate the land. However they must make good the 
surface so that it is reasonably convenient for use within 14 days; 

 

 Other Cases of Nuisance - such as; dangerous animals, materials 
deposited on the path, misleading notices, barbed wire adjacent to the path 
likely to injure users, or frequent misuse of the path by traffic not permitted 
to use it. 

 

PROW also has a Rights of Way Improvement Plan (ROWIP), which includes an 
action plan.  The ROWIP is reviewed each year. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 56



 

36  

5. SKIDDING RESISTANCE  

5.1 Skidding Resistance Policy Statement  

Rotherham Council is responsible for the maintenance of the roads in their 
respective areas. This is a statutory duty under Section 41 of the Highways Act 
1980 ‘to maintain highways that are maintainable at public expense’. 
 
Skid resistance is an important property relating to the safety of highway users, 
particularly in damp or wet conditions. Over the course of the life of a road the 
surface can lose some of its characteristics associated with skid resistance. 
 
Effective maintenance of the highway network includes the requirement to monitor 
the skid resistance of the road surface and to take an approach to ensure that the 
skid resistance across the network is maintained to an appropriate standard. 
Guidance on this may be found within the document ‘Well-managed Highway 
Infrastructure: A Code of Practice’. 
 
In 2015 Highways England published an updated comprehensive methodology for 
managing carriageway skid resistance on the UK Strategic Network and this is set 
out in their document HD 28/15. 
 
Whilst HD 28/15 is not intended for the management of skid resistance on local 
roads, similar principles may be applicable and the document will form a basis for 
the Council’s Skid Resistance Procedure document for its entire classified network 
and the unclassified network which forms part of the Authority’s salting routes. 
 
The Skidding Resistance Policy in Appendix 2 of this document should be read in 
conjunction with the Skid Resistance Procedure in Appendix 3. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 57



 

37  

APPENDIX 1 – SAFETY HIGHWAY INSPECTION  POLICY 
 
 
Document History 

Date Description Name 

Dec 
2017 

Initial Draft Andrew Rowley / Inspection and Enforcement 
Manager / Highway Network Management  

   

   

   

   

   

   

 
 
Index 

 
 
Definitions 
 
The term “Safety Highway Inspection” used in this document refers to a regime of 
inspection for the prioritisation of defect repairs and is a crucial component of 
highway maintenance. It provides a robust framework to address key objectives for 
the maintenance of the highway in a safe and serviceable manner, as required by 
Section 41 of the Highways Act 1980, and consistent with the Council’s HAMP. 
 
All Safety Highway Inspections are undertaken by area based Highway Inspectors 
within the Council’s Community Safety and Street Scene Service. Inspections 
following customer reports, Street Works inspections, enforcement activities and 
actions to identify programmed maintenance activities are undertaken separately. 
 

 

1. Introduction 

1.1 Rotherham Council is responsible for the maintenance of the roads 
within the Rotherham Borough boundary. This is a statutory duty under 
Section 41 of the Highways Act 1980 ‘to maintain highways that are 
maintainable at public expense’. 

 
1.2 Safety Highway Inspections are important in aiming to secure the safety 

of highway users and the duty is further expanded in the CoPWMHI 
document which recommends that ‘a risk-based inspection regime, 

Section 
No 

Section Title  Page 

   

1 Introduction 36 

2 Objectives 37 

3 Approach 38 

4 Legal Duties and Responsibilities 38 

5 References 39 

Page 58



 

38  

including regular safety inspections, should be developed and 
implemented for all highway assets’. 

 
1.3 Authorities are strongly advised to undertake safety inspections in 

accordance with the guidance of CoPWMHI in order that, when 
necessary, they are able to support a defence under Section 58 of the 
Highways Act 1980 and equivalent legislation. This requires that a court 
shall have regard to “whether the highway authority knew or could 
reasonably be expected to know that the condition of the part of the 
highway to which the action related was likely to cause danger to users 
of the highway”. 

 
1.4 It is against the above guidance and legislative backdrop that 

Rotherham Councils’ Safety Highway Inspection Policy is hereby 
determined and applied by working with the guidance of CoPWMHI.  

 
1.5  Rotherham Councils’ Safety Highway Inspections are visual inspections 

undertaken in accordance with the appropriate risk assessments. They 
are designed to provide complete, accurate and timely information, as 
far as is reasonably practicable, on the safety maintenance needs of the 
highway network and its ancillary assets based on site observations and 
measurements. These are applied through a process of risk evaluation 
reflective of the characteristics of the defect, the local environment and 
network usage (Risk Based Approach). 

 
1.6  This Policy supports Rotherham Councils’ HAMP. 
 

 

2. Objectives 
 
The objective of this Safety Highway Inspection Policy is to:  
 

 
2.1 Ensure that the highway is maintained, thereby safeguarding users of 

the highway.  
 
2.2 Contribute to a reduction in the number of highway accidents and 

accident claims. 
 
2.3 Align with the guidance document CoPWMHI. 
 
2.4 Enable Rotherham Council to robustly defend against highway claims 

and corporate manslaughter charges. 
 
2.5 Ensure that the procedures within the ‘Highway Inspection and 

Assessment Code of Practice’ (CoPHIA) enable a risk based approach 
to the management of highway defects. 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 59



 

39  

3. Approach 
 
To achieve the above objectives Rotherham Council has produced and will review 
the CoPHIA document which supplements this ‘Safety Highway Inspection Policy’.  
 

 

This will include:- 
 

3.1 That Rotherham Council’s ‘Community Safety and Street Scene Service’ 
section ‘Highways Network Management’ is responsible for the policy. 

 
3.2 Details of a safety inspection regime and Network Hierarchy. 
 
3.3 Characteristics of the safety highway inspection regime, including 

frequency of inspection, the methodology, items to be recorded and 
nature of response. 

 
3.4 Processes for receiving and responding to customer complaints, reports 

and requests for maintenance from members of the public and other 
stakeholders. 

 
3.5 Establishing ‘Minimum Investigatory Levels’ applicable to highway 

defects. 
 
3.6 A risk based approach for categorising highway defects and response 

times for removal/repair of defects. 
 
3.7 Training and development of officers to fulfil their allotted duties 

competently and assist in the defence of compensation or liability cases. 
 
3.8  Inspection audits to ensure compliance with CoPHIA to drive the 

provision of service excellence.  
 

 

4. Legal Duties and responsibilities. 

 

4.1 Highway Authorities have a statutory duty under Section 41 of the 
Highways Act 1980 “to maintain highways that are maintainable at public 
expense” 
 
4.2 Section 58 Defence  
 
4.2.1 Section 58 of the Highways Act 1980 provides the ability to form a 
statutory defence to counter legal actions for negligence. Any Authority must be 
able to prove in a court of law that it has taken ‘such care as is in all the 
circumstances reasonably required to secure that part of the highway to which 
the action relates was not dangerous for traffic.’ 
 
4.2.2 Section 58 of The Highways Act 1980 does not stipulate the standard of 
maintenance applicable to the highway. It is accepted by the Courts that 
different standards of maintenance are applicable to different parts of the 

Page 60



 

40  

highway network; this may relate to vehicle and pedestrian usage as well as 
the speed of the vehicles using the highway. 
 
4.3. When considering a third party legal action against Rotherham Council, the 
Court will consider such factors as:  
 
4.3.1 The character of the highway and the traffic which was reasonably to be 
expected to use it  
 
4.3.2 The standard of maintenance appropriate for a highway of that character 
and used by such traffic  
 
4.3.3 The state of repair in which a reasonable person would have expected to 
find the highway  
 
4.3.4 Whether the Authority knew, or could reasonably have been expected to 
know, that the condition of the part of the highway to which the action relates 
was likely to cause danger to users of the highway  
 
4.3.5 Whether the Authority could reasonably have been expected to repair 
that part of the highway before the cause of action arose.  
 
4.4 The development of this Safety Highway Inspection Policy is to ensure a 
suitably structured CoPHIA is implemented and to ensure that highway users 
are safeguarded through a risk based approach in the management of highway 
defects.  
  
4.5 Importantly, this policy will provide documentary evidence of Rotherham 
Council’s proactive approach to the management of highway defects. 

 
 
5. References 

 
5.1 Highways Act 1980 
 
5.2 Well-Managed Highway Infrastructure: A Code of Practice (CoPWMHI) 
 
5.3 Highway Asset Management Plan (HAMP) 
 
5.4 Highway Inspection and Assessment Code of Practice (CoPHIA) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 61



 

41  

 
APPENDIX 2 – SKIDDING RESISTANCE POLICY 
 
 
Document History  

 

Date Description Name 

19/5/17 
 

Initial Draft P Turland (DMBC) 

1/6/17 
 

DRAFT 2 P Turland 

12/2/17 
 

Draft 3 P Turland 

15/6/17 Draft 4 following discussions 
with RMBC and BMBC 

P Turland 

18/9/17 
 

Minor edit in blue. P Turland 

26/10/17 Draft 5 amendments on 
behalf of RMBC following 
discussions with RJ 

N Ayrton 

   

 
Index 

 

 
Definitions 
 
The Highway Authorities of South Yorkshire shall mean Doncaster MBC, 
Rotherham MBC and Barnsley MBC (Sheffield City Council are not included as 
they have a PFI in place). 
 
The term “skid resistance” used in this document refers to the frictional properties 
of a road surface, measured using a specified device, under standardised 
conditions.  Skid resistance testing is carried out on wet or damp surfaces, unless 
stated otherwise, as the skid resistance of a surface will be substantially lower 
than when that same surface is dry. 
 
Skid resistance measurements are used as an empirical assessment of a road 
surface’s level of grip and as an indication of the potential need for further 
investigation based on known acceptable limits. However, it should be noted, it 
does not represent the definitive grip available to a road user making a particular 
manoeuvre at a particular time and at a particular speed. 

Section 
No 

Section Title  Page 

   

1 Introduction 41 

2 Objectives 41 

3 Individual Authority approach 42 

4 Legal Duties and Responsibilities 42 

5 References 43 

   

Page 62



 

42  

 
 

1. Introduction 

 
1.1 The Highway Authorities of South Yorkshire are responsible for the 

maintenance of the roads in their respective areas. This is a statutory 
duty under Section 41 of the Highways Act 1980 ‘to maintain highways 
that are maintainable at public expense’. 

1.2 Skid resistance is an important property relating to the safety of highway 
users, particularly in damp or wet conditions. Over the course of the life 
of a road the surface can lose some of its characteristics associated with 
skid resistance. 

1.3 Effective maintenance of the highway network includes the requirement 
to monitor the skid resistance of the road surface and to take an 
approach to ensure that the skid resistance across the network is 
maintained to an appropriate standard. Guidance on this may be found 
within the document ‘Well-managed Highway Infrastructure: A Code of 
Practice’. 

1.4 In 2015 Highways England published an updated comprehensive 
methodology for managing carriageway skid resistance on the UK 
Strategic Network and this is set out in their document HD 28/15. 

1.5 Whilst HD 28/15 is not intended for the management of skid resistance 
on local roads, similar principles may be applicable and the document 
will form a basis for RMBC’s Skid Resistance Procedure document for 
its entire classified network and the unclassified network which forms 
part of the Authority’s salting routes. 

1.6 This policy document should be read in conjunction with Rotherham 
Council’s ‘Skid Resistance Procedure’. 

 
 

2. Objectives 
 
The objective of this Skid Resistance Policy is to:  
 

 
2.1      Enable the public to travel safely and easily 
2.2 Align with the guidance document ‘Well-managed Highway 

Infrastructure : A Code of Practice’ 
2.3 Help reduce the number of Killed or Serious Injury accidents on the 

South Yorkshire Authorities road network  
2.4 Ensure the procedures in the individual Authorities Skidding Resistance 

Procedure document will set out a long-term strategy to manage the 
skid resistance across the Authorities highway network to an appropriate 
level. 

2.5 Ensure the Highway Authorities of South Yorkshire adhere to the duty 
under the Highways Act 1980  

2.6 Enable the Highway Authorities of South Yorkshire to robustly defend 
against claims and Corporate manslaughter charges. 

 

 

 

Page 63



 

43  

 

3. Individual Authority Approach 
 
To achieve the above objectives each Authority will produce a supplementary 
document ‘Skid Resistance Policy’ and Skid Resistance Procedure Document.  
 

This will include:- 
 

3.1 The Rotherham MBC sections ‘Transportation and Highways Design’ 
and ‘Highways Network Management’ are responsible for the policy. 

3.2 Identification of the Highway Network to which this policy will apply - “the 
defined network” 

3.3 Processes for monitoring skid resistance across the Authorities road 
network on an ongoing basis  

3.4 Definition of Investigatory Levels to be assigned to the defined network - 
this will depend on a range of factors including the speed limit and 
geometry of the road. 

3.5 Procedures for identifying skid deficient sites and sites for further 
investigation including the use of collision data to determine whether 
inadequate skidding resistance could be a factor. 

3.6 Setting out a process for determining any subsequent treatment 

3.7 Recommending appropriate actions to negate risks 

3.8 Identifying how sites will be prioritised 

3.9 Prioritising Skid deficient sites for any treatment or improvement works 

3.10 Incorporating prioritised sites into annual highway maintenance works 
programmes taking account of budget and programme considerations. 

 

4. Legal Duties and responsibilities. 

 
 
4.1 Highway Authorities have a statutory duty under Section 41 of the 
Highways Act 1980 “to maintain highways that are maintainable at public 
expense” 
 
4.2 Although the formal management of highway skid resistance is not a legal 
requirement it is considered good practice as guided by the document ‘Well-
managed Highway Infrastructure: A Code of practice’, and it supports the aims 
and objectives as set out in the Highway Authorities of South Yorkshire 
Overarching Highway Asset Management Plan(s) and Safer Roads Strategy as 
well as Rotherham MBC’s Highway Asset Management Plan (HAMP). 
 
4.3 Section 58 Defence –  
4.3.1 Section 58 of the Highways Act 1980 provides the ability to form a 
statutory defence to counter legal actions for negligence. Any Authority must be 
able to prove in a court of law that it has taken ‘such care as is in all the 
circumstances reasonably required to secure that part of the highway to which 
the action relates was not dangerous for traffic.’ 
4.3.2 Section 58 of The Highways Act 1980 does not stipulate the standard of 
maintenance applicable to the highway. It is accepted by the Courts that 
different standards of maintenance are applicable to different parts of the 

Page 64



 

44  

highway network; this may relate to vehicle and pedestrian usage as well as 
the speed of the vehicles using the highway. 
 
4.4. When considering a third party legal action against any of the Highway 
Authorities of South Yorkshire the Court will consider such factors as:  
4.4.1 The character of the highway and the traffic which was reasonably to be 
expected to use it  
4.4.2 The standard of maintenance appropriate for a highway of that character 
and used by such traffic  
4.4.3 The state of repair in which a reasonable person would have expected to 
find the highway  
4.4.4 Whether the Authority knew, or could reasonably have been expected to 
know, that the condition of the part of the highway to which the action relates 
was likely to cause danger to users of the highway  
4.4.5 Whether the Authority could reasonably have been expected to repair 
that part of the highway before the cause of action arose.  
 
4.5 The development of this skid resistance policy is to ensure a suitably 
structured procedure and strategy is implemented by each authority for the 
highway under its care and appropriate levels of skid resistance are 
maintained. 
 
4.6 Importantly, this policy will provide documentary evidence of the Highway 
Authorities of South Yorkshire proactive approach to skid resistance 
management. 

 
 
5. References 

 
5.1 Highway Act 1980 
 
5.2 Well-managed Highway Infrastructure: A Code of practice 
 
5.3 HD28/15 Skidding Resistance 
 
5.4 South Yorkshire Safer Roads Strategy 
 
5.5 Rotherham MBC – Highway Asset Management Plan (HAMP) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 65



 

45  

 
APPENDIX 3 – SKIDDING RESISTANCE PROCEDURE DOCUMENT 
 
 

Contents 
 

             
Executive Summary         45 
 
The Policy 

Rotherham’s Skid Resistance Policy      46 
Method of Survey         46 
 

The Strategy 
Introduction          47 

 The Defined Network        47 
Exemptions to the Defined Network      47 

 
The Procedure 

Principles of the Procedure       48 
Skid Resistance Testing        48 
Investigatory Levels          49 
Early Life Skid Resistance of Road Surfacing     49 

 
Roles and Responsibilities 
 The Network Management Team       49 

The Transportation and Highway Design Team     50 
 
Appendix 3(A) - The Action Plan       51 
 
Appendix 3(B) - Site Categories and Investigatory Levels   

Design Manual for Roads and Bridges Table 4.1    52 
 
Appendix 3(C) - Prioritisation of Treatment 

The Use of Slippery Road Warning Signs     54 
 
Detailed Investigation 
 Site Investigation         54 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 66



 

46  

 
 
Document History  

 

Date Description Name 

31/03/14 
 

Draft 1 (old policy document) S Finley/ N Ayrton 

16/11/17 
 

Draft 2 R Jackson/ N Ayrton 

 
 

  

 
Executive Summary 
 
Rotherham MBC is responsible for the maintenance of over 1,160km (725 miles) 
of roads.  These are split into different types of road classification as shown below: 

 

 Principal roads (A class) are the main strategic routes that carry large 
volumes of traffic around through the Borough. 

 Non-principal roads (B and C class) are main roads of local strategic 
importance.  They are through routes that link together the principal roads. 

 Unclassified roads are minor routes carrying local traffic only.  They tend to 
be mainly residential estate roads and rural roads. 

 
The Council’s Highway Asset Management Policy outlines the policies and 
procedures for highway and infrastructure maintenance, ensuring that assets are 
maintained in a strategic way.  It contains a wide range of plans and strategies for 
the effective maintenance of the highway network including the requirement to 
monitor the skid resistance of roads so that the skid resistance across the network 
can be maintained to a safe and appropriate standard.  These documents are 
continuously revised to ensure the information within remains current. 
 
Skid resistance is an important property of the road surface relating to the safety of 
highway users, particularly in damp or wet conditions.  Over the course of a road’s 
life the surface can lose some of its characteristics associated with skid resistance. 

 

 Formalise processes for monitoring skid resistance across the Council’s 
road network on an ongoing basis. 

 Identify sites where skid resistance may be a potential safety issue. 

 Prioritise skid resistance deficient sites for improvement works. 
 

Page 67



 

47  

The Policy 
 
Rotherham’s Skid Resistance Policy 
 
To consider and analyse the current skid resistance of Rotherham’s principal road 
network, non-principal road network and selected unclassified roads through the 
utilisation of ‘continuous friction measuring equipment’, and when combined with 
other relevant attributes, identify sections of road that may be considered for 
inclusion on a maintenance programme.  
 
Method of Survey 
 
Routine monitoring of skid resistance is carried out on a rolling programme of the 
defined network on a three year cycle using a Sideways Force Coefficient Routine 
Investigation Machine (SCRIM).  This machine is a surface friction tester which 
accurately measures skidding resistance under constant load and at a constant 
speed on a wet road.  It makes continuous measurements following a single line, 
typically along the inside wheel path and it provides survey data at ten metre 
intervals.  On multi-lane roads, measurements are taken in lane one.   
 
A defined programme of sites is held on Rotherham’s Pavement Management 
System and roads are tested in both directions unless the road layout dictates 
otherwise. 
 
Rotherham has adopted the Characteristic SCRIM Coefficient (CSC) approach to 
SCRIM surveys.  This means that surveys are rotated in an early, mid and late 
season sequence.  Three years of survey results are used to give a more stable 
set of data than the alternative Mean Summer SCRIM Coefficient (MSSC) method.  
The MSSC approach tests control sites three times a year and takes into account 
only ‘in year’ variations.  
 
SCRIM results are received in HMDif format.  Rotherham’s computerised United 
Kingdom’s Pavement Management System (UKPMS) is used to process and store 
this data.  SCRIM survey data is calculated in the Pavement Management System 
in 10m lengths and provides individual readings for each direction of travel along 
the carriageway.   
 
Site specific testing may be undertaken as a separate exercise using the ‘Grip 
Tester’ method in instances where a sideways coefficient routine investigation 
machine cannot be used.  The results from ‘Grip Tester’ surveys will be converted 
to equivalent CSC values using correlations developed by the County Surveyors’ 
Society Grip Tester User Group. 
 
The network which will be subject to skid resistance testing is subject to revision if 
there are changes or amendments to the network.  Testing will be carried out 
within the early, mid or late parts of the testing season over a three year period. 
 

Page 68



 

48  

The Strategy 
 
 
Introduction 
Rotherham MBC, as Highway Authority, has a duty under the Highways Act 1980 
to maintain the highway in a condition that is safe and fit for purpose.  Adequate 
levels of skidding resistance on road surfaces is an important aspect of highway 
maintenance, and one that contributes to road safety.  
 
The purpose of this document is to outline Rotherham MBC’s approach to 
maintaining the appropriate levels of skid resistance on the adopted road network. 
 
It provides a step by step approach to identifying and managing skid resistance 
deficient sites and sets out a process for determining options and 
recommendations and how these will be prioritised taking into account budget and 
programme considerations. 
 
The procedures in this document set out a long term strategy to manage the skid 
resistance of the Borough’s network to a consistent and safe level. 
 
The document is structured around the Highways England Technical Standard 
HD28/15 – Skidding Resistance published in the Design Manual for Roads and 
Bridges (DMRB) Volume 7: Section 3. 
 
The term ‘skid resistance’ used in this policy refers to the frictional properties of a 
road surface in wet conditions, measured using a specified device, under 
standardised conditions.  The skid resistance of a wet or damp road surface can 
be substantially lower than the same surface when dry, and is more dependent on 
the condition of the surfacing material. 
 
Skid resistance measurements are used as an assessment of a road’s level of skid 
resistance and as an indication of the potential need for further investigation.  
However, it should be noted it does not represent the definitive skid resistance 
available to a road user making a particular manoeuvre at a particular time and at 
a particular speed. 
 
 
The Defined Network 
 
For the purpose of this strategy, the defined network comprises all principal roads 
(A roads), all non-principal roads (B and C roads) and the network of unclassified 
roads which are treated on a precautionary salt as part of Rotherham’s Winter 
Service. 
 
 
Exemptions to the Defined Network 
 
Routine testing will not be carried out on the following sections of Rotherham’s 
road network unless specifically requested to do so: 
 

 Any road that is not on the ‘defined network’ 

 Temporary road surfaces 

 Roundabouts  

Page 69



 

49  

 Unclassified roads that do not form part of the precautionary salting network 

 Footways 

 Coloured surfaces i.e. cycle lanes 

 Worn manhole covers 
 

Testing on these sections of the highway would only be undertaken if an 
assessment of the current data, a site visit and consultation with a materials 
consultant indicate that it is warranted. 

 
 
The Procedure 
 
 
Principles of the Procedure 
 
Rotherham MBC will use the methodology in HD 28/15 as a template for its own 
Skid Resistance Policy; however this will be adapted to reflect local needs and 
resource constraints. 
 
The broad principles of HD 28/15 and also the Council’s policy are as follows: 

 

 Skid resistance surveys will be undertaken annually on defined parts of the 
road network; 

 The ‘defined network’ will be assigned ‘site categories’ and ‘investigatory 
levels’ in accordance with the table in Chapter 4: Volume 7: Section 3 of  
HD 28/15; 

 Reviewing of the investigatory levels will be carried out in accordance with 
Chapter 4 and Annex 5 of HD 28/15 and will take place within three years 
which is consistent with the survey frequency; 

 Skid resisting data for each part of the defined network will be analysed and 
compared against the investigatory level; 

 Sites where skid resistance is at, or falls below the investigatory level will be 
considered for further investigation in accordance with Chapter 5 of HD 
28/15.  This further investigation will take into account other factors such as 
road traffic accident history; 

 Detailed investigations shall be carried out in accordance with Chapter 6 of 
HD 28/15 where identified by Annex 7 of HD 28/15.  A site investigation 
report will be completed for all sites which require a detailed investigation; 

 Where treatment is deemed to be required, maintenance sites will be 
prioritised using a risk assessment approach and included into a work 
programme for action; 

 The above principles will be applied on an ongoing basis so that skid 
resistance across the highway network is continually monitored and 
managed appropriately. 

 
 

Skid Resistance Testing 
 
Skid resistance is not a constant.  It is influenced by various factors such as 
test speed, temperature, weather conditions and also longer term effects such 
as seasonal weather variations or change of traffic flows.  Conditions are 
controlled as far as is practicably possible by: 

Page 70



 

50  

 

 Measuring skid resistance in accordance with the defined criteria, within the 
nationally recognised testing periods 

 Specifying a standard testing speed of 50km/h 

 Providing up-to-date network details to the survey contractor  
 
 
Investigatory Levels  
 
Investigatory Levels (IL’s) are an early warning sign and are set solely to trigger 
investigations at the locations identified.  They are NOT an indication of 
inadequate skid resistance.  Where measured values are above the IL’s then the 
skid resistance is regarded as satisfactory when drivers follow the requirements of 
the Highway Code.  Where measured values are below the IL’s then the road 
should be considered to have a more detailed investigation of the skid resistance 
requirements.  IL’s are set in accordance with the Highways Agency’s National 
Guidance HD 28/ 15 (Table 4.1 shown below).  Rotherham’s IL’s are based on this 
document and are listed in Appendix B.  

 
The IL’s and SCRIM survey results will be shared with RMBC’s Transportation and 
Highway Design Team. 
 
 
Early Life Skid Resistance of Road Surfacing 
 
The decision making process leading to the identification and prioritisation of sites 
for treatment is defined in Appendix A. 
 
Newly laid asphalt surfaces can exhibit lower skid resistance than the same 
surface after a period of trafficking, which is caused by the binder film that initially 
coats the aggregate particles.  In practice, a short-term drop of skid resistance 
below the IL is not unusual for sites where the average skid resistance over the 
summer period is above the IL.  On its own, this should not necessitate the use of 
slippery road warning signs.  However, where the skid resistance prior to 
maintenance was substantially above the IL, the new surface could result in a 
significant reduction in skid resistance.  The use of slippery road warning signs is 
detailed in Appendix C.  
 
 
Roles and Responsibilities 
 
This section sets out the various roles and responsibilities for the management of 
the Skid Resistance Policy. 
 
An annual skid resistance survey programme will be procured by Rotherham MBC. 
 
 
The Network Management team will be responsible for the following: 

 

 Management, development, implementation and regular review of 
Rotherham MBC’s Skid Resistance Policy; 

 Identification of the defined network; 

Page 71



 

51  

 Assignment of ‘site categories’ and ‘investigatory levels’; 

 The timely procurement, management and delivery of skid resistance 
surveys through specialist accredited contractors; 

 Developing a prioritised list of maintenance sites that would require works to 
improve the skid resistance and making informed decisions about when 
these are integrated into the annual highway works programme; 

 Informing other Council departments of any issues affecting the site which 
may be additional to skid resistance issues, for example faded road 
markings or defective traffic signs; 

 Reviewing of the ‘site categories’ and ‘investigatory levels’ for the defined 
network; 

 Maintaining the appropriate records of site visits and associated documents. 

 Results of the SCRIM condition surveys will be shared with the 
Transportation and Highway Design team. 

  
 
The Transportation and Highway Design team will: 
 

 Maintain records of personal injury accidents and incidents for interrogation. 

 Process, analyse and review the skid resistance data at locations where 
accidents have been reported; 

 Carry out an analysis of the results of the SCRIM condition surveys; 

 Carry out an analysis of accident hot spots.  ‘Accident hot spots’ are defined 
areas of 1,000sm, where five or more personal injury accidents have been 
reported. 

Page 72



 

52  

Appendix 3(A) – The Action Plan 
 
 
 

 
 

Define/ review local criteria for setting Investigatory Levels  

 
Is the CSC at or 
below the IL? 

Review/ revise 
Investigatory Level 

Have there been 
Network changes or 

is it less than 3 
years since IL 

review? 

Carry out SCRIM 
survey(s) and calculate 

CSC for site 

Other indication of 
increased skidding 

accident risk  

Carry out site investigation in 
prioritised order 

Is treatment 
needed? 

Consider revising 
Investigatory Level 

No further action until 
next CSC 

measurement 

Erect warning signs if 
required 

Identify and cost suitable 
treatment strategy 

No further action 
until next CSC 
measurement 

Prioritise and treat sites, taking account of budget 
and programme considerations 

Remove warning signs No further action until next 
CSC measurement 

Consider adding to 
next year’s 
programme 

Has the site been 
treated? 

N 

Y 

 N 

 Y 

 N 

 Y 

 Y 

Add road condition 
information to future 
safety highway 
inspections 

     N 

Categorise and assign initial Investigatory 
Levels 

Page 73



 

53  

Appendix 3(B) - Site categories and Investigatory Levels  
 
(Table 4.1 From Design Manual for Roads and Bridges, Volume 7; Pavement 
Design and Maintenance; Section 3, Pavement Maintenance Assessment; Part 1 
HD 28/15 Skidding Resistance) 

 

 
 

 IL’s for CSC data employed from the previous skid policy. 

 IL’s to be reassessed on the ‘defined network’ and changes implemented. 
 
Notes applicable to all: 
 
1. The IL should be compared with the mean CSC, calculated for the appropriate 

averaging length. 
 

2. The averaging length is normally 100m or the length of a feature if it is shorter, 
except for roundabouts, where the averaging length is 10m. 

 
3. Residual lengths less than 50% of a complete averaging length may be 

attached to the penultimate full averaging length, providing that the Site 
Category is the same. 

 
4. As part of site investigation, individual values within each averaging length 

should be examined and the significance of any values that are substantially 
lower than the mean value assessed. 

 
Notes applicable to specific site categories 
 
5. IL’s for site categories Q and K are based on the 50m approach to the feature 

and, in the case of approach to junctions, through to the extent of the junction.  
The approach length shall be extended when justified by local site 
characteristics. 

 
6. Categories G1 and G2 should not be applied to uphill gradients on 

carriageways with one-way traffic. 
 

IL for CSC data (Skid data speed corrected to

Site Category and definition 50km/h and seasonally corrected)

0.30 0.35 0.40 0.45 0.50 0.55 0.60 0.65

A Motorway

B Non-event carriageway with one-way traffic

C Non-event carriageway with two-way traffic

Approaches to and across minor and major junctions,

Q approaches to roundabouts and traffic signals (see note

5)

K Approaches to pedestrian crossings and other high risk 

situations (see note 5)

R Roundabout

G1 Gradient 5-10% longer than 50m (see note 6)

G2 Gradient >10% longer than 50m (see note 6)

S1 Bend radius <500m - carriageway with one-way traffic

(see note 7)

S2 Bend radius <500m - carriageway with two-way traffic

(see note 7)

Page 74



 

54  

7. Categories S1 and S2 should be applied only to bends with a speed limit of 50 
mph or above, except if the radius of the bend is <100m, where the S1 and S2 
categories shall be applied at all speeds. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 75



 

55  

Appendix 3(C) - Prioritisation of Treatment 
 
The most appropriate form of treatment will be identified for each site which is 
found to require works to restore an adequate level of skid resistance.  Often this 
will be a surface treatment. 
 
Where works are identified as being necessary following skid resistance 
investigations a system of works prioritisation will be adopted. 
 
Prioritisation uses both technical appraisal and a risk based approach. 
 
In collaboration with RMBC’s Transportation and Highway Design team, once sites 
have been confirmed from the site inspection process a series of factors will be 
applied to reflect the likelihood of vehicles being involved in accidents and 
therefore prioritising roads for treatment based on the score. 
 
The Use of Slippery Road Warning Signs 
 
The use of these warning signs would normally be considered where any of the 
following situations apply and following a site investigation: 

 

 As part of a highways maintenance programme 

 Where anti-skid surfacing is to be applied 

 Where carriageway resurfacing is to be carried out 

 Where any type of surface treatment is to be applied 

 Where it is known that the skid resistance is substantially below the IL 

 Where Rotherham’s Transportation and Highways Design Team’s 
investigations show that there are known accident cluster sites 

 
The signs are in accordance with diagram 557 of the Traffic Signs Manual, chapter 
4 and in conjunction with an appropriate supplementary plate, diagram 570. 
 
Where slippery road warning signs are erected, they shall be maintained until the 
maintenance works are carried out.  They would be removed as soon as they are 
no longer required. 
 
Detailed Investigation 
 
The detailed investigation will be carried out on sites identified through the initial 
investigation process in order to reach a decision about the best course of action.  
The data obtained during the initial investigation shall be transferred through into 
the detailed investigation and recorded on a Site Investigation Report Template. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 76



 

56  

 
Site Investigation 

 
The Site Investigation Report Template will also obtain other data if considered 
relevant.  The level of detail appropriate for the investigation will depend upon the 
nature of the site and the time since a detailed investigation was last carried out.  
As a result of the detailed investigation, a clear recommendation shall be recorded, 
including if no treatment is required. 

 
There are a number of recommendations available to the investigating 
engineer: 
 
1. Other road safety measures 

 
If the detailed investigation identifies any characteristic of the site or road user 
behaviour that suggests other road safety engineering measures could be 
appropriate, then the relevant department will be advised. 

 
2. Additional routine maintenance 

 
If the detailed investigation identifies requirements for additional routine highway 
maintenance, such as sweeping, renewal of markings, then the relevant 
department will be advised. 

 
3. Surface treatment or resurfacing 

 
Treatment to improve the skid resistance shall be recommended if, taking into 
account the nature of the site and the recorded crash history, it is likely to reduce 
the risk of collisions in wet conditions.  Treatment may also be recommended if the 
skid resistance, combined with the nature of the individual site, suggests that the 
recorded collision count underestimates the level of risk. 

 
 
 

Site Reference  

Criteria and Scores Line 
Score 

Number of RTC’s 0 1 2 3+   

 0 3 6 9  

Fatal RTC’s No Yes     

 0 1    

Wet Weather RTC’s No Yes     

 0 1    

Likely Impact Slight Slight/ 
Serious 

Serious Serious/ 
Fatal 

  

 1 2 3 4   

Skid Resistance Difference >0 >0.05 
and 

<=0.05 

>-0.10 
and 

<=0.05 

>-0.15 
and 

<=0.1 

>0.15  

 0 1 2 4 6  

Poor Texture No Yes     

 0 1     

       

Page 77



 

57  

4. Reclassified of Intervention Levels 
 

If the skid resistance and collision pattern at sites at or below the IL have remained 
stable for more than three years, then the IL can be lowered by 0.05 units of CSC 
providing it remains within the range of IL’s for that particular site category. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 78



 

58  

APPENDIX 4 – GLOSSARY OF TERMS 

 

Abbreviation
n 

Description 

 

ADEPT 
Association of Directors of Environment, Economy, Planning and 
Transport 

APSE Association of Public Service Excellence 

ASI Additional Safety Inspection 

BMBC Barnsley Metropolitan Borough Council 

BVPI Best Value Performance Indicator 

CAT Category 

CIRIA Construction Industry Research and Information Association 

CoPHIA Code of Practice Highway Inspection and Assessment 

CoPHMM Code of Practice for Highway Maintenance Management 

CoPWMHI Code of Practice Well-managed Highway Infrastructure 

CSC Characteristic SCRIM Coefficient 

CVI Coarse Visual Inspection 

DMBC Doncaster Metropolitan Borough Council 

DMRB Design Manual for Roads and Bridges  

GPS Global Positioning System 

HAMP Highway Asset Management Plan 

HGV Heavy Goods Vehicle 

HIAMG Highway Infrastructure Asset Management Guidance 

IL Investigatory Level 

ILE Institute of Lighting Engineers 

LA Local Authority 

MBC Metropolitan Borough Council 

m Metre 

mm Millimetre 

mph Miles per hour 

MIL Minimum Investigatory Level 

MDT Mobile Device Technology 

 MSSC Mean Summer SCRIM Coefficient 

NI National Indicator 

PFI Private Finance Initiative 

PI Performance Indicator 

PROW Public Rights of Way 

PU Public Utility 

RBA Risk Based Approach 

 RMBC Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council 

ROW Rights of Way 

ROWIP Rights of Way Improvement Plan 

SCANNER Surface Condition Assessment of the National Network of Roads 

SCI Safety Car Park Inspection 

SCRIM Sideway-force Coefficient Routine Investigation Machine 

SHI Safety Highway Inspection 

UK United Kingdom 

UKPMS United Kingdom Pavement Management System 

Page 79



 

59  

 

Page 80



Highway Inspection and 

Highways Maintenance 

Performance  

Management                           

Improving Places Select Commission 

2nd February 2021

Colin Knight - Highways Head of Service

Eleanor Carratt – Highway Inspection and Street Works 

P
age 81



Rotherham MBC
The Council is responsible for 

maintaining 700 miles of roads and 

1300 miles of footways/PROW.

The highways network is the Council’s 

single biggest asset with a value of 

around £1.6b (gross replacement value)

The Authority’s approach to highway 

maintenance is based on two principles:

❖ Primary objective is to keep Rotherham’s 

roads and footways in a safe condition and 

to nationally recognised standard. 

❖ Carry out programmed maintenance works

as cost-effectively as possible

P
age 82



Highway Inspection Policy

A Code of Practice that provides a robust framework 
to address key objectives for the maintenance of the 
highway in a safe and serviceable manner

Safety Highway Inspection  regime of inspection for 
the prioritisation of defect repairs and is a crucial 
component of highway maintenance. 

Highway Authorities have a statutory duty under 
Section 41 of the Highways Act 1980 ‘to maintain 
highways that are maintainable at public expense’.

Section 58 of the Highways Act 1980 provides the 
ability to form a statutory defence to counter legal 
actions for negligence

       
 
 
 
 

Rotherham MBC
   Code of Practice   

 

Highway Inspection                  
and   

      Assessment 

      2018 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Highway Service 

Community Safety and Street Scene 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 83



Why have a Highway Inspection Policy?

Objectives

❖Ensure that the highway is maintained, thereby 
safeguarding users of the highway

❖Contribute to a reduction in the number of highway 
accidents and accident claims

❖Align with the guidance document CoPWMHI

❖Enable Rotherham Council to robustly defend against 
highway claims and corporate manslaughter charges.

P
age 84



Defect Categories

Lighting column 

cover removed 

exposing cables

Carriageway Collapse Missing Chamber Cover

Category ‘A’

P
age 85



Defect Categories

Carriageway Pothole Uneven flagged Footway

Category ‘1’

P
age 86



Highway Maintenance – Roads Programme

2020 Roads Programme
• £10m

• 310 Estate Roads Repaired

• 46 Miles of carriageway resurfaced

2024 Roads Programme
• Started in 2020/21 

• Investing £24m over 4 years

P
age 87



Highway Maintenance Performance Management data 

The number of highway inspections carried out on time is 

consistently achieving the target of 95%.

The 90% target for actionable defects, to be repaired within 

the target timescales, has been consistently met for the past 

18 months.

100% of missing apparatus covers are made safe within 4 

hours of a report being received.

Customer satisfaction survey results for Highway scheme 

works carried out on site have been consistently high. 

It is noted that performance did drop for one quarter, during 

2020, which can be attributed to the challenges of COVID-19 

and the rescheduling of works. However, performance 

recovered in quarter two. Overall, satisfaction, with the works 

that have been carried out between April 2020 and 

September 2020 was 93%

P
age 88



Highway Customer Complaints and Compliments
P

age 89



Annual number of potholes and spend 

Year
£ spent on 

potholes

Number of 

potholes

2015/16 380575.45 32000

2016/17 472884.06 31000

2017/18 370014.19 24800

2018/19 369532.85 22600

2019/20 371530.85 24751

2020/21 (up to 31/12/20) 260109.96 10403

P
age 90



Incident 

Year

Claimes 

Rec'd

Number 

On-going

Number 

Closed

Number 

Repudiated

Percentage 

Repudiated

Number 

Paid

Total Paid 

(inc. Costs)

2011/12 173 0 173 153 88% 20 £206,614

2012/13 275 0 275 248 90% 27 £298,742

2013/14 233 0 233 204 88% 29 £225,182

2014/15 277 0 277 252 91% 25 £141,438

2015/16 262 1 261 236 90% 25 £133,816

2016/17 121 1 120 108 90% 12 £56,367

2017/18 196 3 193 185 96% 8 £45,289

2018/19 204 3 201 193 96% 8 £42,478

2019/20 294 41 253 229 91% 24 £12,260

2020/21 44 36 8 7 88% 1 £547

Highways Liability Claims Performance 2011/12 to 2019/20

Highway Claims
P

age 91



Training/Mentoring for Officers

Formal Qualifications
• Highway Inspectors to undertake a certified training scheme 

• Registration with the Highway Inspectors Board

Mentoring
• Prior to qualification, newly appointed Highway Inspectors or Trainee Highway Inspectors 

shall work under the guidance of qualified Highway Inspectors, in order to gain up to date 
knowledge and on the job experience.

P
age 92



Highway Audit Reports

April 2019 – Highway Safety
Objective of the audit was to assess the adequacy 

of the internal control arrangements for 

maintaining a safe highway network.

November 2020 – Highway Roads Programmes
Objective of the audit was to provide assurance on 

the performance results of the completed 2020 Roads Programme and on the 
arrangements for the control and monitoring of the further £24m of capital funding 2024 
Roads Programme. 

P
age 93



Contacts:

Colin Knight - 01709 822828

Colin.knight@rotherham.gov.uk

Eleanor Carratt

Eleanor.carratt@rotherham.gov.uk

Highway Services
P

age 94

mailto:Colin.knight@rotherham.gov.uk
mailto:Eleanor.carratt@rotherham.gov.uk


 

Public Report 
Improving Places Select Commission 

 
Committee Name and Date of Committee Meeting  
Improving Places Select Commission – 2 February 2021 
 
Report Title 
Council Plan Performance 2019/20 Year End – Exception Reporting 
 
Is this a Key Decision and has it been included on the Forward Plan?  
No 
 
Strategic Director Approving Submission of the Report 
Paul Woodcock, Strategic Director Regeneration and Environment   
 
Report Author(s) 
Laura Stapleton, National Management Trainee 

Assistant Chief Executive’s Directorate 

Email: laura.stapleton@rotherham.gov.uk 

 

Tanya Lound, Corporate Improvement and Risk Officer 

Assistant Chief Executive’s Directorate 

Tel: 01709 249982 Email: tanya.lound@rotherham.gov.uk  

 
Ward(s) Affected 
Borough-Wide  
 
Report Summary 
The Council Plan is a core document that underpins the Council’s overall vision and 
sets out the headline priorities, outcomes and measures that will demonstrate its 
delivery.  
 
The Council Plan for the period 2017-2020 was approved by Elected Members at the 
Council meeting on 12 July 2017. Refreshed performance measures covering the 2019-
2020 financial year were approved by Cabinet on 20 May 2019 and Council on 24 July 
2019.  
 
To ensure that the delivery of actions and their impact is assessed, formal quarterly 
performance reports are presented in public at Cabinet meetings, with an opportunity 
for Scrutiny consideration if required.   
 
The Council Plan Quarter 4 (January to March 2020) and 2019-2020 Annual 
Performance Report was presented to Cabinet on 21st September 2020.  The report 
referred to 38 measures (57%) had either met or had exceeded the target set in the 
Council Plan.   
 
The Improving Places Select Committee (IPSC) has maintained oversight for 
performance in relation to Priority 3 ‘A strong community in a clean, safe environment’ 

Page 95 Agenda Item 7

mailto:laura.stapleton@rotherham.gov.uk
mailto:tanya.lound@rotherham.gov.uk


 

Page 2 of 10 

 

and Priority 4 ‘Extending opportunity, prosperity and planning for the future’ with a focus 
on exception reporting.  For this meeting, the IPSC Chair has specifically asked for the 
report to be focussed on red measures (measures which did not progress in 
accordance with the target set).    
 
In relation to Priority 3, there were five off track measures at 2019/20 year-end, while 
Priority 4 had three off track measures. 
 
The Council Plan came to an end in March 2020 and has since been replaced by The 
Year Ahead Plan for 2020/21.  The new plan sets out how the Council will operate in 
and recover from the Covid-19 pandemic. 
 
Recommendations 
Improving Places Select Committee is recommended to:  
 

1. Note the overall position in relation to the Council Plan  
2. Discuss the measures which did not meet the targets set  
3. Note the new arrangements for monitoring the Year Ahead Plan for 2020/21.   

 
List of Appendices Included 
Appendix A – Where performance is now in comparison to year-end 2019/20  
 
Background Papers 

 Performance Management Framework 2018-20 
 

 RMBC Council Plan 2017-2020 – Original Cabinet Agenda 25 June 2017 but 
revised measures for 2019-2020 – Cabinet Agenda 20th May 2019 and Council 
on 24 July 2019 
 

 Council Plan Quarter 4 (January to March 2019) and 2018-2019 Annual 
Performance Report – Cabinet Agenda 8 July 2020 

 

 Corporate Performance Report 2019-2020 Quarter 1 – Cabinet Agenda 16 
September 2019.   

 

 Corporate Performance Report 2019-2020 Quarter 2 – Cabinet Agenda 23 

December 2019.   
 

 Corporate Performance Report 2019-2020 Quarter 3 – Cabinet Agenda 23 

March 2020.   

 

 The Year Ahead Plan – Cabinet Agenda 21 September 2020 

 

 The Year Ahead Plan Progress Report – Cabinet Agenda 21 December 2020.   

Consideration by any other Council Committee, Scrutiny or Advisory Panel 
Cabinet  – 21 September 2020 
 
Council Approval Required 
No 
 
Exempt from the Press and Public 

Page 96



 

Page 3 of 10 

 

No 

Page 97



 

Page 4 of 10 

 

Council Plan Performance 2019/20 Year End – Exception Reporting 
 
1. Background 
  
1.1 The Council Plan is a core document that underpins the Council’s overall vision 

and sets out the headline priorities, outcomes and measures that will 
demonstrate its delivery. The Council Plan for the period 2017-2020 was 
approved by Elected Members at the Council meeting on 12 July 2017. 
Refreshed performance measures covering the 2019-2020 financial year were 
approved by Cabinet on 20 May 2019 and Council on 24 July 2019.  

 
1.2 To ensure that the delivery of actions and their impact is assessed, formal  

quarterly performance reports are presented in public at Cabinet meetings, with 
an opportunity for Scrutiny consideration if required.   
 

1.3  The Council Plan Quarter 4 (January to March 2020) and 2019-2020 Annual 
Performance Report was presented to Cabinet on 21st September 2020.  The 
report referred to 38 measures (57%) had either met or had exceeded the 
target set in the Council Plan.   

 
1.4  The Improving Places Select Committee (IPSC) has maintained oversight for 

performance in relation to Priority 3 ‘A strong community in a clean, safe 
environment’ and Priority 4 ‘Extending opportunity, prosperity and planning for 
the future’ with a focus on exception reporting.  For this meeting, the IPSC 
Chair has specifically asked for the report to be focussed on red measures 
(measures which did not progress in accordance with the target set).    

 
1.5  The Council Plan came to an end in March 2020 and has since been replaced 

by The Year Ahead Plan.  The Plan, approved by Cabinet on 21st September 
2020, is the Council’s plan for operating in and recovering from the COVID-19 
pandemic. The purpose of the plan is to support residents, communities and 
businesses through the challenges and uncertainty of the pandemic, helping to 
build resilience whilst also continuing to drive our ambitious plans for 
Rotherham. It sets out the headline themes and corresponding outcomes and 
key actions for September 2020 through to May 2021.  

 
2. Key Issues 
 
2.1 At the end of the fourth and final quarter of 2019/20 (January to March 2020), 

38 measures (57%) across all priorities had either met or had exceeded the 
target set in the Council Plan.  This is a higher number than 2018-19 when 34 
measures met or exceeded the targets set but is 1% lower than the 58% of 
measures that hit their targets in 2018-19.   
 

2.2 Priority 3 had the highest proportion of targets met across the Council Plan, 
with, 75% of measures having achieved or exceeded their target at the end of 
the fourth and final quarter of 2019/20. 15 performance measures were on track 
and five were off track. The off track measures included: 

 

 3.A2 – The proportion of positive outcomes over the year for 
reported Hate Crime cases.  This measure was 1.05% short of the 20% 

Page 98



 

Page 5 of 10 

 

target, with an average of 18.95% positive outcomes at 2019/20 year-
end.  

 

 3.A4(b) – The proportion of a) licensed vehicles b) drivers found to 
be compliant with licensing requirements during in the spot 
inspections. Compliance for both vehicles and drivers did not meet the 
target of 85%, with 70% of vehicles and 83% of drivers found compliant 
with licensing requirements during spot inspections.  

 

 3.A5(b) – Overall, all things considered, how satisfied or 
dissatisfied are you with Rotherham Borough as a place to live? In 
the Wave 9, conducted in June 2019, 58% of residents were found to be 
‘Very Satisfied’ or ‘Fairly Satisfied’ with Rotherham as a place to live 
against a target of greater than 69%.   

 

 3.B3 – Total number of customer contacts by service area and 
overall total.  The target of a 10% reduction in the number of complaints 
over the year (around 190 cumulative complaints) was not met, with the 
complaints at year-end totalling 208.  

 

 3.B4 – Number of missed bins per 100,000 collections.  At year-end 
2019/20, the number of missed bins per 100,000 collections was 84.16 
against a target of 50. 
 

2.3 In relation to Priority 4, seven measures were on track and three off track at the 
end of the final quarter of 2019/20. The off track measures included: 
 

 4.A1 – Number of new businesses started with help from the 
Council.  The average number for 2019/20 of new business started with 
help from the Council per quarter was 14.25, with the target being 15. 

 

 4.A2 – Survival rate of new businesses (3 years).  This measure’s 
status was based on figures for 2018/19 in the Quarter 4 Council Plan 
report as this was the latest available data at that time, which saw a 
survival rate of 57.7% against a 60% target.  

 

 4.A5 – Narrow the gap to the UK average on the rate of the working 
age population economically active in the borough.  The target for 
this measure was to achieve the national average of 79.1%. However, at 
year-end 2019/20, the economic activity rate in Rotherham was 4.2% 
lower than the national average, and 2.4% lower than the Yorkshire and 
Humber rate of 77.3%. 
 

2.4 Appendix A provides details of the off-track measures, including their year-end 
position; a comparison with most recent performance and direction of travel for 
discussion.  The table also provides information regarding what is being done to 
address performance or why performance may still be off track.     
 

Page 99



 

Page 6 of 10 

 

2.5 The Year Ahead Plan has replaced the Council Plan for 2020/21 and was 

approved by Cabinet on 21st September 2020. The Plan is framed around 5 

themes:  

 

 Thriving Neighbourhoods  

 Better Health and Wellbeing  

 Economic Recovery 

 New Ways of Working  

 Hope and Confidence in Rotherham  
 

2.6 The plan also includes the following cross-cutting strands, which are integral 

to each theme: 

 Equalities and Social Justice 

 Climate Impact 
 

2.7 In delivery of these themes, the plan outlines a total of 77 actions.   

2.8 The first quarterly progress report was presented to Cabinet on 21st 

December.  The report stated that as of 25th November 2020:  

 As planned, 18% (14) of the activities outlined were complete 

 70% (54) on track  

 4% (3) delayed 

 0% (0) off-track  

 8% (6) of activities not scheduled to start. 
 
2.9 Subsequent performance reports will be considered by SLT and Cabinet on a 

quarterly basis.  The next report will be presented to Cabinet on 22nd March 
2021.   

 
2.10 Unlike the Council Plan quarterly performance report, The Year Ahead Plan 

quarterly update report is focussed on progress relating to a range of activities, 
rather than a suite of performance measures.  To ensure the previous Council 
Plan performance measures continue to be closely monitored, monthly data 
reports will be presented to Directorate Leadership Teams (DLTs) and Strategic 
Leadership Team (SLT) and Cabinet Members regularly briefed.     

 
3. Options considered and recommended proposal 
  

3.1 It is recommended that IPSC review the overall year end position, current 
performance and actions being taken. 
 

3.2 IPSC may also want to consider The New Year Ahead Plan and how 
performance will be reviewed in the future.   
 

4. Consultation on proposal 
 
4.1  The original Council Plan priorities were developed following a consultation in 

the summer of 2015 with 1,800 members of the public through the ‘Views from 

Page 100



 

Page 7 of 10 

 

Rotherham’ consultation. This plan was presented to Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board on 26 November 2015 and formally considered by 
members at the Council meeting on 9 December 2015 and approved on 13 July 
2016. 

 
4.2 The quarterly reporting template and performance scorecard was developed in 

consultation with performance officers, the Strategic Leadership Team and 
Cabinet Members.     

 
4.3 The Council continues to consult with members of the public to ensure that the 

Council understands what is important to them and the priorities reflect the 
views of Rotherham residents.  Examples include: 

 

 Consultation takes place annually in relation to the Council’s budget. The 

online budget consultation for 2020-21 ran from Friday 13 December 2019 

to Monday 13 January 2020 and provided broad information on income and 

expenditure as well as a link to the February 2018 Budget Report. The 

Council also consulted individually with key partners.  

 

 Annual Rotherham Partnership showcase events are held and attended by 

approximately 100 partners, to review progress over the past 12 months in 

delivering the Rotherham Plan 2025, celebrate successes and communicate 

key milestones for the following year.  The most recent event was held in 

June 2019 

 

 Annual Rotherham Resident Survey to find out what residents think about 

the Council and the Borough in general. 

 

5. Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision 
 
5.1  This report is based on the fourth quarterly Performance Report relating to the 

Council Plan’s refreshed indicators for the 2019-2020 financial year. As stated 
above, The Year Ahead Plan for 2020-21 has replaced the Council Plan for 
2020-21 and new performance reporting arrangements are in place.  

 
6. Financial and Procurement Advice and Implications (to be written by the 

relevant Head of Finance and the Head of Procurement  on behalf of s151 
Officer) 

 
6.1  The Council Plan is designed to help steer the use of Council finances, 

balanced against the wider funding backdrop for the Council and the broader 
context of national local government finance and policy. There are no direct 
financial implications as a result of this report. 

 
6.2 The Council operates in a constantly changing environment and will need to be 

mindful of the impact that changes in central Government policy, forthcoming 
legislation and the changing financial position of the authority will have on its 
ability to meet strategic, corporate priorities and performance targets; and that 
ambitions remain realistic.  

Page 101



 

Page 8 of 10 

 

 
6.3 Whilst there are no direct procurement implications as a result of this report, 

any identified need to procure goods, services or works in relation to achieving 
the Council Plan objectives should be referred to the Corporate Procurement 
Service in order to ensure all projects are procured in line with the relevant 
internal Financial and Procurement Procedure Rules and the UK Public 
Contract Regulations 2015 as well as other relevant EU/UK legislation 
governing procurement practice. 

 
6.4 The Council Plan Performance Report includes information regarding the 

Council’s financial position, however further work is required to link the budgets 
to the Council Plan priorities and align the performance and financial reporting 
timelines.  

 
7. Legal Advice and Implications (to be written by Legal Officer on behalf of 

Assistant Director Legal Services) 
 
7.1 While there is no specific statutory requirement for the Council to have a 

Performance Management Framework and Council Plan, being clear about the 
Council’s ambitions gives staff, partners, residents and central Government a 
clear understanding of what it seeks to achieve and how it will prioritise its 
spending decisions.  
 

7.2 An effective and embedded Council Plan is also a key part of the Council’s 
ongoing improvement journey. 

 
8. Human Resources Advice and Implications 
 
8.1 There are no direct Human Resources (HR) implications as a result of this 

report, though the contribution HR makes to a fully functioning organisation and 
dynamic workforce is set out within the plan and Performance Report (Priority 5 
– a modern, efficient Council). Continued application of the values and 
behaviours requires engagement with all sections of the workforce, and it is a 
key role for managers across the organisation, led by the Chief Executive and 
wider Senior Leadership Team. 

 
9. Implications for Children and Young People and Vulnerable Adults 
 
9.1 The Council Plan has a core focus on the needs of children and young people 

and vulnerable adults, and this is embedded in the Council Plan under Priority 
1, “Every child making the best start in life”.   

 
10. Equalities and Human Rights Advice and Implications 
 
10.1 Ensuring that the Council meets its equalities and human rights duties and 

obligations is central to how it manages its performance, sets its priorities and 
delivers services across the board.  

 
10.2 A new corporate Equalities and Diversity Policy was adopted by Council on 13th 
 July 2016. This reinforced the duties of the Council in delivering the aims and 

ambitions of the Council Plan for 2017-2020 and supporting service business 

Page 102



 

Page 9 of 10 

 

planning processes. Specific performance measures relating to equalities are 
included in the 2019-2020 iteration of the Council Plan under Priority 5. 

 
11. Implications for Partners 
 

11.1 Partnership working is central to the Council Plan. The formal partnership 
structure for Rotherham, the ‘Rotherham Together Partnership’ (RTP), 
launched “The Rotherham Plan 2025” in March 2017. The Plan describes how 
local partners plan to work together to deliver effective, integrated services, 
making best use of their collective resources. The refreshed Council Plan links 
to The Rotherham Plan by picking up the “Game Changers” described in the 
latter document and setting out the Performance Indicators that describe how 
the Council intends to deliver its part of the Plan. 

 
12. Risks and Mitigation 
 
12.1  Within the Performance Report there are risks and mitigations identified under 

each of the key delivery outcomes. Additionally, the Priority areas also include 
an assessment of the areas where progress is not in line with. Within the 
Scorecard data tables, all measures which have not progressed in accordance 
with the target set are clearly marked with a red cross.  Directorates are also 
responsible for ensuring that any significant risks are also addressed via 
Directorate and Service Risk Registers.  

 
12.2 The Corporate Strategic Risk Register is structured to identify and mitigate 

strategic risks aligned to the Council Plan. The process of updating and 
identifying strategic risks is designed to enable the Council to manage risks 
connected to the Council Plan. 

 
13. Accountable Officer(s) 

Paul Woodcock, Strategic Director Regeneration and Environment   
 
Tom Smith, Assistant Director Community Safety and Street Scene  
 
Simon Moss, Assistant Director Planning, Regeneration and Transport 

 
Approvals obtained on behalf of:- 

 

 Named Officer Date 

Chief Executive 
 

 Click here to enter 
a date. 

Strategic Director of Finance & 
Customer Services  
(S.151 Officer) 

Named officer Click here to enter 
a date. 

Assistant Director of Legal Services 
(Monitoring Officer) 

Named officer Click here to enter 
a date. 

Assistant Director of Human 
Resources (if appropriate) 

 Click here to enter 
a date. 

Head of Human Resources  
(if appropriate) 

 Click here to enter 
a date. 

 

Page 103



 

Page 10 of 10 

 

Report Author: 

 

Laura Stapleton, National Management Trainee 

Assistant Chief Executive’s Directorate 

Email: laura.stapleton@rotherham.gov.uk 

 

Tanya Lound, Corporate Improvement and Risk Officer 

Assistant Chief Executive’s Directorate 

Tel: 01709 249982 Email: tanya.lound@rotherham.gov.uk  

 
This report is published on the Council's website.  

 
 

 

Page 104

mailto:laura.stapleton@rotherham.gov.uk
mailto:tanya.lound@rotherham.gov.uk
https://moderngov.rotherham.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?Categories=


Appendix A – Where performance is now in comparison to year-end 2019/20  
 
This appendix provides the current performance and direction of travel for measures within priorities 3 and 4 which did not meet their 
year-end 2019/20 targets.  The table also provides information regarding what is being done to address performance or why 
performance may still be off track.     
 
Priority Off Track Measure Good 

Performance 
Target Year End 

2019/20 
Most Recent 
Performance 

DOT  Comments  
(reason for current position and action 
being taken) 

Priority 3: A 
strong 
community in 
a clean safe 
environment 

3.A2 The proportion 
of positive outcomes 
over the year, for 
reported Hate Crime 
cases 

High 20% 18.95% 13.6% 
(end 

December 
2020) 

 
 
 

This is a South Yorkshire Police Measure. 
 
Hate crimes are monitored by the Safer 
Rotherham Partnership Board as part of 
their quarterly performance 
dashboard.  This topic was also subject to 
an OSMB performance clinic in October 
2019.  Outcomes showed a marked 
improvement from Quarter 3 2019/20 to 
Quarter 1 20/21.  The improvement was 
due to Police action to improve outcomes 
across all crimes, along with targeted 
activity, such as improvements in 
community resolution. 
 
The latest quarterly performance data for 
December 2020 (due to be reported to the 
Board at their February 2021 meeting) 
shows a reduction in positive hate crime 
outcomes. 
 
It should be noted that there are still a 
number of investigations ongoing (in both 
Quarter 2 - 12 / Quarter 3 – 36) so the 
figures are subject to change. The figures 
for the previous quarters should remain.     
 
Further investigations are taking place with 

P
age 105



the Inspector lead for hate crime to 
understand the current position.    

3.A4(b) The 
proportion of a) 
licensed vehicles b) 
drivers found to be 
compliant with 
licensing 
requirements during 
in the spot 
inspections 

High 85% (Vehicles 
and drivers) 

Rolling 
Average 

Vehicles = 
70% 

Drivers = 
83% 

n/a. n/a Although this target was not achieved, the 
measure for the number of taxi inspections 
did achieve its target and 121 inspections 
were carried out against a target of 110. 
 
Regarding compliance rates, although the 
yearly target was not achieved, most 
compliance issues throughout the year 
were able to be remedied immediately. The 
low number of inspections carried out in 
Quarter 3 which were beyond the services 
control impacted on this measure.   
 
No inspections have been carried out due 
to the current Covid-19 situation, given the 
need to enter vehicles.  Restarting 
inspections is dependent on the lifting of 
restrictions.  
 
The taxi licensing regime has continued to 
be robust however, with Licensing Board 
Sub-Committee hearing a number of cases 
virtually during the period.  

3.A5(b) Overall, all 
things considered, 
how satisfied or 
dissatisfied are you 
with Rotherham 
Borough as a place 
to live 

High – very or 
fairly satisfied 

>69% 58% 
(Wave 9 

June 2019) 
Very or Fairly 

Satisfied 

64% 
(Wave 10 

June 2020) 
Very or Fairly 

Satisfied 

 This is only one of many measures which 
improved in the most recent survey 
conducted in 2020.   
 
There was also an improvement in how 
well-informed residents are about services 
(58% said very or fairly well informed which 
is the highest it has been.) 
 
The results suggest that the improvements 
are due to increased communications 
activity and how well the Council is working 
in general. 
 

P
age 106



The next survey is to be conducted in June 
2021.   

3.B3 Total number of 
customer contacts by 
service area and 
overall total.  
 
Service areas 
measured are  
a) Street Cleansing,  
b) Grounds 
Maintenance,  
c) Litter,  
d) Waste 
Management.  
 
Contacts measured 
are:  
i) Official complaints  
ii) Compliments 
received iii) Service 
Requests 

Low 10% reduction 
(target around 

190 
cumulative for 

year) in the 
number of 

official 
complaints 
received 

Total 
cumulative 
complaints 
figure = 208 

 
Total 

Compliments 
figure = 28 

 
Total Service 

Requests: 
a) 779 

b) 8,870 
c) 766 

d)  47,736 

Complaints to 
end Dec 20: 

a) 1 
b) 6 
c) 1 

d) 98 
Total = 106 

 
Compliments 

to end Dec 20: 
a) 1 
b) 2 
c) 0 

d) 16 
Total = 19 

 
Service 

Requests to 
end Dec 20: 

a) 672 
b) 6,754 
c) 538 

d) Not yet 
available 

 The services are well on course to have 
fewer complaints at the end of the financial 
year than last year and are also set to 
achieve the ‘old’ 10% reduction target of 
190 for the full year. 
 
Compliments are likely to exceed last year’s 
performance. They are currently 19 at the 
end of the third quarter, in comparison to 28 
at year-end (March 2020).  
 
Service Requests are on course to produce 
similar numbers at year end to those 
received during 2019-20, for Street 
Cleansing, Grounds Maintenance and 
Litter. 
 

3.B4 Number of 
missed bins per 
100,000 collections 

Low 50 84.16 71.61  
(December 21) 

 Performance has improved since year end, 
however the service was negatively 
impacted by the Covid-19 pandemic in 
Quarter 4, as staff self-isolating led to the 
Garden Waste service being temporarily 
stood down on 23 March 2020. 
 
Staff absence, the majority of which has 
been Covid related, has led to issues 
regarding service quality. 
 
Performance is expected to be further 
impacted by the recent adverse weather 

P
age 107



conditions.  

Priority 4: 
Extending 
opportunity, 
prosperity 
and planning 
for the future 

4.A1 Number of new 
businesses started 
with help from the 
Council 

High 15 14.25 
(average for 

the year) 

15 (Q3 
October-

December). 
 

 31 cumulative 
total (April -

December 20) 

 Quarter 3 saw RMBC help more 
businesses start up through the Launchpad 
and other RMBC assistance. 
 
Covid has created harsh operating 
conditions for all businesses, especially 
start-ups, so levels of new business start-
ups fell dramatically in Quarter 1 as trading 
in various sectors became practically 
impossible. The number of start-ups the 
Launchpad team is assisting is now picking 
up again, with increased enquiries from 
people recently made redundant. All start-
up support activity has been moved online, 
with the workshop programme adapted in 
January to help fast-track people into self-
employment. Since April 2020, the team 
has responded to 158 enquiries, down 9% 
on the previous year. 
 
The Business Centres have remained 
popular during the pandemic, with the 
number of new and early-stage businesses 
moving in consistent with previous years. 
There is demand for workshop space where 
businesses need to undertake activities that 
can’t be accommodated from home. 
Occupancy is down 4%, partly due to two 
very successful business moving out to 
their own premises, and a number of larger 
office-based businesses consolidating to 
work from home.   

4.A2 Survival rate of 
new businesses (3 
years) 

High 60% Data not 
available for 

2019/20, 
status 

No data yet, 
waiting on 

ONS. 

n/a  The status and DOT for the 2019/20 report 
was based on the latest available data for 
2018/19 published in Q3 2019/20.  Data for 
2019/20 will be published imminently.   

P
age 108



therefore 
based on 

2018/19 data 
57.7% 

4.A5 Narrow the gap 
to the UK average on 
the rate of the 
working age 
population 
economically active 
in the borough 

Low 0% - achieve 
the National 

Average 

4.20% 4.50%  
(at of end of 

June 20) 

 Impacts of Covid restrictions from March 
2020 likely to have disproportionately 
impacted areas of deprivation. However, 
Quarter 3 saw RMBC help more 
businesses start up. See notes for measure 
4.A1.  
 
Further support measures are under 
consideration in line with the Sheffield City 
Region’s Renewal Action Plan, including 
measures to support getting people back 
into work, careers and skills advice. 

 P
age 109



Council Plan Performance 2019/20 

Year end performance – Exception 

Reporting

Improving Places Select Commission

Tom Smith and Simon Moss

P
age 110



Introduction

• The Council Plan core document which underpins the Council’s 
vision and sets out key priorities, outcomes and measures

• The Council Plan for the period 2017-20 was approved by Council 
on 12 July 2017

• Refreshed performance measures for 2019-20 were approved by 
Council on 24 July 2019

• Quarterly performance reports presented at Cabinet meetings

• The Quarter 4 (January to March 2020) and 2019-2020 Annual 
Performance Report presented to Cabinet on 21st September 2020

• Improving Places Select Committee maintained oversight in relation 
to Priority 3 ‘A strong community in a clean, safe environment’ and 
Priority 4 ‘Extending opportunity, prosperity and planning for the 
future’

• For this meeting, the IPSC Chair asked for the report to be focussed 
on red measures (measures which did not progress in accordance 
with the target set).   

P
age 111



2019/20 (Year End) Performance 

Overview

P
age 112



Priority 3: Off Track Measures
• Priority had the highest proportion of targets met across the Council Plan: 15 

measures achieved or exceeded their target at the end of the fourth and final 

quarter of 2019/20, making up 75% of the measures. 

• Five measures were off track:

• 3.A2 – The proportion of positive outcomes over the year for reported Hate Crime cases. 

This measure was 1.05% short of the 20% target, with an average of 18.95% positive outcomes at 

2019/20 year-end

• 3.A4(b) – The proportion of a) licensed vehicles b) drivers found to be compliant with 

licensing requirements during in the spot inspections. Compliance for both vehicles and 

drivers did not meet the target of 85%, with 70% of vehicles and 83% of drivers found compliant 

with licensing requirements during spot inspections

• 3.A5(b) – Overall, all things considered, how satisfied or dissatisfied are you with 

Rotherham Borough as a place to live? 58% of residents were found to be ‘Very Satisfied’ or 

‘Fairly Satisfied’ with Rotherham as a place to live against a target of greater than 69% (Wave 9 

June 2019)

• 3.B3 – Total number of customer contacts by service area and overall total. The target of a 

10% reduction in the number of complaints over the year (around 190 cumulative complaints) was 

not met, with the complaints at year-end totalling 208

• 3.B4 – Number of missed bins per 100,000 collections. At year-end 2019/20, the number of 

missed bins per 100,000 collections was 84.16 against a target of 50.

P
age 113



Priority 3: Most Recent 

Performance
• 3.A2 – The proportion of positive outcomes over the year for reported Hate 

Crime cases. At the end of December 2020, the figure was at 13.6%. Monitired
by SRP Board.  Investigations taking place with the inspector lead for hate crime 
to understand position.

• 3.A4(b) – The proportion of a) licensed vehicles b) drivers found to be 
compliant with licensing requirements during in the spot inspections. No 
inspections have been carried out due to the current situation and are 
dependant on the lifting of restrictions.

• 3.A5(b) – Overall, all things considered, how satisfied or dissatisfied are 
you with Rotherham Borough as a place to live? Wave 10, conducted in 
June 2020, saw improvement, with 64% of residents ‘Very or Fairly Satisfied’.

• 3.B3 – Total number of customer contacts by service area and overall 
total. 106 complains were recorded to end December 2020. The services are 
well on course to have fewer complaints by the end of the financial year, and are 
also set to achieve the ‘old’ 10% reduction target.

• 3.B4 – Number of missed bins per 100,000 collections. Performance 
improved in December 2020, with the number decreasing to 71.61.

P
age 114



Priority 4: Off Track Measures

• In relation to Priority 4, seven measures were on track and three off track 

at the end of the final quarter of 2019/20. 

• The off track measures were:

• 4.A1 – Number of new businesses started with help from the Council. The 

average number for 2019/20 of new business started with help from the Council per 

quarter was 14.25, with the target being 15

• 4.A2 – Survival rate of new businesses (3 years). This measure’s status was 

based on figures for 2018/19 in the Quarter 4 Council Plan report as this was the 

latest available data at that time, which saw a survival rate of 57.7% against a 60% 

target. 

• 4.A5 – Narrow the gap to the UK average on the rate of the working age 

population economically active in the borough.  The target for this measure was 

to achieve the national average of 79.1%. However, at year-end 2019/20, the 

economic activity rate in Rotherham was 4.2% lower than the national average, and 

2.4% lower than the Yorkshire and Humber rate of 77.3%.

P
age 115



Priority 4: Most Recent 

Performance

• 4.A1 – Number of new businesses started with help from the 

Council. Quarter 3 2020/21 saw 15 businesses started with RMBC 

help. The cumulative total for April – December 2020 is 31

• 4.A2 – Survival rate of new businesses (3 years). This data, 

provided by ONS is not currently available but is due imminently.

• 4.A5 – Narrow the gap to the UK average on the rate of the 

working age population economically active in the borough. 

The gap increased to 4.50% at the end of June 2020.  Covid

restrictions likely to have impacted.  Business start up support 

being provided by the Council and further support measures under 

consideration in line with the Sheffield City Region’s Renewal 

Action Plan.

P
age 116



The Year Ahead Plan

• The Council Plan came to an end in March 2020 and has since 
been replaced by The Year Ahead Plan, approved by Cabinet on 
21st September 2020

• The Yeah Ahead Plan is the Council’s plan for operating in and 
recovering from the COVID-19 pandemic and sets out the 
headline themes and corresponding outcomes and key actions 
for September 2020 through to May 2021. 

P
age 117



The Year Ahead Plan

• The first quarterly progress report 

was presented to Cabinet on 21st 

December.  The diagram 

demonstrates progress at this time

• Subsequent performance reports 

will be considered by SLT and 

Cabinet on a quarterly basis.  The 

next report will be presented to 

Cabinet on 22nd March 2021.  

P
age 118



Recommendations 

• It is recommended that IPSC review the 

overall year end position, current 

performance and actions being taken

• IPSC may also want to consider The New 

Year Ahead Plan and how performance will 

be reviewed in the future.  

P
age 119



Thank you

Questions? 

P
age 120



 

Public Report 
Improving Places Select Commission 

 
Committee Name and Date of Committee Meeting  
Improving Places Select Commission – 02 February 2021 
 
Report Title 
Clean Air Zone (CAZ) Update 
 
Is this a Key Decision and has it been included on the Forward Plan?  
No 
 
Strategic Director Approving Submission of the Report 
Paul Woodcock, Strategic Director of Regeneration and Environment 
 
Report Author(s) 
Tom Smith, Assistant Director, Community Safety and Street Scene 
tom.smith@rotherham.gov.uk 
 
Ward(s) Affected 
Borough-Wide 
 
Report Summary 
Air quality is a major issue of growing interest and significance at a national and 
international level. There is categorical evidence that long-term exposure to everyday 
air pollutants contributes to cardiovascular disease (including heart diseases and 
stroke), lung cancer, and respiratory disease (including asthma and chronic bronchitis).  
 
Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council and Sheffield City Council have been legally 
mandated to work together, supported by DEFRA’s Joint Air Quality Unit (JAQU), to 
identify options to reduce levels of Nitrogen Dioxide below the legal limit of 40µg per 
cubic metre of air, on an annual average, in the ‘shortest possible time’. 
 
An Outline Business Case, describing the proposals to deliver compliance in 
Rotherham and Sheffield was submitted to Government in December 2018. It was 
agreed by Government in February 2020.  
 
Since the onset of the Covid-19 in March 2020, Rotherham and Sheffield have seen 
changes in travel behaviour, leading to improvements in air quality across both areas. It 
is clear however that the majority of the proposals for Rotherham are unlikely to be 
impacted by Covid-19, are highly likely to still be necessary for Rotherham to reach 
compliance and would deliver genuine benefit to our communities   
 
This paper therefore provides Improving Places Select Commission with an update on 
the current status of the Clean Air Zone measures in Rotherham and an indication of 
the future programme of work. 
 
Recommendations 
 

Page 121 Agenda Item 8



 

Page 2 of 13 

 

Improving Places Select Commission are recommended to note and comment on this 
report.  
 
List of Appendices Included 

 Appendix 1  Clean Air Zone Proposals – Consultation Summary 
 
Background Papers 

 “Improving Air Quality in Rotherham”, Report to Cabinet, 17th December 2018 

 Minutes of Improving Places Select Commission, 6th June 2019 
 
Consideration by any other Council Committee, Scrutiny or Advisory Panel 
Improving Places Select Commission – 26 April 2019 
 
Council Approval Required 
No 
 
Exempt from the Press and Public 
No 

Page 122



 

Page 3 of 13 

 

Clean Air Zone (CAZ) Update  
1. Background 
  
1.1 Air quality is a major issue of growing interest and significance at a national and 

international level. There is categorical evidence that long-term exposure to 
everyday air pollutants contributes to cardiovascular disease (including heart 
diseases and stroke), lung cancer, and respiratory disease (including asthma 
and chronic bronchitis).  
 

1.2 The Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) published 
its final National Air Quality Plan in July 2017, in response to a High Court 
ruling in December 2016. This Plan details how compliance with the European 
Union (EU) Ambient Air Quality Directive will be delivered in the United 
Kingdom, through focussing on improving air quality in a number of Local 
Authority areas. Those Local Authorities that have areas that are not compliant 
with the Directive were identified through national air quality modelling. 28 Local 
Authorities were included (‘mandated’) in the plan, including Rotherham 
Metropolitan Borough Council (RMBC) and Sheffield City Council (SCC). 
RMBC and SCC were ‘jointly mandated’ on the basis that the Parkway in both 
Sheffield and Rotherham was identified as being non-compliant.  
 

1.3 Both Local Authorities were therefore required to work together, supported by 
DEFRA’s Joint Air Quality Unit (JAQU), to identify options to reduce levels of 
Nitrogen Dioxide below the legal limit of 40µg per cubic metre of air, on an 
annual average, in the ‘shortest possible time’. The two Councils were required 
to undertake local feasibility studies to identify the measures that would reduce 
levels of nitrogen within the ‘shortest possible time’. The Councils were required 
by DEFRA to include options for charging polluting vehicles, where this would 
deliver compliance in the shortest possible time.   
 

1.4 A report to Cabinet in December 2018 outlined the outcome of these feasibility 
studies. It concluded that a charging zone is not required in Rotherham for the 
Borough to achieve compliance. It did however identify measures that will need 
to be taken at four specific locations across Rotherham to achieve compliance. 
The proposals in Rotherham focussed on changes to speed limits on the 
Rotherham section of the Parkway, improvements to the Rotherham bus fleet 
and the routing of buses on Rawmarsh Hill and Fitzwilliam Road, and the 
restriction of HGVs on Wortley Road. These options were proposed to be 
accompanied by a number of additional measures, which aim to support 
businesses to improve their fleet and improve air quality, such as targeted 
support to upgrade vehicles.  

 

1.5 Cabinet approved the proposed mitigating measures and agreed that 
consultation on the measures could begin in early 2019. Cabinet also agreed 
that following that a further report outlining the final proposed measures and the 
Full Business Case for submission to government should be presented in 2019.  

 

2. Key Issues 
 
2.1 In line with the recommendations in the Cabinet report described above, and 

within the timescale set out within the Ministerial Direction to RMBC and SCC, 

Page 123



 

Page 4 of 13 

 

the Outline Business Case for funding was submitted to Government in 
December 2018. The proposed public consultation about the mitigating 
measures also took place in 2019, the results of which are outlined in more 
detail below. The final proposals and Full Business Case have not been 
submitted to Cabinet and then onto Government to date for a number of 
reasons.  

 
DEFRA Approval of the Outline Business Case 

 
2.2 In order to progress to development of the Full Business Case, the Outline 

Business Case was required to be approved by Government. Having submitted 
the Outline Business Case in December 2018, the Council expected approval 
by March 2019. However, after a number of requests from JAQU and DEFRA 
for additional evidence, approval was not received until February 2020. As part 
of this approval the Council was directed to submit the Full Business Case by 
March 2020. Given that the Direction was not received until February, both 
Councils responded to say that this timescale could not be met, suggesting a 
more realistic June 2020 submission date.  

 
Impact of Covid-19 

 
2.3 On 23rd March 2020 the Prime Minister announced significant restrictions to 

prevent the spread of Covid-19. This first lockdown asked residents to stay at 
home, and to only travel for essential reasons. Since then the situation in terms 
of air quality has changed significantly and unexpectedly due to the global 
Covid-19 pandemic. Rotherham and Sheffield have seen reductions in air 
pollution of up to 33% in January to August of this year compared to the same 
period in 2019. 

 
2.4 Both Councils have also recognised that many businesses and jobs are under 

unprecedented stress arising from the economic impacts of the pandemic. At 
the same time, following on from the lockdowns, required to control the spread 
of the virus, there have been a number of changes to travel behaviour which 
has led to improvements in air quality. The current situation across Rotherham 
and Sheffield, is very different to the one in which the proposals were originally 
developed, albeit potentially not a permanent change.  

 

2.5 Review of Proposals  
 

2.5.1 The current Direction from Government to implement a Clean Air Zone was 
based on options developed in 2017/18 across Rotherham and Sheffield, that 
was submitted in December 2018, which set out proposals for the most 
appropriate measures at that time, including a charging zone in Sheffield.  

 
2.5.2 RMBC remains under joint legal direction with SCC, to implement measures 

to achieve compliance with national air quality legislation in ‘the shortest 
possible time’. This remains in place notwithstanding any challenges due to 
the COVID-19 pandemic, or its immediate or possible future impacts on travel 
behaviour and air quality. However, it is incumbent upon both Councils to 
ensure that the proposals take account of the possible impacts of COVID-19 

Page 124



 

Page 5 of 13 

 

on businesses, transport, and air quality, in order to assess whether changes 
to the proposals should be made, or if the same actions are still required. 
 

2.5.3 A number of potential areas of review have been identified and are currently 
being assessed. They include: 

 

 Whether there are non-charging options for Sheffield that might now 
contribute towards compliance? 

 If a charging zone is still necessary for Sheffield, what form should that 
take?  

 Whether the rate of vehicle improvements and upgrades has changed 
since it was last analysed, i.e. is the vehicle fleet getting cleaner more 
quickly or slowly than predicted? 

 Will reductions in traffic and pollution resulting from Covid-19 remain 
over the medium/longer term? 

 
2.5.4 Whilst RMBC and SCC are still undertaking work on scenarios for demand for 

travel and impacts on air quality, RMBC has taken an initial view as to 
whether any changes to the proposals within the Outline Business Case are 
likely to be required. This initial assessment is outlined below.   
 

Wortley Road North-West-Bound HGV Prohibition 
 

2.5.5 Given that the air quality issue at this location predominantly relates to 
commercial vehicles, and because the HGV prohibition offers wider benefits in 
respect of residential amenity, this measure is considered to be highly likely to 
still be required, even following changes in traffic patterns following the 
pandemic. The limited impact of the pandemic on heavy goods vehicle traffic 
is demonstrated by heavy goods vehicle flows on the A629 being only 4% 
lower in the first full working week of 2021, compared to the same period in 
2018, despite the current national lockdown.  
 

2.5.6 The current intention is that the measure will include a requirement for the 
restrictions to be suspended as required to retain the use of Wortley Road as 
an emergency diversion route (for example in the case of an incident on the 
M1 motorway). This will be affected with the use of remotely operated variable 
signs. This will require RMBC to enter into agreements with Highways 
England, enabling them to operate RMBC Urban Traffic Control assets within 
agreed parameters. In this case, this would also enable Highways England to 
suspend the weight limit during incidents. 

 
Meadowbank Road Improvement 

 
2.5.7 This scheme is proposed to make the use of Meadowbank Road more 

attractive, relative to Wortley Road, for traffic accessing the M1 motorway. 
Current modelling indicates however that it is not likely to be required to 
achieve air quality compliance.  
 

2.5.8 Concerns in terms of the potential increase in traffic on Meadowbank Road, 
due to the HGV prohibition have been noted, with the team assessing whether 
additional measures to ensure the safety of pedestrians may be necessary.  

Page 125



 

Page 6 of 13 

 

Rawmarsh Hill Bus Priority and Routing Changes 
 
2.5.9 There are two elements to this scheme: 

 The diversion of half of the buses on Rawmarsh Hill to Barbers Avenue; 
and 

 Junction improvements at Bellows Road to facilitate the above. 
 

2.5.10 The intention was to work with bus operators and the Passenger Transport 
Executive, to conduct a market research exercise including surveys of 
passengers, to inform the decision as to which services were diverted. 
Clearly, given Covid-19, this work is currently on hold.  
 

2.5.11 Evidence to date suggests that some diversion of buses is likely to be 
required, even in a post-COVID-19 scenario, and even if all buses are 
upgraded to the Euro VI standard. However, COVID-19 impacts may mean a 
lesser proportion of buses may ultimately need to be diverted. 
 

2.5.12 Notwithstanding the above, work on the highway scheme is progressing, on 
the grounds that the need for the diversion of buses, and for measures to 
minimise adverse impacts of this on bus journey times and reliability, remains. 
The scheme also delivers a pedestrian crossing which is identified as a local 
priority. For these reasons, the scheme is considered to be at low risk of being 
rendered obsolete by any changes in traffic patterns following the pandemic. 

 
Fitzwilliam Road bus stop improvement 

 
2.5.13 This scheme is proposed to reduce disruption to the free flow of traffic caused 

by buses standing in the carriageway. This is intended to reduce stop start 
traffic movement and so emissions. However, modelling indicates it is likely to 
no longer be required to achieve air quality compliance. 

 
Sheffield Parkway 50mph speed limit 

 
2.5.14 A speed limit reduction on Sheffield Parkway is required in order to ensure air 

quality compliance and is therefore considered to be essential in terms of the 
legal direction received from the Secretary of State. It is at low risk of being 
rendered obsolete by changes in traffic patterns following the pandemic. 
 

2.5.15 The reduced speed limit is also required as a road safety measure, in light of 
the narrower lanes to be provided as part of the widening scheme between 
Catcliffe and M1 junction 33. 
 

2.5.16 The proposal will include Rotherway (between M1 Junction 33 and existing 
50mph speed limits beyond Rotherway Roundabout), to ease driver 
comprehension and to avoid encouraging unnecessary acceleration on 
Rotherway, between the new 50mph limit on Sheffield Parkway and the 
existing 50mph limits beyond Rotherway. 

 
Additional Measures 
 

Page 126



 

Page 7 of 13 

 

2.5.17 A series of measures to support businesses, such as taxi, HGV and LGV and 
public transport operators to upgrade their fleets, were also proposed as part 
of the Outline Business Case, mainly linked to the impact of the Sheffield 
Charging Zone. It is currently believed that these measures are necessary to 
achieve compliance across Sheffield and Rotherham, to encourage 
businesses to switch to less polluting vehicles.   
 

2.5.18 In particular, these measures included a support package to enable all service 
buses in Rotherham to be upgraded to the Euro VI standard as a minimum. 
This is currently believed to be required to achieve compliance across 
Rotherham, including where additional site-specific measures are proposed.   

 
3. Options considered and recommended proposal 
  
3.1 Given the current analysis above, the Council is working with SCC and JAQU 

to progress a number of proposals as quickly as possible. Whilst the Outline 
Business Case has been agreed by Government, and grant funding has been 
awarded for implementation on this basis, there are financial risks in 
progressing further work prior to the Final Business Case being agreed by 
Government. Given the current status of the overall Rotherham and Sheffield 
programme, it is unlikely that a Final Business Case will be signed off by 
Government prior to the summer of 2021.  
 

3.2 Without formal agreement of the Final Business Case, any budget spent is at 
risk of ‘clawback’ if the proposals are not subsequently agreed. In addition, any 
potential increase in costs could also fall to the Council.  
 

3.3 It is clear however that the majority of the proposals for Rotherham are unlikely 
to be impacted by Covid-19, are highly likely to still be necessary for 
Rotherham to reach compliance and would deliver genuine benefit to our 
communities. With that in mind RMBC are working with JAQU to identify a 
potential route to remove the financial risk to the Council of progressing the 
schemes prior to the Final Business Case being signed off, to allow Rotherham 
to begin delivery of our proposals as soon as possible.  
  

4. Consultation on Proposals 
 
4.1 In line with the recommendations to Cabinet in December 2018, a public 

consultation on the above proposals took place between May and September 
2019. Prior to this, Officers attended Improving Places Select Commission in 
April 2019, to provide an update on the programme of work, and to consult the 
Commission prior to consultation beginning. This resulted in two 
recommendations, both of which were subsequently been completed: 

 

 That the Head of Highway Services for Community and Street Scene 
look at providing information, at Ward level, in relation to Public Rights of 
Way to Members. 

 That officers meet with relevant Members to discuss any potential impact 
on their Wards in light of the proposed changes listed as part of the 
Clean Air Zone to improve the air quality in Rotherham. 

 

Page 127



 

Page 8 of 13 

 

4.2 A summary of the outcome of the public consultation, conducted between may 
and September 2019 can be found at Appendix 1.  

 
5. Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision 
 
5.1 The Council is mandated to implement measures to achieve compliance with 

national air quality legislation in ‘the shortest possible time’. The Council also 
remains under joint legal direction with SCC, with the Final Business Case 
covering both Local Authority areas.  
 

5.2 Whilst the Council is therefore keen to progress as quickly as possible with the 
measures that it has identified, the development of the Final Business Case is 
intrinsically linked with SCC and can therefore only be completed following the 
more detailed review taking place in Sheffield.  

 

6. Financial and Procurement Advice and Implications (to be written by the 
relevant Head of Finance and the Head of Procurement  on behalf of s151 
Officer) 

 
6.1 There is a risk of ‘clawback’ of funding should any schemes proceed without 

formal agreement of the Final Business Case by government. In addition, 
without any agreement, any potential increase in costs could also fall to the 
Council.  

 
7. Legal Advice and Implications (to be written by Legal Officer on behalf of 

Assistant Director Legal Services) 
 
7.1 The National Air Quality Plan, published by Department for Environment, Food 

and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) in July 2017, identified those Local Authorities with 
areas that are not compliant with the European Union (EU) Ambient Air Quality 
Directive were identified through national air quality modelling. RMBC and SCC 
were ‘jointly mandated’ on the basis that the Parkway in both Sheffield and 
Rotherham was identified as being noncompliant. 
 

7.2 Rotherham and Sheffield are therefore under a legal duty to improve the 

Borough’s air quality by reducing NO₂ emissions below the legal limits in the 
shortest possible time. The Councils are required to submit a proposal to 
Government (a Final Business Case) to demonstrate how they will reduce 
emissions in the shortest possible timescale 

 
8. Human Resources Advice and Implications 
 
8.1 There are no specific Human Resources implications resulting from this report.  
 
9. Implications for Children and Young People and Vulnerable Adults 
 
9.1 The implications of poor air quality for the health and well-being of children and 

young people, and for the adult population, are significant. Poor air quality is 
strongly linked with poor health outcomes, and with increased mortality rates. 
The proposed actions to deliver improvements in air quality will therefore 
impact positively on the lives of children, young people and vulnerable adults 

Page 128



 

Page 9 of 13 

 

 
10. Equalities and Human Rights Advice and Implications 
 
10.1 There are no specific equalities or human rights implications from this report.  
 
11. Implications for Partners 
 
11.1 Work is ongoing with a number of partners including South Yorkshire 

Passenger Transport Executive (SYPTE) and Highways England to ensure that 
the mitigating proposals can be delivered fully to achieve compliance.  
 

12. Risks and Mitigation 
 
12.1 The Council is mandated to reduce emissions in the shortest possible 

timescale. Any unreasonable delay presents a risk of non-compliance with the 
legal requirements.  
 

12.2 There is a risk, as outlined above, of financial ‘claw back’ of funding should any 
schemes proceed, prior to the agreement of a Final Business Case by 
government.  

 
13. Accountable Officer(s) 

Tom Smith, Assistant Director Community Safety and Street Scene 
 

Approvals obtained on behalf of:- 
 

 Named Officer Date 

Chief Executive 
 

 Click here to enter 
a date. 

Strategic Director of Finance & 
Customer Services  
(S.151 Officer) 

Named officer Click here to enter 
a date. 

Assistant Director of Legal Services 
(Monitoring Officer) 

Named officer Click here to enter 
a date. 

Assistant Director of Human 
Resources (if appropriate) 

 Click here to enter 
a date. 

Head of Human Resources  
(if appropriate) 

 Click here to enter 
a date. 

 
Report Author:  Tom Smith, Assistant Director, Community Safety and 

Street Scene 
tom.smith@rotherham.gov.uk 
This report is published on the Council's website.  
 

Page 129

https://moderngov.rotherham.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?Categories=


 

Page 10 of 13 

 

Appendix 1 - Summary of Responses from Rotherham Clean Air Zone 

consultation 

 

Residents 

 642 respondents, of which 540 (84%) are from Rotherham 

 Opinions were split on the proposal to introduce a 50 mph speed limit on the 

A630 Sheffield Parkway – 52% agree or strongly agree with the proposal, 

whilst 43% disagree (of which 29% strongly disagree) 

 Just less than half (47.4%) of respondents agreed or strongly agreed with the 

proposed bus rerouting and road improvements to Rawmarsh Hill. 22.3% 

disagreed or strongly disagreed with the proposal being able to reduce air 

pollution, with 13.4% strongly disagreeing with the intervention. A large 

proportion (30%) did not know 

 Support for electric charging points was the most popular additional measure 

that respondents thought RMBC should implement, with 76% agreeing or 

strongly agreeing that the council should make this investment 

Businesses 

 Only 25 respondents, of which all but one were from Rotherham 

 Nearly 50% of respondents currently use a low emission vehicle to reduce 

pollution (11), and 25% said they would be prepared to use low emission 

vehicles in the future 

 Respondents are most likely to agree with the proposals to upgrade buses 

operating on Rawmarsh Hill. 

 Respondents are less supportive of the proposals to reroute buses from 

Rawmarsh Hill and bring in a reduced speed limit on the Sheffield Parkway.  

The Parkway proposal was the only measure where more respondents were 

opposed than supportive (48% disagreed and 40% agreed). Again, like 

residents, a high number of business respondents did not know (36%) 

whether or not to support the Rawmarsh hill rerouting, with 52% agreeing with 

the measure 

 Support for electric vehicle charging points is paramount, with 80% of 

respondents agreeing that RMBC should be providing more charging 

infrastructure and none disagreeing (20% don’t know) 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 130



 

Page 11 of 13 

 

 

A full breakdown of the support for the Rotherham Schemes below: 

 
Strongly 

Agree 
Agree Disagree 

Strongly 

Disagree 

Don’t 

Know 

Ensure that all buses, are 

upgraded or retrofitted 50.9% 37.7% 2.6% 3.4% 4.5% 

Support for buses on Fitzwilliam 

Road 50.8% 33.5% 4.7% 5.1% 5.8% 

Support to upgrade all buses on 

Rawmarsh Hill 51.7% 32.1% 4.2% 5.3% 6.2% 

Improve traffic flow on the A630 

Fitzwilliam Road 29.9% 42.8% 7.0% 6.4% 13.7% 

Financial packages for SME's 

and LGVs 34.1% 36.6% 9.5% 8.7% 10.6% 

Northbound HGV ban on the 

A629 Wortley Road 37.7% 27.4% 10.1% 11.7% 12.8% 

Support for taxi drivers in 

Rotherham 26.8% 30.2% 16.7% 16.5% 9.0% 

50mph on Sheffield Parkway and 

Sheffield City Centre 24.1% 27.6% 13.9% 29.3% 5.1% 

Reroute buses from Rawmarsh 

Hill to Barbers Avenue  22.7% 24.6% 8.9% 13.4% 29.8% 

 

Rotherham Taxi driver responses from Sheffield Consultation 

 

These are the two most relevant taxi driver responses from the Sheffield Taxi 

responses. Exactly 100 Rotherham-licensed drivers responded to Sheffield’s 

consultation. About 70% of Rotherham licensed drivers enter the CAZ 4 or more 

days a week. Responding to the CAZ Rotherham drivers are less likely to upgrade 

their vehicles based off the charge, more likely to divert journeys around the CAZ 

and more likely to leave the trade. 

This is how they would respond to the support packages: 

 They are comparatively more likely to be encouraged to upgrade based on 

grant funding, interest free loans and maintenance/license incentives 

 The preferred packages on offer in the CAZ plans are also much more 

favourable with Rotherham taxis than their equivalent in Sheffield – however it 

should be said that there is still a minority of the total who are in favour of 

these measures. 

Page 131



 

Page 12 of 13 

 

Data tables from the reports below. 

 

Q22. “If the proposed charges are introduced, how are you likely to respond?” (Most 

Likely) 

  
Pay the 

Charge 

Replace 

my 

Vehicle 

Work 

More 

Hours 

Divert 

Journeys 

Work 

Elsewhere 

Change 

License 

Type 

Leave 

the Taxi 

Trade 

Licence issued by 

Sheffield 24.1% 27.4% 31.6% 54.1% 35.4%  33.9% 34.4% 

Rotherham 28.3% 15.8% 36.5% 61.5% 34.6%  33.3% 60.6% 

 

 

 

Q27. “If you currently drive a taxi/private hire vehicle that would be charged to drive in 

the Clean Air Zone, what would most encourage you to change or upgrade to a 

compliant vehicle? (Would Encourage Me)” 

  

C
h

a
rg

e
 f

o
r 

E
n

te
ri

n
g

 

th
e

 C
it

y
 C

e
n

tr
e
 

G
ra

n
t 

F
u

n
d

in
g

 f
o

r 

R
e
p

la
c

e
m

e
n

t 

V
e

h
ic

le
 

In
te

re
s

t 
F

re
e

 L
o

a
n

 

fo
r 

R
e

p
la

c
e

m
e

n
t 

V
e

h
ic

le
 

M
a

in
te

n
a

n
c

e
 a

n
d

 

L
ic

e
n

s
e

 I
n

c
e

n
ti

v
e
s

 

F
u

e
l 

V
o

u
c
h

e
rs

 

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 f

o
r 

T
a
x

is
, 

B
u

s
e

s
 a

n
d

 C
y

c
le

s
 

C
u

s
to

m
e

rs
 W

a
n

te
d

 

N
o

n
-P

o
ll
u

ti
n

g
 T

a
x

is
 

G
re

a
te

r 

U
n

d
e

rs
ta

n
d

in
g

 o
f 

H
e
a

lt
h

 I
m

p
a
c

ts
 

T
a

x
i 

R
a
n

k
 

R
e
s

tr
ic

ti
o

n
s
 

 

Licence issued by 

Sheffield 
3.4% 38.9% 

12.2

% 
35.8% 34.0% 

10.1% 6.2% 5.8% 18.5% 

Rotherham 
14.1% 62.8% 

50.0

% 
58.2% 44.0% 

45.1% 27.5% 22.0% 16.5% 

 

 

 

 

Page 132



 

Page 13 of 13 

 

Q28. “To what extent would the proposed support packages help you to 

upgrade to a cleaner vehicle that would not be subject to the charge? (To A 

Great and Moderate Extent)” 

  
Grant 

Funding for 

Retrofitting 

Technology 

Interest 

Free 

Loan for 

Upgraded 

Vehicle 

A Period 

of Free 

Service / 

MOT 

Vouchers 

for Free 

Electric 

Charging 

Licence issued by 

Sheffield 7.7% 8.8% 7.5% 6.5% 

Rotherham 29.7% 34.4% 33.3% 28.4% 

 

 
 

Page 133



 

Public Report 
Improving Places Select Commission 

 
Committee Name and Date of Committee Meeting  
Improving Places Select Commission – 02 February 2021 
 
Report Title 
Outcomes from Working Group – Building Use 
 
Is this a Key Decision and has it been included on the Forward Plan?  
No 
 
Strategic Director Approving Submission of the Report 
Not Applicable 
 
Report Author(s) 
Katherine Harclerode, Governance Advisor 
01709 254352 or katherine.harclerode@rotherham.gov.uk 
 
Ward(s) Affected 
Borough-wide 
 
Report Summary 
 
To receive on the findings and recommendations from the working group on Building 
Use which was established by the Overview and Scrutiny Management Board.  
 
Recommendations 
 

1. That the briefing be noted and the following recommendations be submitted to 
Cabinet for consideration:- 
 

a) That the principle be agreed that the future usage of buildings be 
determined in accordance with the needs of services located therein.  
 

b) That, prior to buildings being brought back into use by staff or the public, 
consultation take place with Trade Unions and staff following completion 
of risk assessments in respect of the building or location concerned. 
 

c) That any decision to return employees to Council buildings beyond the 
minimal number that have been required to be present throughout the 
pandemic be made having regard to advice from the Corporate Health 
and Safety Team and Human Resources, as well as being subject to 
Government guidance around the safe use of Council buildings.  
 

d) That Members be notified when main operational buildings are to be 
brought back into use, specifically the Town Hall as the civic hub of the 
Borough. 
 

Page 134 Agenda Item 9



 
 
 

e) That, having regard to the positive implications associated with virtual 
meetings in respect of the Council’s carbon footprint, the Leader of the 
Council lobby the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local 
Government to legislate for the ongoing provision of virtual meetings 
beyond 7 May 2021.  
 

f) That Asset Management and Digital Services work together to identify the 
necessary changes or solutions required in Riverside House and 
Rotherham Town Hall, as well as any changes required to equipment or 
software for Members and officers, to enable continued use of remote 
working whilst permitting physical presence in a Council building.  
 

g) That the Head of Democratic Services prepare guidance and training on 
the procedures and operation of hybrid meetings.    

 
Background Papers 
Minutes from Overview and Scrutiny Management Board, 16 September 2020 
 
Consideration by any other Council Committee, Scrutiny or Advisory Panel 
Not applicable  
 
Council Approval Required 
No 
 
Exempt from the Press and Public 
No 

Page 135



 
 
 

Outcomes from Working Group – Building Use 
  
1. Background 
  
1.1 Due to the national Coronavirus emergency, Central Government have issued 

regulations to allow remote attendance and participation in Council meetings. 
Councillors have not been identified by the Government as essential key 
workers, nor are they employees of the Council. 
 

1.2 The Government guidance also asks all workers including essential key 
workers to work from home if possible. Citizens are asked to avoid all non-
essential travel and use of public transportation to limit the transmission of the 
virus and protect the National Health Service from undue burden.  
 

1.3 The Government guidance also reflects an evolving picture. At the time of 
writing the report, an extended national lockdown has been put in place to 
respond to growing pressure on the NHS and the emergence of a novel strain 
of COVID-19 which has shown higher transmissibility and mortality rates, even 
affecting children. This lockdown is in place amid the roll-out of a large-scale 
vaccination programme. 

 
2. Key Issues 
 
2.1 The Council have developed a new home working plan to comply the 

government mandate that everyone who can work from home do so. Workforce 
planning has to take into account local transmission rates and restrictions, 
resident expectations, operation delivery, changing government expectations, 
and facility services implications of any decision. Priority services have been 
identified and prioritised, based on an assessment of which services are 
needed, not merely wanted as well as which front-line and back office services 
are already operating.  
 

2.2 Human Resources have monitored the experience of employees during the 
transition to exclusive home working, and have ensured that things like 
reasonable accommodations and proper kit/equipment continue to be provided 
to employees who need them. Human Resources have anticipated that some 
aspects of remote working will continue to stay with the Council after the 
mandate to work from home has been lifted, as employees now have the 
technology to facilitate working from home, and a strong majority of employees 
have reported that they either like or love home working.  
 

2.3 Therefore, Human Resources have developed a strategy for safely transitioning 
back to partial office working when the public health climate improves and 
government regulations allow. The strategy also considers those employees 
who need to return to the office for personal rather than business reasons. The 
strategy will continue to be reviewed and informed by further information, for 
example, from the full staff professional wellbeing surveys that have been 
undertaken in Autumn 2020. These efforts ensure staff know the plans on a 
quarterly basis, and that discussions with managers are ongoing. Risk 
assessments will be particularly important for building resilience into front line 
services where there has been more sickness and impact on service delivery. 

Page 136



 
 
 

New, innovative ways to support staff will be needed. This strategy is flexible as 
it is built to respond to an evolving public health picture. 
 

2.4 Similarly, Asset Management have developed a strategy for following the 
government guidelines as regards the Council’s operational buildings that are 
not designated for the delivery of specific services, that is, its office buildings. 
This strategy ensures services are delivered as usual, but with employees 
working from home rather than utilising office spaces, which currently requires 
additional precautions during use and additional cleaning after use.  

   
2.5 In terms of Riverside House, 30% of the capacity can be used safely in the 

current layout configuration. This means that of 1300 desks, 440 can be safely 
occupied at a given time. There are facilities implications of any use.  
 

2.6 Following an extensive examination, it was determined that Riverside House air 
conditioning has not been found to be a contributor to transmission. The 
servicing of the air conditioning is maintained, and the air change frequency 
has been increased to bring fresh air into the building every 35 to 40 minutes 
through filters that are regularly changed. 

 
2.7 Members expressed concerns that at times remote access can create 

obstacles to performing their responsibilities as Councillors. Broadband 
connections can sometimes drop, and applicants who are interviewed as part of 
the work of some smaller committees of the Council cannot be interviewed in 
person. For these reasons, advice was sought around the return to use of a 
Council space for in-person meetings of some smaller committees. The 
response cautioned that whilst this is physically possible, it would be against 
the national guidance against public gatherings, and while Councillors are not 
considered key workers, nor are they employees of the Council, their presence 
in Council operational buildings would require employees to be present, and 
extra precautions and cleaning would have to be undertaken as well. It was 
also noted that the Council’s position is that just because an office space can 
be used does not mean that it should be used. It is important in terms of Public 
Health perception of the Council, that the Council play by the same rules that 
the community are asked to follow. Therefore, it remains necessary to limit 
face-to-face meetings wherever possible. 
 

2.8 As for which buildings are open, these are reduced to skeleton services. Some 
buildings need to remain open because they also house NHS or GP services. 
These are constantly reviewed. Bookable systems are used where possible to 
ensure controls are in place to reduce transmission. It is down to teams to 
decide how their model works.  
 

2.9 At the 14 December meeting, Members received a presentation about the life 
cycles of Council Owned sites, for example, how Asset Management makes 
decisions about sites, including changes of use and sale, and how those 
decisions are progressed. The goal of this meeting was to demystify the Asset 
Management process by perusing examples of the process in action. 

 
 
 

Page 137



 
 
 

3. Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision 
 
3.1 The timetable and accountability for implementing recommendations arising 

from this report will sit with the Cabinet and officers. The Overview and Scrutiny 
Procedurals require the Cabinet to consider and respond to recommendations 
made by scrutiny within two months. 

 
4. Financial and Procurement Advice and Implications 
 
4.1 There are no financial or procurement implications directly associated with this 

report. 

 
5. Legal Advice and Implications 
 
5.1 There are no direct legal implications associated with this report. 

 
 
6. Human Resources Advice and Implications 
 
6.1 These are set out in the report. 

 
 
7. Implications for Children and Young People and Vulnerable Adults 
 
7.1 These have been set out in the relevant sections of the report. 
 
 
8. Equalities and Human Rights Advice and Implications 
 
8.1 Members have had regard to equalities implications when considering 

recommendations and other matters arising from the working group. 
 
 
9. Implications for Partners 
 
9.1 There are no implications for partners directly arising from this report. 

 
 
10. Risks and Mitigation 
 
10.1 Members have been advised previously of risk assessments and mitigation 

plans, and these have been taken into account in their consideration of 
potential recommendations. 

 
11. Accountable Officer 

Craig Tyler, Head of Democratic Services and Statutory Scrutiny Officer 
Report Author: Katherine Harclerode, Governance Advisor 
01709 254352 or katherine.harclerode@rotherham.gov.uk 
 
This report is published on the Council's website.  

Page 138

https://moderngov.rotherham.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?Categories=


 

Public Report 
Improving Places Select Commission 

 
Committee Name and Date of Committee Meeting  
Improving Places Select Commission – 02 February 2021 
 
Report Title 
Outcomes from Working Group on Homes Allocation – 8 January 2021 
 
Is this a Key Decision and has it been included on the Forward Plan?  
No 
 
Strategic Director Approving Submission of the Report 
Not Applicable 
 
Report Author 
Katherine Harclerode, Governance Advisor 
01709 254352 or katherine.harclerode@rotherham.gov.uk 
 
Ward(s) Affected 
Borough-Wide 
 
Report Summary 
To report on the findings and recommendations of the Working Group that reviewed the 
proposed changes to the Homes Allocation Policy. 
 
Recommendations 

1. That the briefing be noted and the following recommendations be submitted to 
Cabinet for consideration:- 

 
a) That sustained funding be safeguarded for the staff who work on the 

temporary accommodation team whose posts do not have sustained funding. 
 

b) That revisions to the Homes Allocation Policy be undertaken to ensure clarity 
and readability throughout the document, especially as regards application 
processes and shortlisting criteria. 
 

c) That notation about prolific offenders be included in the information provided 
to the Housing Assessment Panel. 
 

d) That quality standards regarding the proper completion of housing forms be 
reaffirmed to officers. 
 

e) That rent arrears be added to the scrutiny work programme for 2021-22. 
 

f) That single occupants of larger homes owned by the council be given the 
opportunity to downsize.  

 
 

Page 139 Agenda Item 10



 
 
 

List of Appendices Included 
None 
 
Background Papers 
In preparation for this meeting, Members reviewed a briefing on the proposed changes 
as well as familiarising themselves with the context of current housing allocations 
policies.  
 
Consideration by any other Council Committee, Scrutiny or Advisory Panel 
No 
 
Council Approval Required 
No 
 
Exempt from the Press and Public 
No

Page 140



 
 
 

Outcomes from Working Group on Homes Allocation – 8 January 2021 
  
1. Background 
  
1.1 The Housing Allocations Policy has been reviewed, and 15 changes to the 

current policy are proposed for upcoming approval by Cabinet. There is an 
opportunity for pre-decision scrutiny to inform the proposed changes further; 
therefore, the working group of the Improving Places Select Commission was 
formed. The goal of the working group was to ensure the changes will lead to a 
fair and sustainable policy. 

 
2. Key Issues 
 
2.1 Regarding support for tenants where addiction or offenders are involved, the 

housing team works closely with Change Grow Live (CGL), an organisation that 
provides advice and support regarding alcohol and drug use. Anyone who 
presents as homeless with drugs or alcohol in play is referred to CGL. It was 
suggested that prolific offenders could be noted on forms presented to the 
Housing Assessment Panel. 
 

2.2 To provide clarification, Band 1 cannot be transferred to a different area if an 
applicant decides to move. However, a section 198 referral can be made when 
the resident has an illness and has a local connection. Otherwise, Band 1 only 
applies to Rotherham allocations. It is worth noting, though, that there are other 
options as well.  
 

2.3 The presentation summarised the extent of partnership working with private 
landlords in terms of homelessness. A bid had been submitted for an officer 
who links in with private landlords. That post is not yet in place, but the service 
is looking to be able to build those relationships moving forward. The service 
has advertised for a Vacant Homes Officer, and it was affirmed that private 
landlords play a key role in providing affordable housing. Many residents do go 
into a private rental property. A good percentage of those presenting do go into 
private sector housing, and the team does conduct inspections to make sure 
those properties are fit and decent homes for the people to move into. There 
are a number of actions that the service takes including bringing properties 
back into use to help combat homelessness.  
 

2.4 The possibility was discussed that the 18 single occupants of larger homes who 
are rent payers may be subject to the commonly known as bedroom tax. If so, it 
was suggested that it would be reasonable to ask these residents if they 
desired to move. Further analysis was offered outside the meeting regarding 
these properties. 
 

2.5 Members requested more information around utilisation of autobidding to help 
reduce voids and ensure allocations are fairly decided. It was noted that 1000 
applicants are currently on autobid out of the total of approximately 6000 on the 
housing register. 
 
 

Page 141



 
 
 

2.6 Regarding supply of certain adapted properties, assurances were provided that 
this is an area the team is currently working to expand. It was noted that there 
is investment in more properties. One thing that is needed is to adapt more of 
the Council’s existing stock. While this is not something that the housing 
allocations policy affects, it is worth noting that this is work that is being 
undertaken. 
 

2.7 Clarification was provided as to the procedures where there has been a bad 
letting flagged as sensitive. If a new tenant is not known to the service, there is 
no way to know they will be a bad tenant. It then sometimes takes a long time 
to move them on. The service cannot discriminate on the basis of age. 50% of 
bungalows are allocated based on need, which usually still are allocated to 
elderly residents because the need has a relationship to age.  
 

2.8 The role of the Housing Temporary Accommodation Strategic Board in 
promoting sustainability of this service was also discussed. An increase in 
demand for temporary accommodation had been seen based on social factors 
including the pandemic and based on new legislation regarding homelessness. 
With intensive support, people have been able to transform their lives. The 
team has bids out for grants, which takes a lot of time and energy to apply for, 
and those funds are not guaranteed. The service have more resources as a 
result of those efforts, but it is a bit hand to mouth, so funding could be more 
sustainable year to year, especially funding for staff salaries. It had been 
observed that valued members of the team had occasionally had to take other 
jobs in adjacent services to have more income security year to year. A priority 
of the Housing Temporary Accommodation Strategic Board going forward is to 
leverage other available temporary accommodation and get away from using 
hotels. The Board had been set up to strategically review this, with significant 
headway in the next two to three years. The service strive to be best in class 
with tackling homelessness, but it was hoped to have more sustainable funding 
in the future.  
 

2.9 The suggestion was raised that it be added to a future work programme of 
IPSC to examine and ensure that rent arrears are being handled the right way.  
 

2.10 Clarification was requested and provided around the Council’s shortlisting 
process, which involves inputting of information into a system algorithm. It was 
suggested that this language in the document could be made clearer.  
 

2.11 Members expressed desire that training about how to correctly complete the 
housing forms could be provided to officers who are assisting residents. 
Assurances were provided that the officers in the Housing Service who assist 
residents in completing forms are trained in proper completion of these forms. 
In the event that any form is not correctly completed, the form is sent back to 
the officer for completion. A designated member of staff delivers these trainings 
directly to officers. 
 

2.12 Assurances were provided that feedback from the working group would be 
taken on board and reflected in the policy.  

 
 

Page 142



 
 
 

3. Options considered and recommended proposal 
  
3.1 Rationale for the recommendations is set out in the report. 
 
4. Consultation on proposal 
 
4.1 This report reflects the consultation with Members in the form of pre-decision 

scrutiny. 
 
5. Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision 
 
5.1 The timetable and accountability for implementing recommendations arising 

from this report will sit with the Cabinet and officers. 
 
6. Financial and Procurement Advice and Implications 
 
6.1 There are no financial implications associated with the report.  

 
7. Legal Advice and Implications  
 
7.1 There are no legal implications associated with the report. 
 
8. Human Resources Advice and Implications 
 
8.1 Implications for staffing have been set out in the body of the report. 
 
9. Implications for Children and Young People and Vulnerable Adults 
 
9.1 These have been set out in the relevant portions of the report. 
 
10. Equalities and Human Rights Advice and Implications 

 
10.1 Members have had regard to equalities implications when considering 

recommendations and other matters arising from the working group. 
 
11. Implications for Partners 
 
11.1 These are set out in the main body of the report. 
 
12. Risks and Mitigation 
 
12.1 The purpose of the working group was to perform pre-decision scrutiny of 

proposed changes to the Homes Allocation Policy, thereby contributing to 
mitigating foreseeable risks associated with the Homes Allocation Policy and 
the associated proposed changes. 
 

12.2 Members have been advised previously of risk assessments and mitigation 
plans, and these have been taken into account in their consideration of 
potential recommendations. 

 
 

Page 143



 
 
 

13. Accountable Officer(s) 
Craig Tyler, Head of Democratic Services 
 
Report Author: Katherine Harclerode, Governance Advisor 
01709 254352 or katherine.harclerode@rotherham.gov.uk 
 
This report is published on the Council's website.  

Page 144

https://moderngov.rotherham.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?Categories=


 

Public Report 
Improving Places Select Commission 

 
Committee Name and Date of Committee Meeting  
Improving Places Select Commission – 02 February 2021 
 
Report Title 
Work Programme Update 
 
Is this a Key Decision and has it been included on the Forward Plan?  
No 
 
Strategic Director Approving Submission of the Report 
Jo Brown, Assistant Chief Executive 

 

Report Author(s) 
Katherine Harclerode, Governance Advisor 
01709 254532 or katherine.harclerode@rotherham.gov.uk 
 
Ward(s) Affected 
Borough-Wide  
 
Report Summary 
To provide an update on the Work Programme of the Improving Places Select 
Commission.    
 
Recommendations 

 
1. That the Work Programme of the Improving Places Select Commission be 

endorsed.  
 

2. That the Governance Advisor be authorised to make changes to the work 
programme between meetings, subject to consultation with the Chair and any 
changes being reported back to the Commission’s next meeting.  

 
List of Appendices Included 
Appendix 1  Work Programme – Improving Places Select Commission 
 

Background Papers 
Agendas of Improving Places Select Commission during the 2020/21 Municipal Year 
Minutes of Improving Places Select Commission during 2020/21 Municipal Year 
 

Consideration by any other Council Committee, Scrutiny or Advisory Panel 
Not applicable 
 

Council Approval Required 
No 
 

Exempt from the Press and Public 
No 

Page 145 Agenda Item 11



 
 

Work Programme Update 
  
1. Background 
  
1.1 The remit of the Improving Places Select Commission (IPSC) is to undertake 

scrutiny activity in respect of all matters pertaining to the borough of Rotherham 
as a place. In broad terms, this remit relates to business and economic 
development, employment, emergency planning, environment, housing, climate 
change, leisure, culture and tourism, transport and highways, as well as 
regulatory services such as trading standards and environmental health. The 
breadth of functions and services that fall within the Commission’s remit is 
significant.  
 

1.2 The way in which the Commission discharges its scrutiny activity is a matter for 
itself, having regard to the provisions of the Constitution and any direction from 
the Overview and Scrutiny Management Board. The IPSC has chosen to 
scrutinise a range of issues through a combination of pre-decision scrutiny 
items, policy development, performance monitoring, information updates and 
follow up to previous scrutiny work. 

 
1.3 The IPSC has six scheduled meetings over the course of 2020/21, representing 

a maximum of 18 hours of scrutiny per year – assuming 3 hours per meeting. 
Members therefore had to be selective in their choice of items for the work 
programme. The following key principles of effective scrutiny were considered 
in determining the work programme: 

 

 Selection – There is a need to prioritise so that high priority issues are 
scrutinised given the limited number of scheduled meetings and time 
available. Members should consider what can realistically and properly 
be reviewed at each meeting, taking into account the time needed to 
scrutinise each item and what the session is intended to achieve. 

 Value-added – Items had to have the potential to ‘add value’ to the work 
of the council and its partners. 

 Ambition – the Programme does not shy away from scrutinising issues 
that are of greatest concern, whether or not they are the primary 
responsibility of the council. The Local Government Act 2000 gave local 
authorities the power to do anything to promote economic, social and 
environmental wellbeing of local communities. Subsequent Acts have 
conferred specific powers to scrutinise health services, crime and 
disorder issues and to hold partner organisations to account.  

 Flexibility – The Work Programme maintains a degree of flexibility as 
required to respond to unforeseen issues/items for consideration during 
the year and to accommodate any further work that falls within the remit 
of this Commission. 

 Timing – The Programme has been designed to ensure that the scrutiny 
activity is timely and that, where appropriate, its findings and 
recommendations inform wider corporate developments or policy 
development cycles at a time when they can have most impact. The 
Work Programme also helps safeguard against duplication of work 
undertaken elsewhere. 

 
 

Page 146



 
 

2. Key Issues 
 
2.1 Members are required to review their work programme at each meeting during 

the 2020/21 municipal year to give focus and structure to scrutiny activity to 
ensure that it effectively and efficiently supports and challenges the decision-
making processes of the Council, and partner organisations, for the benefit of 
the people of the borough. 
 

2.2 Some areas of recent scrutiny work that the Commission has previously 
completed may benefit from being re-examined in view of Covid-19, such as 
the implementation of changes by Dignity in respect of bereavement services. 
Other topics must be considered keeping in mind additional complexities that 
attend the pandemic, such as a cost/benefit analysis of Council buildings 
whose uses have diminished with the advent of working from home. 
Furthermore, the coming year is expected to see significant progress made on 
the Forge Island development and broader town centre public realm and 
housing improvements. These will continue to be of interest to Members.   

 

2.3 The current work programme for Improving Places Select Commission is 
appended to this report.  

 

2.4 Following this meeting, the Commission’s remaining opportunity to undertake 
scrutiny will be on 16 March 2021. The items listed on the work programme for 
this meeting are: 

 

 Transportation – Active Travel, Transforming Cities 

 Aids and Adaptations Tenant Scrutiny Review 
 
3. Options considered and recommended proposal 
  
3.1 Members are recommended to endorse the work programme.  

 
4. Consultation on proposal 
 
4.1 The work programme has been subject to consultation with the Chair and 

Members of the IPSC. Regular discussions take place with Cabinet Members 
and officers in respect of the content and timeliness of items set out on the 
work programme.  
 

5. Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision 
 
5.1 The decision to endorse the work programme is a matter reserved to the 

Commission and will be effective immediately after consideration of this report 
on 2 February 2021. 
 

5.2 The Statutory Scrutiny Officer (Head of Democratic Services) is accountable for 
the implementation of any decision in respect of the Commission’s work 
programme. The Governance Advisor supporting the Commission is 
responsible on a day-to-day basis for the Commission’s work programme. 
Members are recommended to delegate authority to the Governance Advisor to 
make amendments to the programme between meetings.  

 

Page 147



 
 

6. Financial and Procurement Advice and Implications 
 
6.1 There are no direct financial or procurement implications arising from this 

report. 
 

7. Legal Advice and Implications 
 
7.1 There are no direct legal implications arising from this report.  

 
7.2 The authority of the Select Commission to determine its work programme is 

detailed within the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules and Responsibility 
for Functions parts of the Constitution. The proposal to review the work 
programme is consistent with those provisions.  

 
8. Human Resources Advice and Implications 
 
8.1 There are no direct human resources implications arising from this report.  
 
9. Implications for Children and Young People and Vulnerable Adults 
 
9.1 There are no implications for children and young people or vulnerable adults 

arising from this report.  
 

10. Equalities and Human Rights Advice and Implications 
 
10.1 Whilst there are no specific equalities implications arising from this report, 

equalities and diversity are key considerations when developing and reviewing 
scrutiny work programmes. One of the key principles of scrutiny is to provide a 
voice for communities, and the work programme for this Commission has been 
prepared following feedback from Members representing those communities.  

 
11. Implications for Partners 
 
11.1 The Commission has a number of co-opted Members from RotherFed who 

contribute to the development and review of the work programme. Where other 
matters are being considered for inclusion on the work programme, relevant 
partners or external organisations are consulted on the proposed activity and its 
timeliness. 
 

12. Risks and Mitigation 
 
12.1 There are no risks arising from this report. 

 
13. Accountable Officer(s) 

Craig Tyler, Head of Democratic Services and Statutory Scrutiny Officer 
 

Report Author:  Katherine Harclerode, Governance Advisor 
   01709 254532 or katherine.harclerode@rotherham.gov.uk 
 
This report is published on the Council's website.  
 

Page 148

https://moderngov.rotherham.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?Categories=


 
 

Appendix 1 - Work Programme 

 
Meeting Date 

 
Agenda Items 

 
 
9 June 2020 

 
Housing Strategy Progress Update 

 
Initial Work Programme 2020-21 

 
 
 
14 July 2020 
 
 

 
Homelessness Prevention and Rough Sleeper Strategy Update 

 
Housing Income and Service Charges Update 

 
Revised Work Programme 2020-21 

Aug 2020 
Workshop 

 
Housing Maintenance and Repairs 

 
 
8 September 2020 

 
Town Centre Update 

 
Bereavement Services Update 

 
 
20 October 2020 
 

 
Economic Recovery 

Energy Switching Scheme 

 
Nov/Dec 2020 Working 
Groups 
 

 
MIP Review – Cllr Ken Wyatt, Chair 
Flooding Alleviation – Cllr David Sheppard, Chair 
Building Use – Cllr Jeanette Mallinder, Chair 

 
 
   
8 December 2020 

 
Allotments Self-Management 

 
Cultural Strategy Implementation 

 
Thriving Neighbourhoods Annual Report 

Jan/Feb 2021  
Working Group 

 
Homes Allocation Process – Cllr Rose McNeely 

 
 
 
2 February 2021 

 
Rotherham MBC Code of Practice for Highway Inspection and 
Assessment  

 
Council Plan Performance Measures - Exception Reporting 

 
Clean Air Zone 

 
 
16 March 2021 
 

 
Transportation – Active Travel, Transforming Cities 

 
Aids and Adaptations Tenant Scrutiny Review 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 149


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the previous meeting held on 8 December 2020
	Minutes

	6 Update on Code of Practice for Highways Inspection, Assessment, and Maintenance
	Appendix A - Highways Code of Practice 2018
	Presentation - Highway Inspection and Highways Maintenance Performance Management

	7 Performance Measures - Exception Reporting
	Council Plan Performance 2019-20 Appendix A FINAL
	Exception Reporting

	8 Clean Air Zone
	9 Outcomes from Working Group - Building Use
	10 Outcomes from Working Group - Homes Allocation Policy
	11 Work Programme Update

